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Vision 

An Internationally Renowned Center in South 

Asia for Higher Learning and Innovations in 

Sciences, Technologies and 

Humanities. 

 

Mission 

To Provide Expanded Opportunities for Higher 

Learning of International Standards through 

Generation and Dissemination of Knowledge 

and Innovations Focused on Regional and 

National Needs, Social Harmony and 

Stakeholders' Empowerment  

and Satisfaction. 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 

Goals 

1. Excellence in Academic Quality. 

2. Excellence in Research, Innovation and 

Dissemination of Knowledge. 

 

3. Excellence in Addressing Social and Industrial 

Expectations. 

 

4. Excellence in Infrastructure and Human Resource 

Development. 

 

5. Excellence in National and International 

Collaboration. 

 

6. Excellence in Good Governance and Sustainabilty.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 

Vice Chancellor’s Message                             

 

Prof. A. Rameez 

 

Overall achievements of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka based on 

the achievements of students, academic staff and non-academic staff members 

are highlighted in the Annual Report 2021. The report highlights the 

contributions made by the university in terms of social, cultural, regional and 

national development on par with the targets set out in the strategic plan of 

the university, which is in place from 2019 to 2024. Furthermore, it underlines 

the challenges and shortcomings encountered by the university with 

reasonable justifications. 

The university has been implementing the policies of the government in line 

with the ―Vistas of Prosperity and Splendor”. With the support of Treasury and 

AHEAD funding, the performance and quality of services provided for 

students have been strengthened. As a result, several small construction 

activities were undertaken to provide the necessary infrastructure facilities for 

the students, that will eventually provide them the space to engage in skill 

development activities. The newly constructed building of the Faculty of 

Technology and the multi-purpose auditorium have been utilized for the 

benefit of the students in particular and the university in general. Moreover, 

the academics of the university have made a remarkable contribution to 

increasing the number of publications in indexed journals that are indexed in 

well-reputed databases such as Scopus, Scimago, and databases of Clarivate 

Analytics.  

 



 
 

 

 

The progress of the university is indicated by its improved webometrics 

ranking.  Further, the university leaves an indelible mark in its history by 

being ranked the number one Sri Lankan university under the UI 

GreenMetric World University Ranking which ranks universities based on the 

sustainability performance of universities. Moreover, the human capital of the 

university was strengthened by the addition of well-qualified academics and 

other professionals. Simultaneously, the promotion of a few academics to 

Professors has boosted the human capital of the university in terms of capable 

human resources.  

The South Eastern University of Sri Lanka is delighted to present its Annual 

Report for the year 2021, which highlights the achievements of the university. 

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all those who worked hard to 

elevate the performance of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka in the 

year 2021. 

 
Professor Dr.A. Rameez  

Vice-Chancellor 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 
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University Governance          

I. University Council 

The University Council is the Chief Executive Body and governing authority. 

The Council of the university constituted in terms of Section 44 of the 

Universities Act No. 16 of 1978 as amended by Section 24 of the Universities 

(Amendment) Act No. 07 of 1985, consisted of the following members during 

the year 2021. The Registrar is the Secretary of the Council. 

 

Ex-Officio Members 

 

Name  Designation 

Prof. Dr. A. Rameez 

 

Prof. Dr. MMM. Najim 

Vice-Chancellor (Chairman)  
(from 09.08.2021) 

Vice Chancellor (Chairman) 
(up to 08.08.2021) 

Dr. SM. Junaideen Dean/ Faculty of Engineering  

Prof. Dr. SMM. Mazahir Dean /Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic 

Language 

Dr. (Mrs.) S. Safeena MG 

Hassan 
 

Prof. Dr. S. Gunapalan 

Dean / Faculty of Management and Commerce 
(from 30.06.2021) 
 

Dean / Faculty of Management and Commerce 
(up to 29.06.2021) 

Dr. UL. Zainudeen Dean / Faculty of Applied Sciences 

Prof. Dr. MM. Fazil 

 

Prof. Dr. A. Rameez 

 

Dean/ Faculty of Arts and Culture  
(from 16.08.2021)  

Dean/ Faculty of Arts and Culture  
(up to 08.08.2021) 

Dr. ULA. Majeed   Dean / Faculty of Technology  

Dr. MH. Haroon  Senate Representative 

Dr. (Mrs.) S. Safeena MG 

Hassan  

Senate Representative 
 (up to 29.06.2021) 

Prof. (Mrs.) FHA. Rauf  Senate Representative 
 (from 18.08.2021) 
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Secretary 

Mr. H. Abdul Saththar, Registrar 

 

 

 

 

 

UGC Appointed Members 

Mr. IM. Haniffa Additional Director General Rubber 

Development Department  

Dr. Anver M. Mustapha- Chairman/Eastern Province Chamber of 

Information and Communication   Technology 

Eng. Muheenudeen 

Abdul Cader 

Engineer/Managing Director Beta International 

Colombo 

Dr. TSRTR. Rajab Medical Superintendent, Base Hospital, Pottuvil 

Eng. NT. Mohamed 

Sirajudeen 

Rtd. Chief Engineer/Road Development 

Authority, Ampara  

Mr. MC. Mohamed 

Nawas 

Attorney-at-Law 

Prof. Colin N. Peiris Director/Academic Development & QA, SLIIT 

Mr. JM. Naleer Accountant, Divisional Secretariat, Mutur 

Mr. DML. 

Bandaranayake 

Secretary, Ministry of Agriculture 

Prof. (Ms) Hema MKK 

Pathirana 

Rtd. Professor Department of Chemistry 

University of Ruhuna 



Annual Report and Accounts 2021 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka         

 

 

3 

II. University Senate 

The Senate, constituted in terms of section 46 of the Universities Act. No. 16 of 

1978 as amended by the Act. No. 7 of 1985 consisted of the following 

members during the year 2021. 

 

Ex-Officio Members 

Prof. Dr. A. Rameez Vice Chancellor (Chairman) (from 09.08.2021) 

Prof. MMM. Najim Vice Chancellor (Chairman) (up to 08.08.2021) 

Dr. SM. Junaideen Dean/FE  

Prof. Dr. SMM. Mazahir Dean /FIA 

Dr. (Mrs.) S. Safeena MG 
Hassan 

Dean /FMC (from 30.06.2021) 

Prof. Dr. S. Gunapalan Dean /FMC (up to 29.06.2021) 

Dr. UL. Zainudeen Dean /FAS 

Prof. Dr. MM. Fazil Dean/FAC (from 16.08.2021) 

Prof. Dr.A. Rameez Dean/FAC (up to 08.08.2021) 

Dr. ULA. Majeed   Dean /FT  
  

Prof. Dr. MAM. Rameez  

Prof. Dr. (Mrs). FHA. Rauf  

Prof. Dr.ALA. Rauf  

Prof. Dr.A. Jahufer  

Prof. Dr.AM. Muzathik   

Prof. Dr.MBM. Ismail  

Prof. Dr.Athambawa Jahfer Department of Accountancy & Finance 
(up to 01.07.2021) 

Prof. Dr. AMM. Mustafa  Department of Management  
(from 01.07.2021) 

Prof. Dr. AM. Razmy   

Prof.Dr. MIM. Hilal Department of Marketing Management 

Prof. Dr. S. Gunapalan   

Prof. MAL. Abdul Haleem  

Prof. Dr. KM. Mubarak  

Prof. Dr.MIM. Kaleel  

Prof. S. Sabraz Nawaz Department of Management & 

Information Technology 

Prof. MAM. Fowsar Department of Political Sciences  
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(from 16.08.2021) 

Prof. Dr. MM. Fazil Department of Political Sciences 
(up to 16.08.2021)  

  

Mr. MM. Rifaudeen  Librarian 

  

Dr. A. Haleem Dept. of Accountancy & Finance  
(from 01.07.2021) 

Dr. (Mrs.) S. Safeena MG 

Hassan 

Department of Management  
(up to 01.07.2021) 

Prof. MAM. Fowsar Department of Political Sciences 

Eng. MI. Ilham Jazeel Department of Inter Disciplinary Studies 

Dr. (Ms.) MASF. Saadiya Department of Languages 

Dr. AMM. Navaz Department of English Language 

Teaching 

Dr. MH. Haroon Department of Chemical Sciences 

Dr. AAM. Nufile  Department of Economics and Statistics  

Dr. S. Anuzsiya  Department of Social Sciences  

Dr. (Mrs) V. Sujarajini  Department of Biological Science 

Mr. MHM. Rinos  Department of Geography 

Dr. SM. Ayoob  Department of Sociology 

Mr. AL. Hanees  Department of Mathematical Science 

Dr. PMK. Alahakoon  Department of Electrical & 

Telecommunication Eng. 

Dr. (Mrs). AMNM. Adikaram  Department of Physical Sciences 

Dr. WGCW. Kumara  Department of Computer Science and 

Engineering  

Dr. U. Farook  Department of Mechanical Engineering  

Mr. K. Muhammed Rifthy 

 

Department of  Information and 

Communication Technology 

Eng. MC. Riyas Department of Civil Engineering 

Mrs. MCS. Shathifa Department of Arabic Language 

Dr. ANM. Mubarak 

 

Department of Biosystems Technology 
(from 01.02.2021) 

Dr. MM. Muneeb Department of Biosystems Technology  
(up to 31.01.2021) 

Dr. RA. Sarjoon Department of Islamic Studies 

Dr. HMM. Naleer Department of Computer Science  

Mr. CMM. Mansoor Department of Information Technology 
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Elected members 
 

Faculty of Applies Sciences 

Mr. MAAM. Faham   

Mr. AM. Riyas Ahamed  (from19.08.2021) 

Dr. AM. Razmy  (up to 06.08.2021) 

  

Faculty of Arts and Culture 

Mr. A. Wickramaratne           

Mr. MAM. Sameem                
  

Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 

Dr. RA. Sarjoon       (up to 09.01.2021) 

Dr.AR.Nasar            (from 03.02.2021) 

Dr. SMM. Nafees    (from 03.02.2021) 

  

Faculty of Management and Commerce 

Dr. A. Haleem  (up to 12.12.2021) 

Dr. MCA. Nazar  (up to 15.07.2021) 

Dr. MH. Thowfeek  (from 19.07.2021) 

Dr. I. Raisal  (from 13.12.2021) 

  

Faculty of Engineering    

Eng. ALM. Risath   

Dr. JASP. Jayakody  

  

Faculty of Technology  

Mr. RKA. Rifai Kariapper   

Dr. ANM. Mubarak  (up to 08.03.2021) 

Dr. ADNT. Kumara  (from 09.03.2021) 

 

Secretary 

Mr. H. Abdul Saththar, Registrar 
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1. Review of University Activities       

1.1 Brief introduction  

The South Eastern University of Sri Lanka (SEUSL) was established in 1995. 

The main campus, which is strategically located along the coastal belt of 

Oluvil, extends over 178.98 acres of green pasture (As per the land valuation 

in 2011). Due to the continuous sea erosion that exists in the east part of the 

university (Oluvil premises), around 25.45 acres of land has been devasted so 

far. The Faculty of Applied Sciences is located in Sammanthurai in an extent 

of 6.72 acres (As per the land valuation in 2011).  The Malwaththa farm 

(extent of 35.25 acres), which comes under the purview of the Faculty of 

Technology, is used for conducting practical classes on Agricultural 

Technology. The university has recorded tremendous progress in the higher 

education sector.  

The South Eastern University of Sri Lanka is committed to academic 

excellence and the production of employable graduates who can meet the 

needs of both the commercial and public sectors in Sri Lanka and overseas. It 

aims to promote an interdisciplinary research culture that satisfies the needs 

of various stakeholders including the community.  In addition, the university 

makes a significant contribution to peace and harmony in the region. 

Presently, SEUSL has six faculties with 5,843 internal undergraduates and 447 

postgraduate students. The university has 666 permanent staff including, 199 

academic staff.  

The SEUSL is devoted to earning recognition to be an internationally 

renowned university with its excellent academic caliber. 
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1.2 Study Programmes at SEUSL    

SEUSL has six Faculties namely Arts and Culture, Management and 

Commerce, Applied Sciences, Islamic Studies and Arabic Language, 

Engineering and Technology. SEUSL offers Bachelor‘s and Master‘s Degrees, 

Diploma, Certificate, and different Training Programmes. 

The university collaborates with 

local and international 

organizations in conducting 

programmes to meet the needs of 

the local community. The 

Academic departments, Units and 

degree Programmes offered by the 

faculties are shown in the tables 

below. 

 
Table 1.1: Details of Academic Departments 
and Units of the SEUSL 

 
 

 
 
 

Faculty of Arts & Culture 

Social Sciences 

Languages 

Political Sciences 

Sociology 

Economics & Statistics 

Geography 

English Language Teaching 

Information Technology 

Postgraduate Unit 

Faculty of Management & Commerce 

Accountancy & Finance 

Management 

Management Information Technology 

Marketing Management 

Postgraduate Unit 

Faculty of Applied Sciences 

Biological Sciences 

Mathematical Sciences 

Physical Sciences 

Computer Sciences 

Chemical Sciences 

Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 

Islamic Studies 

Arabic Language 

Inter Disciplinary Unit 

Faculty of  Engineering 

Civil Engineering 

Mechanical  Engineering 

Electrical & Telecommunication 

Engineering 

Computer Science &  Engineering 

Interdisciplinary Studies 

Technology 

Information and Communication 

Technology 

BioSystems Technology  



Annual Report and Accounts 2021 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka         

 

 

9 

Table 1.2: Degree Programmes offered by Faculties (Internal) 

 

Undergraduate Degree Programmes 
SLQF 
Level 

General/ 
Special 

Duration Medium 

Faculty of Arts & Culture 

Bachelor of Arts (General) 5 General 3 Years Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in Political 
science 

6 Special 

4 Years 

Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in Economics 6 Special 
Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in 
Philosophy & Psychological 
Counseling 

6 Special Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in Sociology   6 Special 
Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in 
Geography 

6 Special 
Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Arts Honours  in Tamil   6 Special Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in 
Information Communication 
Technology 

6 Special 
English 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in Teaching 
English as a Second Language                                                                      

6 Special 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in Hindu 
Civilization 

6 Special Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts Honours in Tri-
Lingual Studies 

6 Special Trilingual 

Faculty of Management   & Commerce 

Bachelor of Business Administration 
(Honours)Degree 

6 Special 
4 Years 

Tamil/ 
English 

Bachelor of Commerce 
(Honours)Degree 

6 Special 

English 
 

Bachelor of Science in Management 
and  Information Technology 

5 General 3 Years 

Bachleor of Business Administration 
Honours in Accounting 

6 Special 

4 Years 

Bachelor of Business Administration 
Honours in Finance 

6 Special 

Bachelor of Business Administration 
Honours in Marketing Management 

6 Special 

Bachelor of Business Administration 
Honours  in Human Resource 
Management 

6 Special 

Bachelor of Business Administration  
Honours  in Information Systems 

6 Special 
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Undergraduate Degree 
Programmes 

SLQF 
Level 

General/ 
Special 

Duration Medium 

Faculty of Applied Sciences 

Bachelor of Science  5 General 3 Years 

English 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Applied Biology 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours  in 
Botany 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Applied Statistics 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Computer Science 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Chemistry 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Physics 

6 Special 4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Mathematics 

6 Special 
4 Years 

Bachelor of Science Honours in 
Applied Sciences 

6 Special 4 Years 

Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 

Bachelor of Arts Degree 5 General 3 Years Tamil 

Bachlor of Arts (Hons.) in Islamic 
Thoughts and Civilization  

6 Special 

4 Years 

Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) in Islamic 
Banking and Finance 

6 Special English 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.)in Islamic 
Law & Legislation 

6 Special Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) in Arabic 
Language and Literature 

6 Special 
Arabic & 

Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) in 
Linguistics and Translation  

6 Special 
Arabic, 
English 
& Tamil 

Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) in 
Teaching English as a Second 
Language (Collaborative 
Programme with Faculty of Arts 
and Culture) 

6 Special English 

Faculty of  Engineering 

Bachelor of the Science 
Engineering Honours (Civil 
Engineering) 

7 Special 4 Years English 
Bachelor of the Science of 
Engineering Honours (Electrical & 
Telecommunication Engineering) 

Bachelor of the Science of 
Engineering Honours (Mechanical 
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Engineering) 

Faculty of Technology 

Bachelor of  Biosystems 
Technology  

6 Special 
4 Years 

English 

Bachelor of  Information and 
Communication Technology  

6 Special English 
 
 

 

Table 1.3: Certificate level and Diploma Courses (External) 

Certificate Level Courses  

Name of the Course                                                                
SLQF 
Level 

Duration  Medium 

Certificate in English - 06 Months English 

Diploma Courses (Non Postgraduate ) 

Name of the Course                                                                
SLQF 
Level 

Duration  Medium 

Professional Diploma in Counselling 3 18 Months Tamil 

Diploma in English 1 1 Year English 

Diploma in Journalism 3 1 Year Tamil 
 

Table 1.4: Undergraduate Courses (External) 

Undergraduate Courses (External) 

Name of the Course  
SLQF 
Level 

Special/
General  

Duration  Medium 

Faculty of Arts and Culture 

Bachelor of Arts  5 General 3 Years Tamil 

Faculty of Management and Commerce 

Bachelor of Business 
Administration 

5 General 3 Years 
Tamil 

Bachelor of Commerce 5 General 3 Years 

 

1.3 Postgraduate Studies   

The Faculty of Arts and Culture, Faculty of Management and Commerce, 

Faculty of Applied Sciences and Faculty of Technology offer postgraduate 

programmes (Table 1.5). The university has produced 01 Mphil, (Mphil in 

Tamil) 16 MBA holders and 02 Postgraduate Diploma holders (Pg Dip. in 

Tamil) in the year 2021.  
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Table 1.5: Postgraduate Courses 

 

 

 

Faculty 
Postgraduate 
Programmes 

SLQF 
Level 

Full/ Part 
time 

Duration Medium 

Faculty of arts and Culture 

Pg Dip.in Tamil 8  Part 01 Year 
Tamil 

 
M.A. in Tamil 10 Part 02 Years 

M.Phil.in Tamil 11 Part/Full 02 Years 

M.Phil.in Geography 11 Part/Full 02 Years 

Tamil/English 
M.Phil.in Philosophy 11 Part/Full 02 Years 

M.Phil.in Poltical Science 11 Part/Full 02 Years 

M.Phil.in Sociology 11 Part/Full 02 Years 

Ph.D. in Tamil 12 Part/Full 03 Years Tamil 

Ph.D. in Geography 12 Part/Full 03 Years 

Tamil/English 
Ph.D. in Philosophy 12 Part/Full 03 Years 

Ph.D. in Poltical Science 12 Part/Full 03 Years 

Ph.D. in Sociology 12 Part/Full 03 Years 

Faculty of Management and Commerce 

Pg Dip.in Management (PGDM) 8 Full 01 Year 

English Master of Business 
Administration (MBA) 

10 Full 02 Years 

Faculty of Applied Sciences 

Pg Dip.in Applied Statistics  8 Part 01 Year 

English 

MPhil in Physics and Earth 
Science 

11 
 

Full Time 
Part Time 

24 months  
36 months 

MPhil in Computer Science 

MPhil in Botany and Zoology 

MPhil in Chemistry 

MPhil in Mathematics and 
Applied Statistics 

PhD in Physics and Earth 
Science 

12 
Full Time 
Part Time 

36 months  
54 months 

PhD in Computer Science 

PhD in Botany and Zoology 

PhD in Chemistry 

PhD in Mathematics and 
Applied Statistics 

Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 

MPhil in Islamic Studies by 
Research 

11 Full 24 months Tamil 

PhD in Islamic Studies by 
Research 

12 Full 36 months Tamil 

Faculty of Technology     

M.Phil Research Degree 
Programme in Biosystems 
Technology   

11 Full / Part 
 3 years 

2  
years 

English 
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1.4 World Ranking  

The Webometrics ranking of South Eastern University of Sri Lanka is 7941 in 

January 2022. Measures are being taken to improve the world ranking of 

SEUSL in the competitive world where educational institutions are striving 

hard to offer better services.   

 

1.5 Student Population  

The student population of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka as at 

December 2021 was 5843. Table 1.6 shows the proportional distribution of the 

students among each faculty. 

 
Table 1.6: Student population by Faculty as at December 2021 

Faculty No. of Students Percentage (%) 

Arts and Culture 1258 22 

Management and Commerece 1401 24 

Applied Sciences 742 13 

Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 1308 22 

Engineering 479 8 

Technology 655 11 

 
Figure 1.1 shows the student population by faculty and by year. 
 

 
Figure 1.1: Students Population 
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1.6 Staff Population 

The staff population (Permanent staff) of the university as of December 2021 

was 666. Figure 1.2 shows the proportional distribution of the staff by 

category. 

 
Figure1.2: Proportion of Staff Strength (Permanent staff) as of December 2021 

 

1.7 Distribution of Academic Staff 

Figures 1.3 and 1.4 show the distribution of academic Staff (excluding library 

staff) based on their designation and educational level respectively. 

 

 

Figure 1.3: Distribution of Academic Staff (excluding library staff) based on their  
Designation as of 31st December 2021 

Acadamic 
Staff, 199, 

30% 

Acadamic 
Supportive 
Staff, 21, 3% 

Administrave
, Financial 
and other 
executive 

staff, 30, 5% 

Non Acadamic 
and Non 

Administrative 
Staff, 416, 62% 

Professors, 
19, 10% 

Senior 
Lecturer Gr. I, 

49, 25% 

Senior 
Lecturer Gr. 
II, 54, 28% 

Lecturers/ 
Lecturer 

(Unconfirme
d)/ Lecturer 
(Prob.), 72, 

37% 
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Figure 1.4: Distribution of Academic Staff (Excluding Library staff) based on their 
Educational level as of 31st December 2021 

 

1.8 Libraries of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka  

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka (SEUSL) Libraries is a network of 

libraries and Museum that includes the Main Library, the Faculty of Applied 

Science Library and the University Cultural Museum. The SEUSL Library 

works strategically and refers to international best practices for quality 

assurance. The Library‘s main achievements in 2021 were: 

 
i) University Archives: Established the University Archives for the purpose 

of preserving and disseminating Rare Materials and Intellectual 

documents related to the University at the Main Library of SEUSL on 

23.10.2021 to mark the Founders Day 2021 and Silver Jubilee of SEUSL.  

 
ii) Strengthen collaboration: Strengthening engagement with faculties and 

students and promoting greater involvement of library academics in 

research by conducting many Research Capacity Building programme, 

plagiarism detection services, literature search and document delivery 

services. 

 

First Degree 
with Pg 

Diploma, 51, 
26% 

Master, 56, 
29% 

M.Phil. , 15, 
8% 

Ph.D., 72, 37% 
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iii) Dspace improvement: To commemorate the university's Silver Jubilee 

Celebrations, the latest improved Digital Library Software version - 6.3 of 

Dspace was launched on 23.10.2021 

 
iv) ILMS improvement: To commemorate the university's Silver Jubilee 

Celebrations, the latest improved Integrated Library Management System 

software version - 21.05 of KOHA ILMS was launched on October 23, 

2021. 

 
v) Outreach Community program :  

SEUSL Libraries in collaboration with YM Trust, Australia, donated 

books to the selected 10 libraries in the region in order to strengthen the 

collection for the benefit of the user community. This is an outreach 

program of the SEUSL Libraries conducted to improve libraries in the 

South Eastern region to mark the Founders Day and Silver Jubilee of the 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka.  This programme was held as part 

of the Founders Day 2021 and Silver Jubilee Celebrations of SEUSL, on 

23.10.2021. 

 
vi) Seminar Room: On November 3rd 2021, Prof. A. Rameez, the Vice 

Chancellor declared open the Seminar Room at the Main Library. To 

commemorate the occasion, a Zoom lecture on "New Roles of University 

Libraries in Addressing Emerging Challenges and Opportunities for 

Improved Online User Services" was organized. 

 
vii) Distinguished Lecture Series: 

SEUSL Libraries organized a series of Distinguished Lectures to mark the 

Silver Jubilee of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka during the 

year. 

 
01. SEUSL Libraries conducted its inaugural lecture series on 18th 

March 2021 via Zoom. Prof. (Dr.) Swapna Banerjee, Dean of the 
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Faculty Council of Education, Journalism and Library Science, 

University of Calcutta, Calcutta, India participated as the Keynote 

speaker and delivered a lecture titled ―Bridging the Gap Between 

LIS Theory and Practices‖ 

 
02. The Second lecture under the caption ―New Roles of University 

Libraries in Addressing Emerging Challenges and Opportunities 

for Improved Online User Services‖ was held on 3rd Nov 2021 via 

Zoom.  The Keynote Speaker was Prof. (Dr.) Susmita Chakraborty, 

HOD. Dept. of LIS, University of Calcutta, Calcutta, India. 

 
viii) Professional Advancement & Training Series: 

During the Silver Jubilee year of SEUSL, the SEUSL Libraries organized 

a series of Professional Advancement & Training for the purpose of 

educating and furthering the knowledge of Tamil speaking librarians 

in the field of library & information science. 

 
01. The first program, titled "Machine Readable Cataloguing for Tamil 

Bibliographic Records," was virtually held on February 22nd, 2021. 

Mr. S. Ketheeswaran, Senior Assistant Librarian at the University of 

Jaffna, served as the resource person.  

 
 02. The second program, titled "Organization of Arabic and Islamic 

Knowledge in Academic Libraries," was held on March 4, 2021. Mr. 

Ash-Sheikh S. M. Azahim, Head of the Library at Kingdom 

University in Bahrain, served as the resource person. 

 
ix) Training Session on Catalogue Editing: 

A brainstorming and training session was conducted to edit the library 

Bibliographic database for the library academics and paraprofessionals 

was held on the 2nd  and 3rd of February 2021. 
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x) Book Exhibition: SEUSL Libraries organized a Book exhibition under the 

theme ―One People, One Nation and One Sri Lanka‖ held on 23/10/2021 

to mark the inauguration of University Archives, during the Silver Jubilee 

year of SEUSL. 

 
xi) Institutional Repository Improvement: Managing the digitization 

program and archiving the intellectual capital of SEUSL in the 

institutional repository (DSpace) that facilitates scholarly dissemination, 

showcases the entire breadth of the institution‘s scholarship and 

improves the webometrics ranking of the university. Digital SEUSL 

Repository software was upgraded from version 5.5 to version 6.3 in 2021. 

Our E repository had 4,476 scholarly articles archived as of 31st December 

2021 and out of it, 252 were uploaded during 2021. There were 64,198 

views for the scholarly articles including viewers from foreign countries. 

 
xii) Consultancy: Consultancy advices and editorial assistance provided to 

the university for publishing the Faculty Journals, Proceedings and 

university publications. 

 
xiii)  Teaching and assessing:  

a. All academics of SEUSL Libraries took part in delivering Lectures 

and Assessing optional credit courses on ―Information Literacy 

programs‖ to the undergraduates. 

b. Conducted Lectures on AEE 31012-Research Methods to the 3rd year 

students of Bachelor of BioSystems Technology, Faculty of 

Technology of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 

c. Conducted lectures for the ―Diploma in Library and Information 

Services‖ conducted by the Centre for Distance & Continuing 

Education, University of Peradeniya. 

 
xiv) Off the campus Library services: Worked collegially and constructively 

with key university stakeholders including students to deliver Library 
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services off the campus enabling our patrons to access the library learning 

resources remotely while the university was closed due to COVID 19 

outbreak. 

 
xv) Electronic Database: Provided remote access to Electronic Database such 

as EMERALD, TAYLOR & FRANCIS and OXFORD JOURNALS by using 

Shibboleth Access during the closure of the university due to COVID 19 

pandemic situation as well as the reopening of the university. The usage 

statistics of Taylor & Francis have been 1,637, Emerald 3,206 and Oxford 

Journal 220 and a total of 5,063 full text articles have been downloaded by 

our patrons during the year 2021. 

  
xvi) Newly accrued: Library has purchased only 354 printed books to the 

value of 104,733.00 during 2021, to meet the needs of the users of all 

faculties. 

 
xvii) Patterns & New enrolment: There were 3,485 registered users reported 

as at 31st December 2021 and out of them, 1,644 new students were 

enrolled as library members during the year under review. 

 
xviii) Circulation: Circulation was significantly affected by the pandemic 

situation. Libraries had 5,438 check-ins and 5,502 check-outs (a combined 

total of Check-in & check-out: 10,940) as recorded in the Library 

Management System.  

 
xix) Fines: Rs. 18,050.00 was collected as overdue fine from the students of 

Main Library and Rs.670.00 from the Science Library during the year 

2021. 

 
xx)  Document delivery services: SEUSL Libraries provide E-book delivery 

services. 321 Requests were made during 2021; Out of them, 211 requests 

were satisfied. 
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xxi) “Turnitin” Startup seminars 

The startup seminars to introduce and demonstrate ―Turnitin‖ text 

matching software were conducted faculty wise by the Library.  

 
xxii) Online Training session on “Turnitin” 

Online Training session on turnitin feedback studio was held on 

28/04/2021. Ms. Purna Bosh of Turnitin participated as the resource 

person. SEUSL Librarians and academic staff of our university attended 

the training session. 

 

1.9 Achievements and Recognitions:  

 The Proposal to commence a new degree programme in ―BA Honours in 

History‖ was submitted for the approval of the Commission. 

 

 The Computer Unit of the Faculty was upgraded to the Department of 

Information Technology on 03.03.2021 by Gazette Notification No 2217/25 

of 03.03.2021. 

 

 A proposal was submitted and approval of the Commission was obtained 

to conduct Bachelor of Arts External degree program through CEDPL. 

 

 SER was submitted for Programme Review (Bachelor of Arts External 

degree program) of the CEDPL. 

 

 MPhil/PhD research programmes in the field of Tamil/Geography/ 

Philosophy/Political Science/Sociology were commenced. 

 
 SEUSL secured the 317th place at the World‘s most sustainable university 

in the 2021 UI GreenMetric World University Rankings and secured the 4th 

place among Sri Lankan Universities. 
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 End semester examinations and academic programmes were successfully 

conducted amidst the covid 19 pandemic period online and physically. 

 

 Enrolled the new batch of students for the academic year 2019/2020 and 

academic programmes were successfully conducted online. 

 

 University could expand the new student intake by enhancing access to 

higher education on par with the national policy (Figure 1.5). 

 

 
Figure 1.5: Student intake for the last twenty-five years 

 

   

 Hostel facilities have been substantially developed and all the eligible 

students are provided with accommodation. Because of COVID 19, 

lectures are done online, and this has significantly reduced the number of 

students given hostel facilities during the year 2021 compared to 2020.  
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Figure 1.6: Hostel Occupations: 2015 - 2021 

 

 The university was able to conduct six international and local research 

conferences. 

 

 During the year 2021, the university as a whole was able to publish 126 

research articles in indexed and refereed journals nationally and 

internationally.  

 

 The total number of publications during the year 2021 was 418.  

 

 The South Eastern University of Sri Lanka introduced awards of honour 

termed ―Senate Honours for High Impact Publications‖ in 2019 in order to 

encourage the staff members to carry out high-quality research and 

disseminate their research findings through publication of those in high-

quality journals. Details of Senate honours awarded in 2021 are given in 

table 1.9.  The tables 1.10 and 1.11 show the details of journal issues 

published by the university and annual research symposia conducted 

during the year 2021 respectively. 
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Table 1.7: Senate honors awrded for the year 2021 

Faculty 
No. of Senate Honours for high impact publications in 2021 
208th Senate 
(18.01.2021) 

209th Senate 
(17.03.2021) 

210th Senate 
(19.05.2021) 

211th Senate 
(18.08.2021) 

212th Senate 
(17.11.2021) 

FAC 11 1 3 3 - 

FMC 1 6 2 4 7 

FAS 1 1 3  3 

FIA 3 2 - 1 - 

FE 1   1 - 

FT 5 3 3 2 5 

Libraray 1 - - - 1 

Total 23 13 11 11 16 

 

 

Table 1.8 : Journal issues published in 2021 by the university 

Faculty Journal Issues 

FAC 
KALAM‘ Journal -Volume XIII, Issues (01-04) ,2020 were published 
via online 

KALAM‘ Journal -Volume XIV, Issue (01), 2021  

FMC 

Journal of Management Vol. XVI Issue I and II 

Journal of Information Systems & Information Technology (JISIT) 
Vol. VI Issue I and II 

Journal of Marketing  Vol. VI Issue I and II 

Journal of Business Economics  Vol. III Issue I and II 

FAS 
Journal of Science Volume: 02 No: 01 

Journal of Science Volume: 02 No: 02 

FT 

The Sri Lankan Journal of Technology (SLJoT) Volume 02. Issue 01. 

The Sri Lankan Journal of Technology (SLJoT) Volume 02. Special 
Issue 

The Sri Lankan Journal of Technology (SLJoT) Volume 02. Issue 02 

 

Annual research symposia are being conducted continuously.  

 

Table 1.9: Annual research symposia and conferences conducted by the university 

Conference/ Symposium conducted in 2021 Conducted By 

9th South Eastern University Arts Research Session  

(SEUARS 2020) 
FAC 

10th Annual Science Research Sessions – 2021  (ASRS 2021) FAS 

8th International Symposium 
FIA 

9th Undergraduate Research Colloquium 

International Conference on Science and Technology (ICST) 
FT 

Regional Symposium on Disaster Risk Management 

 

http://www.seu.ac.lk/seusljm/index.php
http://www.seu.ac.lk/seusljm/index.php
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 The usage of the Learning Management System (LMS) for teaching and 

learning purposes has comparatively increased and initiatives are getting 

underway to maintain the LMS and ICT advancements in teaching and 

learning activities. 

 
 As at end of December 2021, a total of 72 (37%) academic staff (excluding 

library academic staff) completed their PhDs. 

 
 The number of staff appointed and promoted to the post of professors was 

15 as at the end of December 2021. 

 
 The Action plan and Procurement plan were completed in a 

comprehensive manner. 

 

 The Faculty of Technology conducted its first International Conference on 

Science and Technology in 2021. 

 

1.10 Failures and Justification 

i. Sea erosion persisted in the east part of the land of the university and the 

university was unable to rectify the issue with the current scale of capital 

allocation. The university has brought this matter to the consideration of 

the Coastal Conservation Department, which has promised to take some 

initiatives to resolve the problem.  

 
ii. The university faces the threat of floods during the rainy season due to 

the overflowing of the Gal Oya.  The university has not been able to 

construct the flood protection bund in spite of the many attempts made to 

approach the relevant authorities. 

 
iii. Failure to attract foreign students for UG or PG Programmes. This is due 

to the location of the University, which is almost 360 Km away from the 

capital of SL-Colombo. The internal transportation does not meet the 
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expectations of students who wish to enroll here because it takes almost 9 

hours to go from Colombo to SEUSL by bus or train. Domestic flights are 

no longer in operation.  

 
iv. Failure to attract accomplished visiting scholars and academics from 

within the country and abroad. This can be attributed to the same reasons 

as highlighted in iii. 

 
v. Recruitments: 

The following cadre positions have not yet been filled; 

 Permanent Medical Officers to the Health Center – Doctors are not 

interested to join the University Service as the Ministry of Health offers 

a higher salary and better prospects. However, the Health Center 

functions with Medical Officers appointed on part-time basis. 

 

 Project manager - As Engineers with relevant qualifications and 

experience are not willing to serve the university at a low salary, this 

position remains vacant. 

 

1.11 Future Plans  

 

 To perform curriculum revisions of academic programmes informed by a 

consistent and comprehensive policy for curriculum review. 

 

 SEUSL has taken steps to offer many new degree programmes in order to 

cater to the needs of the country. Table 1.5 shows the present status of new 

degree programmes and diplomas to be commenced by the faculties. 
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Table 1.10: New study Programmes to be commenced. 

F
a

cu
lt

y
 

Undergraduate/ 
Postgraduate/ 
Certificate/ 
Diploma 
Programmes 

SLQF 
Level 

General/ 
Special (If 
Applicable) 

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

 

M
e

d
iu

m
 

Current Status 

F
A

C
 

BA Honours in 
History 

6 Honours 04 Years Tamil 

Awaiting UGC 
Approval and 
expected to be 
commenced for the 
academic year 
2020/2021 

BA Honours in 
Tourism 

6 Honours 04 Years 
Tamil/ 
English 

Work in process and 
expected to be 
commenced in 2023 

F
IA

 

Dip. in 
Information 
Technology 

3 - 01 Year English In progress 

Certificate in 
Arabic 

2 - 
06 

Months 
Arabic Council approved 

the proposal of the 
courses 

Diploma in 
Arabic 

3 - 01 Year Arabic 

FMC 
PhD 12  3 Years 

English 
To be commenced by 
January 2022 MPhil 11   

FAS 

Certificate/ 
Diploma in 
Computer 
Laboratory 
Technology 

3 -  

English 

To initiate the 
proposal 

Diploma in 
Information and 
Communication 
(DICT) 

3 - 01 Year 
Senate referred the 
proposal to the 
CDC/ Senate 

Bachelor of 
Science (BSc) 
(Hons) Multi-
Disciplinary 

6 Honours 04 Years 
To initiate the 
proposal 

Bachelor of 
Science (BSc.) 
(External 
Degree): 
(External offering 
of existing 
degrees at FAS) 

5 General 03 years 
To initiate the 
proposal 

Honours Degree 
in Applied and 
Environmen5tal 
Geology6 

6 Honours 04 years 
Awaiting approval 
from the UGC 

Bachelor of 
Science (BSc.) in 
Analytical/ 
Pharmaceutical 
Chemistry 

5 Honours 04 years 
To initiate the 
proposal 

Bachelor of 
Unani Medicine 
& Surgery 
(BUMS) in 
SEUSL 

6 Honours 04 years 

Analysing the 
rational and the 
feasibility study in 
progress 
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M. Sc. In 
Environmental 
Science & 
Technology 

10 - 02 years English 

Content 
development and the 
stakeholder feedback 
survey in progress 

F
T

 
Bachelor of 
Information & 
Communication 
Technology 

5 General 03 Years 

English 

Under Review in 
UGC and expected to 
be commence in 2022 

M.Sc in 
Information & 
Communication 
Technology 

10 - 02 Years 
Developing Proposal 
and expected to be 
commence in 2023 

 

 To obtain ISO certification for the Faculty of Technology. 

 

  The Annual Arabic Language Day will be celebrated by the Faculty of 

Islamic Studies and Arabic Language by next year. 

 

 To regularize standard operating policy for regular and standard review, 

upgrading and reviewing curricula for all study programmes. 

 To conduct curricular consultative programmes for all study programmes. 

 

 To enhance the optimal implementation of LMS. 

 

 To undergo quality assurance review of academic programmes which had 

not been reviewed.  

 

 To take steps to increase the impact of our researchers. 

 

 To initiate the academic Programmes that are demanded by society and 

industry. 

 

 To introduce comprehensive enterprise research plans to automate and 

integrate co-organization functions. 

 

 To codify the university calendar and policy framework. 

 

 Qualifying new linkage with other international partners for collaborative 

research. 
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 To motivate staff to obtain university grants and other competitive grants. 

 

 Encouraging staff to upload their research articles to popular research 

networks, such as Research Gate, Google Scholar, Academia, etc. to impact 

the university‘s ranking. 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Assumption of Duties of the Vice Chancellor 

REMARKABLE ACTIVITIES 

Silver Jubilee Celebration of the SEUSL 

Grand Opening Ceremony of the Research Corner 
at the Department of Management -FMC 

The University Business Linkage of SEUSL 
Successfully Completes Phase Three 
 

Conscious Raising Programme on Gender Equity, Equality 
(GEE) and Sexual & Gender Based Violence (SGBV): Focusing 
on Legal Aspect 

The Workshop for Staff on the Community Link Programme 
(Aligambay Visit) by FAC 
 

Workshop for Staff on the Community Link 

Programme (Panama Visit) by FAC 

Workshop for Students on 
Measuring Students’ Performance 
through Outcomes 
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2. Details of Resources & Students               

2.1. Student population and permanent  

Student population and permanent staff details of all categories as at end of December 2020 and end of December 2021 are shown 
in table 2.1. 

Table 2.1: Student population and details of permanent staff  

Faculty/Department/Dicision/Unit 

Total 
Students 

Total 
Academic 

Staff 

Academic 
Supportive 

Staff 

Administrative 
& Other 

Executive Staff 

Non -Academic & 
Non-Administrative 

Staff 

2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 

Faculty of Arts & Culture 1183 1258 45 47 08 09 01 01 

420 416 

Faculty of Applied Sciences 769 742 32 36 02 02 01 01 

Faculty of Management & Commerce 1277 1401 34 33 02 02 01 01 

Faculty of Islamic Studies & Arabic Language 1274 1308 23 24 01 01 01 01 

Faculty of Engineering 441 479 30 29 
  

02 02 

Faculty of Technology 614 655 19 25 01 01 

Library 

  

06 05 01 01 01 01 

General Administration 

  

  
24 21 

CEDPL 01 01 

Physical Education Unit 03 03 

 
 

 

Information and Statistics Unit 01 01 

Career guidance Unit 01 01 

Network Operations Centre 01 01 

Other Departments  

Total 5,558 5,843 189 199 20 21 33 30 420 416 



Annual Report and Accounts 2021 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka         

 

 

30 

2.2 Details of Local Students 

Table 2.2:  Local Students (New Students) in Internal Undergraduate Degree Programmes 

Faculty 
Programme of 
study 

Year of 
Intake 

Agreed 
Intake 

No. 
Registered 

No. 
following 
the course 

Year of 
Intake 

Agreed 
Intake 

No. 
Registered 

No. 
following 
the course 

As at December 2020 As at December 2021 

Faculty of Arts and 
Culture 

Arts 2018/2019 350 355 361* 2019/2020 421 384 380 

Faculty of 
Management and 
Commerce 

Management   
  

2018/2019 

140 124 124 

2019/2020 

188 183 183 

Commerce 120 106 106 152 149 142 

MIT 120 110 109 170 159 159 

Faculty of Applied 
Sciences 

Physical 
Sciences 

2018/2019 

150 103 103 

2019/2020 

223 146 136 

Biological 
Sciences 

150 125 120 212 161 136 

Faculty of Islamic 
Studies And Arabic 
language  

Arabic 
Language  

2018/2019 

200 177 179 

2019/2020 

225 206 199 

Islamic 
Studies  

250 217 213 278 268 263 

Faculty of Engineering Engineering 2018/2019 100 81 81 2019/2020 145 130 130 

Faculty of Technology 
BST 

2018/2019 
85 82 82 

2019/2020 
109 105 105 

ICT 75 69 69 100 96 96 

Total 1740 1549 1547  2223 1987 1929 

 
*     06 students postponed from the academic year 2017/2018 have joined in 2018/2019 
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Table 2.3:  Local Students Enrolment (Total No. of Students) in Internal Undergraduate Degree Programmes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Faculty Programme of study 
Year of 
study 

Year of 
Intake 

UGC Intake (Local Students) 
Year of Intake 

UGC Intake (Local Students) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

As at 31st December 2020 As at 31st December 2021 

 Faculty of 
Arts and 
Culture 

Arts 1st Year 2018/2019 48 313 361 2019/2020 37 343 380 

Arts 2nd Year 2017/2018 33 321 354 2018/2019 48 313 361 

Arts 3rd Year 2016/2017 25 299 324 2017/2018 33 321 354 

Arts (Special) 4th Year 2015/2016 11 133 144 2016/2017 13 150 163 

   Sub Total 117 1,066 1,183 Sub Total 131 1,127 1,258 

Faculty of 
Manageme
nt and 
Commerce 

Management  

1st Year 2018/2019 

56 69 125 

2019/2020 

66 117 183 

Commerce 27 79 106 50 92 142 

MIT 20 88 108 28 131 159 

Management  

2nd Year 2017/2018 

39 98 137 

2018/2019 

56 67 123 

Commerce 38 63 101 28 79 107 

MIT 19 82 101 20 88 108 

Management  

3rd Year 2016/2017 

53 76 129 

2017/2018 

39 98 137 

Commerce 39 76 115 38 63 101 

MIT 20 92 112 19 82 101 

Management  
4th Year 2015/2016 

59 75 134 
2016/2017 

51 76 127 

Commerce 33 75 108 38 74 112 

   Sub Total 403 873 1,276 Sub Total 433 967 1,400 

Faculty of 
Applied 
Sciences 

Physical Science 
1st Year 2018/2019 

44 52 96 
2019/2020 

73 63 136 

Biological Science 16 104 120 30 106 136 

Physical Science 
2nd Year 2017/2018 

50 51 101 
2018/2019 

44 51 95 

Biological Science 21 92 113 14 97 111 

Physical Science 
3rd Year 2016/2017 

59 47 106 
2017/2018 

50 51 101 

Biological Science 35 99 134 21 91 112 

Physical Science 
4th Year 2015/2016 

27 33 60 
2016/2017 

5 9 14 

Biological Science 4 33 37 6 31 37 

   Sub Total 256 511 767 Sub Total 243 499 742 
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Faculty Programme of study Year of study 
Year of Intake 

UGC Intake (Local Students) Year of 
Intake 

UGC Intake (Local Students) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

As at 31st December 2020 As at 31st December 2021 

Faculty of 
Islamic Studies 
and Arabic 
language  

Arabic Language  
1st Year 2018/2019 

60 119 179 
2019/2020 

64 135 199 

Islamic Studies  32 181 213 38 225 263 

Arabic Language  
2nd Year 2017/2018 

61 121 182 
2018/2019 

60 119 179 

Islamic Studies  35 196 231 32 176 208 

Arabic Language  
3rd Year 2016/2017 

60 124 184 
2017/2018 

61 121 182 

Islamic Studies  39 199 238 35 196 231 

Arabic Language  
4th Year 2015/2016 

10 12 22 
2016/2017 

6 10 16 

Islamic Studies  06 19 25 11 19 30 

   Sub Total 303 971 1,274 Sub Total 307 1,001 1,308 

Faculty of 
Engineering 

B.Sc. Engineering 1st Year 2018/2019 68 13 81 2019/2020 106 24 130 

B.Sc. Engineering 2nd Year 2017/2018 73 10 83 2018/2019 68 13 81 

B.Sc. Engineering 3rd Year 2016/2017 72 16 88 2017/2018 73 10 83 

B.Sc. Engineering 4th Year 2015/2016 76 21 97 2016/2017 72 16 88 

B.Sc. Engineering Final Year 2014/2015 80 12 92 2015/2016 76 21 97 

   Sub Total 369 72 441 Sub Total 395 84 479 

Faculty of 
Technology 

 
 

Biosystems Technology 
1st Year 2018/2019 

18 64 82 
2019/2020 

22 83 105 

ICT 53 19 72 59 37 96 

Bio systems Technology 
2nd Year 2017/2018 

22 61 83 
2018/2019 

18 64 82 

ICT 44 27 71 50 19 69 

Bio systems Technology 
3rd Year 2016/2017 

15 65 80 
2017/2018 

22 61 83 

ICT 53 16 69 44 27 71 

Bio systems Technology 
4th Year 2015/2016 

14 68 82 
2016/2017 

15 65 80 

ICT 59 16 75 53 16 69 

   Sub Total 278 336 614 Sub Total 283 372 655 

Total 1726 3829 5555 Total 1792 4050 5842 
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Table 2.4:   Enrolment (Total No. of Students) in External Undergraduate Degree Fee Levying Programmes 

 

Table 2.5:  Local Students New Entrants during (January – December 2020) and (January – December 2021) in Postgraduate Degree Programmes 

Programme of study Year of study 

Student Enrolment(total no. of 
registered students)  
(as at 31st December 2020) 

Student Enrolment(total no. of 
registered students)  
(as at 31st December 2021) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Bachelor of Arts 1st, 2nd& 3rd year 3,628 4,069 7,697 3,660 4,152 7,812 

Bachelor of Business Administration 1st, 2nd& 3rd year 2,401 1,081 3,482 2,514 1,176 3,690 

Bachelor of Commerce 1st, 2nd& 3rd year 315 274 589 354 304 658 

Total 6,344 5,424 11,768 6,528 5,632 12,160 

Name of the Faculty Programme of Study 
Full Time/ 
Part Time 

New Entrants  
(January – December 2020) Full Time/ 

Part Time 

New Entrants  
(January – December 2021) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Faculty of Arts and 
Culture 

PG Dip in Tamil Part Time 3 1 4 
Part Time 

3 1 4 

MA in Tamil Full/ Part 
Time 

1 3 4 2 3 5 

M.phil. in Tamil   2 8 10 

Full/ Part 
Time 

1 6 7 

M.phil. in Geography 

 

2 8 10 

M.phil. in Philosophy 1 2 3 

M.phil. in Political Science 3 2 5 

M.phil. in Sociology 4 3 7 

PhD. in  Tamil   

Full/ Part 
Time 

7 1 8 

PhD. in Geography 3 - 3 

PhD. in Philosophy 3 - 3 

PhD. in Political Science - - - 

PhD. in Sociology 2 1 3 
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Table 2.6:  Local Students Enrolment (Total No .of Students) in Postgraduate Degree Programmes 

Faculty of Applied 
Sciences 

PG Dip. In Applied 
Statistics   Part Time 

6 4 10 

MPhil in Physics 1 - 1 

Faculty of 
Management and 
Commerce 

Master of Business 
Administration 

Full Time 32 11 43 Full Time - - - 

Faculty of Technology 

M.phil  research Degree 
Programme in Biosystems 
Technology 

Full Time  4 2 6 Full Time     

Part Time 3 4 7 Part Time 3 2 5 

Total    45 29 74  41 33 74 

Name of the 
Faculty 

Programme of Study 
Full Time/ 
Part Time 

Student Enrolment (total no. of 
registered students) 
(as at 31st December 2020) 

Full Time/ 
Part Time 

Student Enrolment (total no. of 
registered students) 
(as at 31st December 2021) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Faculty of Arts 
and Culture 

Pg Dip in Tamil Part Time 5 2 7 Part Time 7 2 9 

MA in Tamil  Full/Part Time 4 6 10 Part Time 7 7 14 

Mphil in Tamil   Full/Part Time 33 17 50 

Full/Part Time 

35 16 51 

M.phil. in Geography 

 
 
 

2 8 10 

M.phil. in Philosophy 1 2 3 

M.phil. in Political Science 3 2 5 

M.phil. in Sociology 4 3 7 

PhD. in  Tamil   7 1 8 

PhD. in Geography 

  Full/Part Time 

3 - 3 

PhD. in Philosophy 3 - 3 

PhD. in Political Science - - - 

PhD. in Sociology 2 1 3 

Total  42 25 67  74 42 116 
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2.3 Details of Foreign Students 

 Table 2.7:  Foreign Students (students selected under foreign category) Enrolment (Total No. of Students) in Undergraduate Degree Programmes – 2021 (as 

at 31st December 2021) 

Faculty 
Programme of 
study 

Year of study Country 
Year of 
Intake 

Student Enrolment(total no. of 
registered students) 

Male Female Total 

Faculty of Management and 
Commerce 

Management 4th Year Swaziland 2016/2017 1 0 1 

Total 1 0 1 

 

 

 

Faculty of 
Management 
and Commerce 

PG Dip in Management  Full Time 12 01 13 Full Time 10 01 11 

Master of Business 
Administration 

Full Time 249 63 312 Full Time 234 62 296 

Total    261 64 325  244 63 307 

Faculty of 
Applied 
Sciences 

PG Dip. in Applied Statistics   Part Time 4 3 7 

Total   4 3 7 

Faculty of 
Technology 

M.Phill in BioSystems Technology 
Full Time  4 2 6 Full Time    

Part Time 3 4 7 Part Time 9 8 17 

 Total    7 6 13  9 8 17 

                                  Grand Total 310 95 405  331 116 447 
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2.4 Graduate Output 
 

Table 2.8: Undergraduate Output – Internal  

Faculty 
Programme 

of Study 

2020 

 

2021 

E
ff

e
ct

iv
e

 
D

a
te

 o
f 

M
a

in
 

C
o

h
o

rt
 

(M
M

/Y
Y

) 

M
a

in
 (

M
)/

 
R

e
p

ea
t 

(R
) 

Relevant  
UGC 

Intake year 

No. Sat for the 
Final Exam 

Total No. 
Graduated 

E
ff

e
ct

iv
e

 
D

a
te

 o
f 

M
a

in
 

C
o

h
o

rt
 

(M
M

/Y
Y

) 

M
a

in
 (

M
)/

 

R
e

p
ea

t 
(R

) 

Relevant  
UGC Intake 

year 

No. Sat 
for the 
Final 
Exam 

Total No. 
Graduated 

Engineering 
 

BSc. Engineering 
(Special) 

3/20 M 2013/2014 73 57 10/20 R 2013/2014 4 2 

8/20 M 2013/2014 15 10 11/20 R 2012/2013 5 3 

3/20 R 2012/2013 6 1 11/20 R 2013/2014 19 13 

8/20 R 2012/2013 1 1 1/21 M 2014/2015 89 74 

8/20 R 2012/2013 18 2 1/21 M 2013/2014 2 1 

 

4/21 R 2014/2015 5 1 

5/21 R 2014/2015 5 1 

5/21 R 2013/2014 1 1 

6/21 R 2014/2015 2 1 

11/21 R 2014/2015 9 3 

12/21 R 2014/2015 5 1 
            

Applied 
Sciences 

B.Sc  (Genaral) 

7/20 
8/20 
9/20 

M 2015/2016 207 72 3/21 R 2015/2016 41 5 

9/20 R 2013/2014 10 07 4/21 M 2016/2017 203 49 

9/20 R 2014/2015 28 15 4/21 R 
2014/2015  
2015/2016 

60 23 

B.Sc (Special) 

1/20 M 2013/2014 04 04 4/21 M 2014/2015 7 7 

2/20 M 2013/2014 08 08 5/21 M 2014/2015 9 9 

2/20 M 2013/2014 19 19 6/21 M 2014/2015 8 8 

 
6/21 M 2014/2015 8 8 

4/21 M 2014/2015 7 6 
            

Management B.Sc MIT 7/20 M 2015/2016 110 68 3/21 M 2015/2016 6 4 
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& Commerce 7/20 R 2014/2015 04 01 3/21 R 2012/2013 1 1 

 

3/21 R 2014/2015 6 2 

3/21 R 2015/2016 12 2 

7/21 M 2016/2017 117 69 

7/21 R 2015/2016 3 1 

BBA 
(Special) 

7/20 M 2014/2015 128 103 7/21 M 2015/2016 125 107 

7/20 R 2013/2014 03 01 4/21 R 2014/2015 2 1 

 
4/21 R 2012/2013 1 1 

3/21 R 2014/2015 8 2 

B.Com 
(Special) 

7/20 M 2014/2015 87 56 7/21 M 2015/2016 110 87 

 
3/21 R 2014/2015 10 5 

3/21 R 2012/2013 1 1 
             

Arts & 
Culture 

BA. 
(Special) 

4/20 M 2014/2015 143 143 4/21 M 2014/2015 1 1 

4/20 R 2012/2013 01 01 4/21 M 2015/2016 146 141 

BA. 
(General) 

3/20 
M 
 

2015/2016 204 192 3/21 M 2016/2017 149 115 

3/20 R 2011/2012 01 01 3/21 M 2015/2016 2 0 

3/20 R 2014/2015 04 04 3/21 R 2015/2016 3 3 
            

Islamic 
Studies and 

Arabic 
Lanuage 

BA. 
(General) 

3/20 R 2014/2015 16 14 4/21 M 2016/2017 346 282 

3/20 M 2015/2016 286 255 4/21 R 2015/2016 15 6 

BA. 
(Special) 

5/20 M 2014/2015 28 24 5/21 M 2015/2016 
44 

8 

7/20 M 2014/2015 06 01 6/21 M 2015/2016 27 
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 Table 2.9: Undergraduate Output: External  

Program of study 
General/ 
Special 

No. Graduated 

(From January - December 2020) 
No. Graduated 

(From January - December 2021) 
Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Bachelor of Arts General 64 63 127 0 0 0 

Bachelor of Business Administration General 36 18 54 0 0 0 

Bachelor of Commerce General 05 10 15 0 0 0 

Total 105 91 196 0 0 0 
 

 

Table 2.10: Postgraduate Output  

Faculty Name of the Programme of Study 

No. Graduated 
(From January - December 2020) 

No. Graduated 
(From January - December 2021) 

Male Female Total Male Female Total 

Management & 
Commerce 

Master of Business Administration 14 0 14 15 01 16 

PG Diploma in Management   - 02 - 02 

Arts and Culture 
M.Phil in Tamil 03 01 04 01 - 01 

MA in Tamil 02 01 03 - - - 

Total 19 02 21 18 01 19 
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2.5 Hostels 

Table 2.11: No. of Students satisfied and received hostel facilities by Faculty during 2021 

Faculty  
Batch 
Year 

Year of 
Intake 

No. of Students 
satisfy the 
selection 
criteria for 
hostels 

No. of students received 
Hostel facilities 

Male Female Total 

FAC 

1st year  (2019/2020) 275 0 0 0 

2nd year  (2018/2019) 293 35 258 293 

3rd year   2017/2018) 260 29 231 260 

4th year  (2016/2017) 112 7 105 112 

FIA 

1st year  (2019/2020) 342 67 275 342 

2nd year   2018/2019) 311 79 232 311 

3rd year   2017/2018) 327 110 217 327 

4th year  (2016/2017) 26 10 16 26 

FMC 

1st year  (2019/2020) 0 0 0 0 

2nd year   2018/2019) 248 73 175 248 

3rd year  (2017/2018) 255 73 182 255 

4th year   2016/2017) 204 83 121 204 

FAS 

1st year  (2019/2020)     

2nd year  (2018/2019) 188 55 133 188 

3rd year  (2017/2018) 170 52 118 170 

4th year  (2016/2017) 51 15 36 51 

5th year  (2015/2016) 58 24 34 58 

FE 

1st year  (2019/2020)     

2nd year   2018/2019) 78 66 12 78 

3rd year   2017/2018) 83 73 10 83 

4th year   2016/2017) 88 72 16 88 

5th year   2014/2015) 97 76 21 97 

FT 

1st year  (2019/2020) 
 

      

2nd year  (2018/2019) 150 67 83 150 

3rd year   2017/2018) 148 65 83 148 

4th year   2016/2017) 144 65 79 144 

Total    1196 2437 3633 
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Table 2.12: Permanent Hostels 2020 

Name 

L
o

ca
ti

o
n

 

D
is

ta
n

ce
 

fr
o

m
 

U
n

iv
e

rs
it

y
 

Y
e

a
r 

E
st

a
b

li
sh

e
d

 

No. can be 
Accommodated  

No. 
Occupied                                                  
(as at 31st 
December 
2021) 

H
o

st
e

l 
F

e
e

 

p
e

r 
st

u
d

e
n

t 

p
e

r 
y

e
a

r 

M F M F 

Hostel (Boys) 
FVB-01 

In
si

d
e 

th
e 

U
n

iv
er

si
ty

 P
re

m
is

es
 O

lu
v

il
 

In
si

d
e 

th
e 

U
n

iv
er

si
ty

 P
re

m
is

es
  

2010 170 - 127 - 1,200/- 

Hostel (Boys) 
FVB-02 

2014 396 - 358 - 1,200/- 

Hostel (Boys) 
FVB-03 

2016 396 - 431 - 1,200/- 

Hostel (Boys) 
FVB-04  

2004 180 - 134 0 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-01(A) 

2010 - 266 - 139 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-01(B) 

2016 - 396 - 491 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-02 

2014 - 396 - 410 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-03 

2016 - 396 - 407 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-04 

2004 - 180 - 247 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
FVG-05 

2018 - 396 - 422 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
SGH-01 

B
a

n
g

a
la

w
ad

y
  

S
a

m
m

a
n

th
u

ra
i 2016 - 215 - 215 1,200/- 

Hostel (Girls) 
SGH-02 

500 m 2016 - 60 - 106 1,200/- 

Hostel (Boys) 
SBH-01 

500 m 2018 396 - 146 - 1,200/- 

Total   1538 2305 1196 2437 
 

Grand total  3843 3633  
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3. Human Resource         
 

3.1 Details of Cardre 
 
 

Table 3.1:  Approved Cadre and Present Staff as at 31st December, 2021 - All Staff 

Service Category 

S
a
la

ry
 C

o
d

e
 

A
p

p
ro

v
e
d

 C
a
d

re
 Existing Cadres as at 31.12.2021 

P
e

rm
a

n
e

n
t 

C
a
d

re
 V

a
ca

n
ci

e
s 

A
ct

u
a
l 

C
a

d
re

 

V
a
ca

n
ci

e
s 

P
e

rm
an

en
t 

T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 

C
o

n
tr

a
ct

 

V
is

it
in

g
 

Primary Level 

Primary Grade - Unskilled U-PL 1 179 133 - - - 

44 44 Primary Grade - Semi skilled U-PL 2 45 34 - - - 

Primary Grade - Skilled U-PL 3  52 65 a,b  - - 

Secondary Level 

Clerical & Allied Staff 

U-MN 1 138 103 - - - 

6 6 
U-MN 2 6 4 - - - 

U-MN 3 15 12 - - - 

U-MN 4 0 34 d - - - 

Technical Staff 

U-MT 1 60 24 - 1 - 

37 35 

U-MN 1 5 3 - - - 

U-MN 2 3 2 - 1 - 

U-MN 3 0 0 c - - - 

U-MN 4  0 2  - - - 

Tertiary Level 

Academic Support Staff U-AS 1 14 9 4 - - 5 1 

Other Executive Staff *2 U-EX 1 3 1 0 - - 2 2 

Administrative Staff & Financial Staff *1 U-EX 1 17 13 - - - 4 4 

Academic Support Staff U-AS 2 23 12 - - - 11 11 

Temporary Tutor U-AC 1 (fixed) 0 - 0 - - 

41 39 

Temporary Instructor U-AC 1 (fixed) 18 - 8 - - 

Temporary Demonstrator U-AC 1 (fixed) 56 - 38 2 - 

Temporary Research Assistant U-AC 2/ U-AC 1 (fixed) 1 - 0 - - 

Temporary Lecturer/Temp.Asst.Lecturer U-AC 2 (fixed) 61 - 49 - - 

Senior Level 

Medical officers 
U-MO 1 2 0 - 3 - 

2 -1 
U-MO 2 0 0 - - - 

Other Executive Staff *2 U-EX 2 7 4 - - - 3 3 

Administrative Staff & Financial Staff *1 
U-EX 2  10 11 e - 1 - -1 -2 

U-EX 3 2 1 - - - 1 1 

Library Staff 

U-AC 3 5 4 - - - 

2 2 U-AC 4 1 0 - - - 

U-AC 5 1 1 - - - 

Other 
Directors Allowances  3 - - 3 f - - - 

Deans Allowances  6 - - 6 f - - - 

Lecturer(Prob.) U-AC 3(IV) 

255 

54 - - 

7 65 51 

Lecturer (unconfirmed) U-AC 3(III) 15 - - 

Lecturer U-AC 3(III) 03 - 3 

Senior Lecturer Gr II U-AC 3(II) 54 - 2 

Senior Lecturer Gr I U-AC 3(I) 49 - 1 

Associate Professors U-AC 4 0 - - 

Professor U-AC 5 (II) 15 - - 

Senior Professor U-AC 5 (I) 0 - 1 

Professor Chair 
Senior Professors U-AC 5 (I) 

16 
- - - - 

12 12 
Professors U-AC 5 (II) 4 - - - 

Deputy Vice Chancellor/QA U-AC 5 (II) 1 - - - - 1 1 

Vice Chancellor g U-AC 5 (I) 1 - - - - - - 
Note:  *1 Designation as given in the Commission Circular No: 905     

 *2 Excluding Technical Staff  
a   UPL 2 categories converted to UPL 3 salary code on personal to the holder basis by Commission Circular No. 985 dated 15.05.201. 

Therefore the following staff included in the salary code of UPL 3. (Library Attendants -03, Health Service Laborers -03 and 
Laboratory Attendants -03) 

b  In 2017 Cadre Book, the following cadres were suppressed. However these cadres were already filled before 2017. (Repairman – 
01, Book Binder -01 and Machine Operator – 02) 

c,d Promotional level upliftment 
e   In 2017 Cadre Book, Administrative Staff & Financial Staff *1 cadres were re allocated. However these cadres were already filled 

before 2017. 
f Appointed from U-AC 3 category of staff attached in the faculties.  
g Vice Chancellor is from the Faculty of Arts and Culture.and already included under U-AC5 (II) category. 
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3.2  Academic Staff and Academic Supportive Staff                                                                                                                                               

Table 3.2: Details of Academic and Academic Supportive Staff attached at 31st December 
2021 

 

P- Professor         SL1- Senior Lecturer Gr –I       SL2-Senior Lecturer Gr –II           L- Lecture/Lecturer (Unconfirmed)/Lecturer (Prob)    
AL- Assistant Lecturer  LB- Librarian SALB- Senior Assistant Librarian ALB-Assistant Librrian
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FAC 

Dept. of Political Science 2 1  3  

- - 9 19 

Dept. of Languages 1 5 2 3 

Dept. of Geography 1 3 - 2 

Dept. of Social Sciences - 5 - 2 

Dept. of Sociology 1 1 2 1 

Dept. of  Economics and Statistics - 1 - 5 

Dept. of English Language 
Teaching  

- 1 2 1 

Dept. of Information  and 
Communicaion Technology 

-  1 1 

 Total 5 17 7 18 - - 9 19 

FIA 
Dept. of Islamic Studies 1 1 5 4 

- - 1 12 
Dept. of Arabic Languages - 4 8 1 

 Total 1 5 13 5 - - 1 12 

F
M

C
 

Dept. of Accounting & Finance 2 4 3 3 

- - 2 7 
Dept. of Marketing Management 3 1 - - 

Dept. of Management 3 6 3 - 

Dept. of MIT 1 1 3 - 

 Total 9 12 9 3 - - 2 7 

FAS 

Dept. of Mathematical Sciences 2 2 2 4 

- 6 2 28 

Dept. of Physical Sciences - 3 2 2 

Dept. of Biological Sciences - 2 2 4 

Dept. of Chemical Sciences - 2 2 3 

Dept. of Computer Sciences - 2 1 1 

 Total 2 11 9 14 - 6 2 28 

FE 

Dept. of Civil Engineering 1 2 4 3 

6 1 - 19 

Dept. of Mechanical Engineering - 1 1 3 

Dept. of Electrical & 
Telecommunication Engineering 

1 1 1 5 

Dept. of Computer Science & 
Engineering 

- - 2 2 

Dept. of Interdisciplinary Studies - - - 2 

 Total 2 4 8 15 6 1 - 19 

FT 
Dept. of BioSystems Technology - - 4 7 

- - - 15 
Dept. of ICT - - 4 10 

 Total - - 8 17 - - - 15 

Library 

 

1 4 - 

 

1 

 

Career Guidance Unit  1 

Network Operations Centre 1 

Information and Statistics Unit 1 

Physical Education Unit 3 

Grand Total 19 49 54 72 1 4 - 6 7 21 100 
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3.3  Administrative, Financial and Other Executive Staff 

Teble 3.3: Details of Administrative, Financial and Other Executive Staff (Permanent)  

Staff Details 
Senior Tertiary 

2020 2021 2020 2021 

Administrative Staff & Financial Staff  15 12 13 13 

Other Executive Staff * 04 04 01 01 

Total 19 16 14 14 
 

* Assistant Internal Auditor, Director/ Accommodation, Works Engineer, Curator, Chief Security Officer 

 

3.4 Non Academic and Non-Administrative Staff (Permenant) 

Teble 3.4: Details of Non Academic and Non-Administrative Staff (Permanent)  

Staff Category 2020 2021 

Technical Staff 32 31 

Clerical And Allied Staff 147 153 

Primary Staff 241 232 

Total 420 416 



 



 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

STUDENTS’ ACHIEVEMENTS AND SPORTS ACTIVITIES 
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4 Research and Development                

4.1 Details of Research, Innovation and Publications  

Table 4.1: Details of the research articles, books and book chapters published during 2021 

Publication Category 
FAC FMC FAS FIA FE FT Library 

Other Dept./ 
Unit 

Sub  Total 
Total  

L F L F L F L F L F L F L F L F L F 

No. of full Papers published in indexed 
Journals including e-journals 

- 20 - 39 - 19 - 11 - 24 - 13 - - 
- - 

- 126 126 

No. of full Papers published in refreed non-
indexed Journals including e-journals 

26 02 19 05 27 01 30 14 06 01 13 09 02 - 01 
- 

123 32 155 

No. of conference Papers published as full 
papers in Conference Proceedings 

13 02 01 01 01 - 14 02 09 03 30 01 02 - 
- - 

70 9 79 

No. of Abstract Publications 09 - 04 - 03 - 02 - 02 - 11 - 01 - - - 32 - 32 

Total no.of research articles published 72 69 51 73 45 77 05 01 225 167  

No. of Book Chapters published 02 08 - 05 - 01 - - - 03 - - - - - - 02 17 19 

No. of 
Books 

By the Publisher - 01 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 1 01 

By the Author 02 - - - - - 02 01 - - - - - - - - 4 1 05 

No. of Articles published - - - - - - - - - - - - 01 - - - 1 - 01 

Total Publications 85 74 52 76 48 77 06 01 418 418 

 

   L-Published Local    F-Published Foreign  

The details of the above research, Journal, books and articles which are given below. 
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FACULTY OF ARTS AND CULTURE    

 
Papers published in indexed Journals 
 
Nishanthi, K., & Kaleel, M. I. M. (2021). Assessment of 
solid waste management in Wattala-Mabola urban 
council, Sri Lanka. World Scientific News, 160, 145-157. 
 
Nijamir, K., Thennakoon, T. M. S. P. K., Herath, H. J. R., 
& Kaleel, M. I. M. (2021). Exploring Physical and Human 
Induced Coastal Morphodynamics: A Study with 
Reference to Nintavur to Addalaichenai Coastal Areas of 
Ampara District, Sri Lanka. Academic Journal of 
Interdisciplinary Studies, 10(3), 347-347. 
 
Navaz, M., & Majeed, A. (2021). Online language 
learning and teacher-student interaction: experience of 
students and instructors. International Journal of Social 
Science and Human Research. 
 
Navaz, A. M. M. (2021). Developing Interaction in ESL 
Classes: An Investigation of Teacher-Student Interaction 
of Teacher Trainees in a Sri Lankan 
University. International Journal of Learning, Teaching and 
Educational Research, 20(2), 174-196. 
 
Navaz, M., & Majeed, A. (2021). English education in Sri 
Lanka with emphasis on english medium instruction at 
secondary and tertiary levels: The past, present and 
future. International Journal of Social Science And Human 
Research. 
 
Ismail, F. K. M., & Zubairi, A. M. B. (2022). Item Objective 
Congruence Analysis for Multidimensional Items 
Content Validation of a Reading Test in Sri Lankan 
University. English Language Teaching, 15(1). 
 
Shalabi, M. M., Negm, M. S., Nagi, N. S. F., & Sameem, 
M. A. M. (2021). An analysis of the use of metaphor in 
Barack Obama Inaugural speech at 20 January 2009. 
Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry 
(TOJQI)Volume 12, Issue 8, July 2021: 5195 – 5204. 
 
Suresh, K., Khanal, U., Wilson, C., Managi, S., Quayle, A., 
& Santhirakumar, S. (2021). An economic analysis of 
agricultural adaptation to climate change impacts in Sri 
Lanka: An endogenous switching regression 
analysis. Land Use Policy, 109, 105601. 
 
Suresh, K., Wilson, C., Khanal, U., Managi, S., & 
Santhirakumar, S. (2021). How productive are rice 
farmers in Sri Lanka? The impact of resource 
accessibility, seed sources and varietal 
diversification. Heliyon, 7(6), e07398. 
 
Fathima Rinosha, K., & Mohamed Mustafa, A. M. (2021). 
Nexus between financial development and economic 
growth: Evidence from Sri Lanka. Journal of Asian Finance, 
Economics and Business, 8(3), 165-170. 
 
Thahara, A. F., Rinosha, K. F., & Shifaniya, A. J. F. (2021). 
The relationship between exchange rate and trade 
balance: empirical evidence from Sri Lanka. Journal of 
Asian Finance, Economics and Business. 

Sarifudeen,A.L.(2021). Determinants Of Corporate 
Internet Financial Reporting: Evidence From Sri Lanka. 
Information Technology in Industry. 
 
Zunoomy, M. S., & Munas, M. H. A. (2021). Common 
Mistakes in Creating Sentences Consisting of a Subject 
and Predicate and in Translating them to Tamil: A Case 
Study of Undergraduates of the Department of Arabic 
Language of South Eastern University of Sri 
Lanka. International Journal of Linguistics, Literature and 
Translation, 4(12), 152-157. 
 
Ashfa, M. A. F., Anjum, M. S., Mohamed, A. I., Aqeela, 
M. M. F., & Zunoomy, M. S. (2021). Korōṉā toṟṟu kālattil 
tiṉakkūliyāḷarkaḷiṉ nilai: Koḻumpu-12 Putukkaṭai 
piratēcattai maiyappaṭuttiya camūkaviyal āyvu [Daily 
wage workers in Covid-19 pandemic period: a 
sociological research based on Hulftsdorf, Colombo-
12]. Muallim Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities, 82-
95. 
 
Zunoomy, M. S., & Shibly, F. H. A. (2021). Impact of 
machine translation on university students‘ translation 
ability: south eastern university of sri lanka as a 
model. Indonesian Journal of Social Research (IJSR), 3(2), 
121-127. 
 
Riswan, M. (2021). Social implications of Covid-19 
pandemic: A brief analysis. Shanlax International Journal of 
Arts, Science and Humanities. 
 
Jayasinghe, H. D. R. P., Riswan, M., & Ishaq, P. (2021). 
Water scarcity in Aligambai village, Alayadivembu 
divisional secretariat, Sri Lanka. Shanlax International 
Journal of Arts, Science and Humanities. 
 
Zunoomy, M. S., & Shibly, F. H. A. (2021). Impact of 
Machine Translation on University Students ‗translation 
Ability: South Eastern University of Sri Lanka As A 
Model. Indonesian Journal of Social Research (IJSR), 3(2), 
121-127. 
 
Zunoomy, M. S., & Shibly, F. H. A. (2021). Challenges of 
Writing Dissertation among University Students: Based 
on South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. Shanlax 
International Journal of Arts, Science and Humanities. 
 
Munas, M. H. A., & Zunoomy, M. S. (2021). Nominal and 
Verbal Sentences & their Aspects: a contrastive linguistics 
study between Tamil & Arabic Languages. International 
Journal of Research and Analytical Reviews (IJRAR). 
 
D‘Souza, R., Shet, J. P., Alanya-Beltran, J., Tongkachok, 
K., Hipolito-Pingol, G., & Sameem, M. A. M. (2021). ―I 
Teach the way I believe‖: EFL Teachers‘ Pedagogical 
Beliefs in Technology Integration and its Relationship to 
Students‘ Motivation and Engagement in the COVID 19 
Pandemic Year. International Journal of Learning, Teaching 
and Educational Research. 
 
 
Papers published in non-indexed Journals 
 
Fawmida, M. H. F., & Kaleel, M. I. M. (2021). The impact 
of climate change on human health: a study with special 

http://it-in-industry.org/index.php/itii/article/view/627
http://it-in-industry.org/index.php/itii/article/view/627
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reference to Colombo Ds Division. Kalam International 
Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Navaz, A. M. (2021). Importance of learning grammar for 
academic writing: Difficulties faced by TESL students in 
academic writing. KALAM – International Journal, FAC, 
SEUSL. 
 
Begum, R., Mufeeth, M., & Rameez, A. (2021). 
Community perception, awareness, and knowledge of 
coastal erosion with special reference to the South-
Eastern coastal region, Oluvil, Ampara, Sri 
Lanka. Ruhuna Journal of Science, 12(2). 
 
Riswan, M, Nusrath Banu M. (2021). Liberal Feminist‘s 
Perspective on Gender. Journal of Research and 
Development. 
 
Riswan, M. (2021). Conceptualizing Sex and Gender. 
Journal of Research and Development 
 
Rameez, A. (2020). Rise of Sri Lanka podujana peramuna 
(SLPP): causes, consequences and challenges. Kalam 
International Research Journal, FAC, SEUSL.      
 
Zahir, I., Madurapperuma, B., Lebbe Iyoob, A., & 
Nijamir, K. (2021). Exploring the Ever-Changing 
Seashore Using Geoinformatics Technology. Earth 2021, 
2(3), 544-555; https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ earth 2030032. 
                                                                                                                                          
Rifka, M. U. F., & Nufile, A. A. M. (2021). The role of 
tourism industry on economic growth: a study based on 
Sri Lanka after the liberalization. Kalam International 
Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL  
                                                      
Rifka, M. U. F., & Nufile, A. A. M. (2021). பதொருபொ஡ொ஧ 

஬ப஧ச்ச்ிம௃ன் சுந்றுனொ஡த்ுறநம௃ண் தங்கபித்பு: 

இனங்றகம௃ண் ஡ொ஧ொப஥஦஥ொக்க஡த்ிந்குத் பிண்ண஧ொண 

ஓ஧ ் ஆ஦்வு. Kalam International Research Journal.  FAC, 
SEUSL.                                                      
 
Mohammed Sadick, S. H., Nisthar, S., & Nufile, A. A. M. 
(2021). An analysis of the relationship between the 
productivity and the non-communicable diseases. Kalam 
International Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL.   
                                                    
Nisthar, S., Vijayakumar, S., & Nufile, A. A. M. (2021). 
Positive economic impacts: an analysis of tourism in 
Panama region. Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, 
SEUSL.         
                                             
Rinos, M. H. M., Risla Banu, M. H., & Jisna, M. F. (2021). 
Challenges faced by fishermen in marine fishing: a study 
based on Nintavur DS Division. Kalam International 
Research Journal. FAC. SEUSL.   
                                                     
Rinos, M. H. M., Risla Banu, M. H., Zeeras Banu, M. H., 
& Akram, K. L. M. (2021). ப஢ந்தம௃஧ ்வ஬பொ஠்ற஥ம௃ன் 

கறபகபிண் ஡ொக்க஥்: ச஥்஥ொ஢த்ுறந பி஧வ஡ச பச஦னக 

பி஧ிவிந்குடத்டட் வச஬கத்தந்று க஠்ட஡ற்஡ 

ற஥஦த்தடு஡த்ி஦ ஓ஧ ்ஆ஦்வு. Kalam International Research 
Journal. FAC, SEUSL.       
   
Riswan, M, Rifka Farwin, M.T. (2021). Challenges Faced 
by Elders: A Critical Evaluation. KALAM – International 
Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL. 
 

Riswan, M. (2021). Community participation and rural 
water supply system: policy and practice in developing 
countries. Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, 
SEUSL.       
                                                 
Muniandy, V. D., Mariamdaran Chethiyar, S. D., & 
Sameem, M. A. (2021). Level of cybercrime awareness 
among diploma students during the pandemic of covid-
19. Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL.   
                                                     
Nijamir, K., Thennakoon, T. M. S. P., & Herath, H. M. 
(2021). UGV application for modelling and forecasting 
the Tidal fluctuation: With reference to coastal strip from 
Nintavur to Addalaichenai areas of Ampara District, Sri 
Lanka. Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Nufile, A. A. M., Rinosha, K. F., Milhana, U. L., Washima, 
M. N. F., Thahara, A. F., Santhirakumar, S., Nishla 
Manazir& Rifka, M. U. F. (2021). Covid-19 pandemic and 
socio economic issues: an experience of Sri lanka. 
Department of Economics and Statistics, Kalam 
International Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL.   
                                                     
Nirosha, S., & Rinosha, K. F. (2021). The status of 
vocational training education among hill country youths: 
a study with special reference to 2018 advanced level 
students in Lunugala divisional secretariat. Kalam 
International Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL   
                                                     
Rinosha, K. F., & Rilakshika, T. (2021). Economic and 
livelihood condition of fresh water fishing community: a 
study with special reference to Aalayadivembu 
divisional secretariat area. Kalam International Research 
Journal. FAC, SEUSL  .  
                                                    
Nufile, A.A.M., Rinosha, K F., Milhana, U.L., Washima, 
M. N. F., Thahara, A. F., Santhirakumar, S., Nishla,M.,& 
Rifka, M. U. F. (2021). Covid-19 pandemic and socio 
economic issues: an experience of Sri Lanka. Department 
of Economics and Statistics, Kalam International Research 
Journal. FAC, SEUSL    
                                                     
Ayoob, S. M., & Rishatha, T. F. (2021). extinction of 
traditional Medicine and Its social changes: a sociological 
study Based on Sammanthurai. Kalam International 
Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL      
                                                  
Mansoor, C. M. M., & Zuha, R. F. M. (2021). Impacts of 
mobile learning technology on children‘s education: 
parents‘ perspective for children with special reference to 
Kalmunai. Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, 
SEUSL 
                                                       
Mansoor, C. M. M. (2021). Smart healthcare platform for 
elderly monitoring with emerging technologies. Kalam 
International Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL 
                                                       
Zunoomy, M. S., & Munas, M. H. A. (2021). வ஥ந்கிணது஥் 

இஸ்னொ஡த்ிணது஥் வ஢ொக்கின் ஥ணி஡ ஒழுக்க஥்: ஓ஧ ்

ஒத்பீடட்ொ஦்வு.. Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, 
SEUSL   
                                                      
Zunoomy, M. S., & Shibly, F. H. A. (2021). Challenges of 
Writing Dissertation among University Students: Based 
on South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. Kalam 
International Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL  

https://doi.org/
http://192.248.66.13/handle/123456789/5841
http://192.248.66.13/handle/123456789/5841
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Kanesarajah, K. (2021). Vipullandhar‘s and Karl Marx‘s 
educational thoughts: a comparative study. Faculty of 
Arts and Culture, South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 
Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL         
                                                 
Risna Banu, A. S. F., & Washima, M. N. F. (2021). 
Contribution of salt production on socio economic status 
of saltpan workers: a study based on the Kalpitiya 
divisional secretariat. Kalam International Research Journal. 
FAC, SEUSL  
                                                       
Navaz, A. M. M. (2021). Analysing Lecturer-Student 
Interaction in EMI Undergraduate Lectures: A Sri Lankan 
Perspective. Modern Perspectives in Language, Literature 
and Education Vol. 4, 109-125. 
 
Zunoomy, M.S., Ashfa, M.A.F.,  Nairoos, M.H.M.(2021). 

The Progression of Islamic Law from Islamic Erato 

Modern World: Ahistorical View. Sri Lankan Journal of 

Arabic and Islamic Studies, FIA, SEUSL. 

 
Full Papers published in Conference Proceedings 
 
Rameez, A. (2021). Negative effects on peace building 
due to mal-distribution of humanitarian assistance 
provided to the victims of tsunami by the NGO and 
government: a case study of Ampara district. 10th 
Anniversary International Symposium: The Issues and 
Challenges of the 21st Century, 4th-8th July 2006, 
Sabaragamuwa University of Sri Lanka. 
 
Riswan,M.(2021). Empowerment of Women: Challenges 
in Sri Lanka. International Webinar on ‘Women and Girls in 
Difficult Situation: Towards a Gendered Social Policy’, 
conducted by the Department of Sociology, University of 
Kerala, in association with Centre for women’s Studies, 
University of Kerala, on 10.03.2021  
 
Riswan, M., Bushra Beegom, R.K., (2021). Gender 
Aspects on Water and Sanitation: A Conceptual Outlook. 
International Webinar on ‘Women and Girls in Difficult 
Situation: Towards a Gendered Social Policy’, conducted by 
the Department of Sociology, University of Kerala, in 
association with Centre for women’s Studies, University of 
Kerala, on 8th March 20. 
 
Israth, U., Zunoomy, M.S., & Munas, M.H.A. (2021). 
Difficulties of Arabic language learning among school 
students: 8th International Symposium, FIA, SEUSL.. 
 
Nizzad, A. R. M., Sameer, U. M., Suhath, S. M., Nafrees, 
A. C. M., Rankothge, W. H., Kehelella, P. H., & Mansoor, 
C. M. M. (2021, December). Internet of things based 
automatic system for the traffic violation. 5th International 
Conference on Electrical, Electronics, Communication, 
Computer Technologies and Optimization Techniques 
(ICEECCOT) (pp. 371-376). IEEE. 
 
Sumaiya, M. S., & Rameez, M. A. (2021). ப஡ண்ணினங்றக 

முஸ்லி஥்கபிண் ஥஡சச்ொ஧த்ொண இனக்கி஦ மு஦ந்சிகப்-1960 

கப் ஬ற஧. 8th International Symposium, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Afra, M. I. F., & Fathima Sheefa, M. I. ச஫ாதானக் கல்வி 
எனும் எண்ணக்கருவும் தற்காலத்தில் அதன் அவசி஬ப்பாடும். 
8th International Symposium, FIA, SEUSL. 

Anuzsiya, S., The Portuguese and Seizure of Batticaloa 
Fort, 8th International Symposium, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Rifka, M. U. F., & Nufile, A. A. M. (2021). The 
relationship between economic growth & tourism 
income: a study based on Sri Lanka. 8th International 
Symposium, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Munas, M. H. A., & Zunoomy, M. S. (2021). ஡ந்கொன 

விஞ்ஞொண஡த்ுறந ஬ப஧ச்ச்ிக்கு ஥஡த்ி஦கொன 

முஸ்லி஥்கபிண் தங்கபித்பு: ஓ஧ ் மீபொ஦்வு. Faculty of 8th 
International Symposium, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Ashfa, M. A. F., Ijas Mohamed, A., Zunoomy, M. S., & 
Shibly, F. H. A. (2021). ஆ஦்விந்கொண ஡஧வு வசக஧ித்பின் 

கூகிப் தடி஬ங்கபிண் (Google forms) த஦ண்தொடு: இனங்றக 

ப஡ண்கி஫க்குத் தன்கறனக்க஫க஡ற்஡ ற஥஦த்தடு஡த்ி஦ 

ஓ஧ ்ஆ஦்வு. 8th International Symposium, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Paslan, H. M., Aakila, M. N. F., Zunoomy, M. S., & 
Shibly, F. H. A. (2021). சமூக ஬றன஡஡்பங்கபிண் 

தொ஬றண தன்கறனக்க஫க ஥ொ஠஬஧க்பின் 

ஏந்தடு஡த்ியுப்ப ஡ொக்கங்கப்: பகொவிட ் 19 த஧஬லிண் 

பிண்ண஧ொண தகுத்தொ஦்வு. 8th International Symposium, FIA, 
SEUSL.. 
 
Aleeshan, P. M. A., Hasana, B., & Zunoomy, M. S. (2021). 
Covid-19 கொனத்தகுதிம௃ன் ஢ிக஫்஢ிறன மூன஥ொண கந்நன் 

பச஦ந்தொடுகபிணொன் தன்கறனக்க஫க ஥ொ஠஬஧க்ப் 

எதி஧வ்஢ொக்கி஦ ச஬ொன்கப்: இஸ்னொமி஦ கந்றககப் 

஥ந்று஥் அநபு ப஥ொழித் பீட மு஡னொ஥் ஬ருட 

஥ொ஠஬஧க்றப ற஥஦த்தடு஡த்ி஦ ஆ஦்வு. 8th International 
Symposium, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Zunoomy, M. S., Munas, M. H. A., & Israth, U. (2021). 
 ‎., 8thتحديات ترجمة أدوات الربط بين اللغتين اإلنجليزية والعربية.
International Symposium, FIA, SEUSL.. 
 
Zunoomy, M. S., Ashfa, M. A. F., & Nairoos, M. H. M. 
(2021). ஢பி (ஸன்) அ஬஧க்பிண் கொன஥் மு஡ன் ஢வீண கொன஥் 

஬ற஧ இஸ்னொமி஦ சடட்க ் கறனம௃ண் ஬ப஧ச்ச்ி: ஓ஧ ்

஬஧னொந்று வ஢ொக்கு. 8th International Symposium, FIA, 
SEUSL. 
 
 
Abstracts published in Conference Proceedings 
 
Kareema, M. I. F., & Fhirthouz, Z. A. H. (2021). Writing 
difficulties: an investigation based on simple present, 
present continuous and present perfect tenses among the 
ESL undergraduates. South Eastern University Arts 
Research Session, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Shafiya, M. N., Fazeeha, M. M. F., Faasuna, M. T., & 
Rinos, M. H. M. (2021). Spatial distribution of covid-19 in 
Sri Lanka using GIS technologies. South Eastern University 
Arts Research Session, FAC, SEUSL. 
  
Kareema, M. I. F., & Zubairi, A. M. B. (2021, December). 
Validity of an Online Reading Assessment: A Survey 
Among Sri Lankan University Students. Eighth 
International Conference of Sabaragamuwa University of Sri 
Lanka (Vol. 1, p. 03). 
 
Fouzul Kareema,M.I., Zubairi Ainol Madziah.(2021). 
Content Validation using Item Objective Congruence 
Analysis for Multi-Dimensional Items for Validation of 

https://www.seu.ac.lk/sljais/paper_counter.php?pno=pv2i2n1
https://www.seu.ac.lk/sljais/paper_counter.php?pno=pv2i2n1
http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/browse?type=author&value=Afra%2C+M.+I.+F.
http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/browse?type=author&value=Fathima+Sheefa%2C+M.+I.
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Reading Test. The 7th Annual International Conference of the 
Asian Association for Language Assessment. 
 
Marzuki, M. B., Chethiyar, S. D. M., & Sameem, M.A.M. 
(2021). Malaysia‘s public opinion on death penalty. South 
Eastern University Arts Research Session, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Sameem, M.A.M. (2021). Role of blended learning in 
enhancing classroom engagement of students–An 
empirical study with special reference to Sri Lanka, South 
Eastern University Arts Research Session, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Santhirakumar, S., Narmilan, A., & Puvanitha, N. (2021). 
The economic impact of Covid-19 on the micro, small 
and medium enterprise (MSME) sector in Batticaloa 
district, Sri Lanka. Ministry of Labour. 
 
Hafsa, M.N., & Nijamir, K. (2021). Issues and challenges 
in rubber cultivation due to the impact of rainfall: A 
study based on Mawanella DS Division, South Eastern 
University Arts Research Session, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Riswan,M.(2021). Employment Opportunities for 
Sociology: Current Scenario in Sri Lanka. International 
Conference on ‘Employment Opportunities in the Field of 
Social Sciences. 
 
 
Book Chapters Published 
 
Nufile, A. A. M. (2021). An Analysis of the Trade 
Relationship of Sri Lanka with Singapore Based on Trade 
Liberalization. In Advances in Innovation, Trade and 
Business (pp. 123-131). Springer, Cham. 
 
Riswan, M. (2021). Social Psychology: An Introduction. In 
Psychology in Action. Pages (46-68), Thoothukudi: 
Annammal Publications. 
 
Riswan, M., Bushra Beegom, R.K., (2021). Gender 
Aspects on Water and Sanitation: A Conceptual Outlook. 
In Women and Girls in Difficult Situations: Towards a 
Gendered Policy, Delhi: Academic Publication. 
 
Riswan, M., Bushra Beegom, R.K., (2021). Disaster 
Induced Displacement: A Case of Ashraff Nagar, Eastern 
Sri Lanka. Forced Migrants, Refugees, Welfare Policies 
and the Sates, Pages 98-120, New Delhi: New Bharatiya Book 
Corporation. 
 
Riswan, M. (2021). Social Determinants of Health. In 
Mental Health Behaviour and Human Wellbeing, Pages 
1-15, Chennai: Forschung Publications. 
 
Riswan,M. 2021). Participatory Approach for Community 
Development: Conceptual Analysis. In Covid-19 
Pandemic And Socio Economic Issues: An Experience of 
Sri Lanka, Pages 136-146, FAC, South Eastern University of 
Sri Lanka: Department of Economics and Statistics. 
                                                                                        
Riswan,M.(2021). Possibilities of Women Empowerment 
through Sustainable Development Goal 5. In Women 
Empowerment: Issues and Perspectives, Pages 214-229, 
Bangalore: Leader Press. 
 

Riswan, M. (2021). Women Empowerment: Cause, 
Consequence and Classification. In Women 
Empowerment: Issues and Perspectives, Pages 1-14, 
Bangalore: Leader Press. 
 
Riswan, M., & Rifka Farwin, M.T., (2021). Impacts of 
Covid-19 on Elders: A Sociological Study. Pandemic - 
Coping and Resilience: Reflection of the Elderly. Pages 135-
143, Karnataka: INSC Publishing House. 
 
Nufile, A.A.M., Rinosha, K.F., Milhana, U.L., Washima, 
M.N.F., Thahara, A. F., Santhirakumar, S.,.Nishla, M & 
Rifka, M.U.F. (2021). Covid-19 pandemic and socio 
economic issues: an experience of Sri Lanka. Department 
of Economics and Statistics, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
 
Books Published  
 
Sajiharan,S.(2021). Data Base Management System and 
MySQL. ISBN 978-624-97148-3-0 1, 102. 
 
Sajiharan,S.,(2021). Number system for computer 
architecture. ISBN 978-624-97148-2-3 1, 104. 
 

 

Faculty of Management and commerce 
 
 
Publications in refereed indexed journal 
 
Rauf, A., Muhammad, J., & Bibi, Z. (2021). The Mediated 
Moderating Role of Supervisory Support in the 
relationships among Perceived Procedural Justice, Job 
Satisfaction and Job Performance on Public Sector 
Employees. KASBIT Business Journal, 14(4), 1-26. 
 
Farwis, M., Siyam, M. M., Nazar, M. C. A., & Aroosiya, 
M. A. C. F. (2021). The Nexus Between Corporate 
Governance and Firm Performance During COVID-19 
Pandemic in Sri Lanka. Journal of Economics, Finance and 
Accounting Studies, 3(1), 81-88. 
 
Nazar, M. C. A. (2021). Does Financing Decisions 
Influence Investment Decisions? Empirical Evidence 
from Sri Lanka. Journal of Economics, Finance and 
Accounting Studies, 3(1), 33-38. 
 
Rauf, A., & Khan, G. Y. (2021). Human Capital-Growth 
Nexus: The Role of Skill Mismatch. Intellectual 
Economics, 15(2021). 
 
Hasan, S., & Rauf, A. (2021). The development of a 
multifunctional 9, 10-dibromooctadecanoic acid-
encapsulated heterostructure (Ag@ Ag 2 O) as a 
nanocatalyst against water toxicity. New Journal of 
Chemistry, 45(17), 7867-7877. 
 
Hasan, S., & Rauf, A. (2021). A comparative analysis of 
photocatalytic activity against methyl orange with C18 
derivatives of fatty acid coated Ag/Ag-Ag2O 
nanoparticles. Materials Today: Proceedings, 46, 2975-2981. 
 
Fathima Rinosha, K., & Mohamed Mustafa, A. M. (2021). 
Nexus between financial development and economic 
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growth: Evidence from Sri Lanka. The Journal of Asian 
Finance, Economics and Business, 8(3), 165-170. 
 
Siraji, M. (2021). How do Family and Managerial 
Ownership Structure Effect Real Earnings 
Management?. Asian Journal of Economics, Business and 
Accounting. 
 
Samsudeen, S. N., Thelijjagoda, S., & Sanjeetha, M. B. F. 
(2021). Social media adoption: Small and medium-sized 
enterprises' perspective in Sri Lanka. The Journal of Asian 
Finance, Economics, and Business, 8(1), 759-766. 
 
Abdul-Rahim, R., Nazar, M. C. A., & Yaacob, M. H. 
(2021). Dynamic Effect of Corporate Governance on 
Financing Decisions: Evidence From Sri Lanka. Asian 
Academy of Management Journal of Accounting & 
Finance, 17(2). 
 
Nazar, M. C. A. (2021). The influence of corporate 
governance on dividend decisions of listed firms: 
Evidence from Sri Lanka. The Journal of Asian Finance, 
Economics, and Business, 8(2), 289-295. 
 
Salfiya Ummah, M. A. C., & Haleem, A. (2021). 
Accessibility to Industrial Factors and Business 
Performance: A Case Study of Female Entrepreneurs in 
Sri Lanka. The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and 
Business, 8(8), 127-135. 
 
Kaldeen, M., Thelijjagoda, S., & Samsudeen, S. N. (2021). 
The role of employee engagement on knowledge 
management and worker productivity: a case study in Sri 
Lanka, Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business 8 
(04), 507 – 515. 
 
Tarofder, A. K., Sultana, U. S., Ismail, R., Salem, S. F., & 
Musah, A. A. (2021). The anatomy of non-Muslim 
consumers‘ halal fashion buying behaviour: a 
quantitative approach. Journal of Islamic Marketing. 
 
Haleem, A., Abdul Nazar, M. C., & Mujahid Hilal, M. I. 
(2021). A systematic review on environmental 
accounting. Academy of Entrepreneurship Journal 27 (4), 1-
13. 
 
Jariya, A. M. I., & Haleem, A. (2021). Management 
Accounting Practices'adoption Among Listed 
Manufacturing Companies In Sri Lanka. Academy of 
Entrepreneurship Journal, 27(6), 1-15. 
 
Bandara, H. M. K. S., Jameel, A. L. M., & Athambawa, H. 
(2021). Credit Risk and Profitability of Banking Sector in 
Sri Lanka. Journal of Economics, Finance and Accounting 
Studies, 3(1), 65-71. 
 
Siraj, M., Nazar, M. C., & Ali, I. (2021). Irrational 
Behaviour and Stock Investment Decision. Does Gender 
Matter? Evidence from Sri Lanka. Revista Geintec-Gestao 
Inovacao E Technologies (Journal of Management, Innovation 
and Technologies), 11(2), 2185-2204. 
 
Raisal, I., Tarofder, A. K., & Ilmudeen, A. (2021). The 
nexus between entrepreneurial orientation and 
performance: enabling roles of absorptive capacity. World 

Journal of Entrepreneurship, Management and Sustainable 
Development. 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). Big data analytics capability and 
organizational performance measures: The mediating 
role of business intelligence infrastructure. Business 
Information Review, 38(4), 183-192. 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). Leveraging IT-enabled dynamic 
capabilities to shape business process agility and firm 
innovative capability: moderating role of turbulent 
environment. Review of Managerial Science, 1-39. 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). Moderating role of turbulent 
environment between IT dynamic capabilities, business 
agility, and innovative capabilities: Empirical evidence 
from Sri Lanka. Journal of Management Matters, 8(2). 
 
Raisal, I., Nawaz, N., Appasamy, K., & Gajenderan, V. 
(2021). Effect of Work Motivation on Employee Job 
Satisfaction in the Context of Public Sector 
Organization. Journal of Hunan University Natural 
Sciences, 48(11). 
 
Ali, I., Ali, M., Shareef, H., Naeem, S., Khadim, A., Ali, 
M., ... & Wang, D. (2021). Phytochemical analysis and 
biological activities of ―Cherchoomoro‖(Nepeta 
adenophyta Hedge). Journal of Ethno pharmacology, 279, 
114402. 
 
Haleem, A. (2021). Mediating Effect of Accounting 
Practices between Accounting Information System in 
Enterprise Resource Planning System and Firm 
Performance. Information Technology in Industry, 9(1), 610-
628. 
 
Shameem, A., Augustine, T. D., & Shashidharan, M. 
(2021). Key Factors Influencing Logistics And Supply 
Chain Management. Nveo-Natural Volatiles & Essential 
Oils Journal| NVEO, 9418-9423. 
 
Shashidharan, M., & Shameem, A. (2021). Ethical And 
Management Perspective Of Hub And Spoke 
Distribution Model In Logistics Sector. NVEO-Natural 
Volatiles & Essential Oils Journal| NVEO, 9411-9417. 
 
Jariya, A. M. I., & Haleem, A. (2021). Management 
Accounting Practices'adoption Among Listed 
Manufacturing Companies In Sri Lanka. Academy of 
Entrepreneurship Journal, 27(6), 1-15. 
 
Inun Jariya, A. M., & Velnampy, T. (2021). The effect of 
management accounting practices on organizational 
performance of listed manufacturing sectors in Sri Lanka, 
with the moderating effect of complexity of production 
process, SMART Journal of Business Management Studies 18 
(1) 
 
Shameem, A. L. M. A., & Hilal, M. I. M. (2021). Exploring 
the nexus of entrepreneurial orientation and market 
orientation on business performance and the role of 
innovation among the MSMEs in Sri Lanka. Academy of 
Entrepreneurship Journal, 27, 1-16. 
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Shameem, A. L. M. A., & Hilal, M. I. M. (2021). Exploring 
the nexus of entrepreneurial orientation and market 
orientation on business performance and the role of 
innovation among the MSMEs in Sri Lanka. Academy of 
Entrepreneurship Journal, 27, 1-16. 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). Information technology (IT) 
governance and IT capability to realize firm performance: 
enabling role of agility and innovative 
capability. Benchmarking: An International Journal. 
 
Almazmomi, N., Ilmudeen, A., & Qaffas, A. A. (2021). 
The impact of business analytics capability on data-
driven culture and exploration: achieving a competitive 
advantage. Benchmarking: An International Journal. 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). Big Data, Artificial Intelligence, and 
the Internet of Things in Cross-Border E-
Commerce. Cross-Border E-Commerce Marketing and 
Management, 257-272. 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). The impact of managing IT on 
business-IT alignment and firm performance: an 
empirical study. foresight. 
 
Mohamed Mustafa, A. M. (2021). Impact of seasonal 
variation on travel and tourism sector: A study of the 
post-civil unrest in Arugam Bay in Sri Lanka., Journal of 
Asian Finance, Economics and Business Vol 8 No 1 (2021) 
431–442  
 
Ayoobkhan, A. L. M., & Musthalie, M. S. M. (2021). 
Intelligent Genetic Test Suite Selection for E-Commerce 
Social Media Applications Using Diversity 
Outcomes. Design Engineering (Toronto) 2021 (6), 2300-
2309. 
 
Ayoobkhan, A.L.M., Hybrid Multi Agent System for 
Evaluating Quality of Service in Online Shopping 
Applications, Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry 
(TOJQI) 12 (3), 2347-2355. 
 
Siraj, M. I., Salfiya Ummah, M. A. C., & Sithy Safeena, M. 
G. H. (2021). Occupational stress and nursing officer‘s job 
performance: an empirical study at base hospitals in 
Kalmunai regional director of health services region, 
International Journal of Contemporary Architecture 
"The New ARCH" Vol. 8, No. 2. 
 
Samsudeen, T. A., Sithy Safeena, M. G., & Sareena 
Ummah, M. A. G. (2021). Entrepreneurial characteristics 
and small & medium enterprises‘(SMEs) success in Sri 
Lanka: special reference to eastern province, New arch-
international journal of contemporary architecture;8(2). 
 
Shameem, A. L. M. A., & Sanjeetha, M. B. F. (2021). M-
Learning Systems Usage: A Perspective from Students of 
Higher Educational Institutions In Sri Lanka. The Journal 
of Asian Finance, Economics and Business, 8(8), 637-645. 
(FMC) 
 
 
Non indexed Journals 
 
Akram, R., Yaseen, M., Farooq, Z., Rauf, A., 
Almohaimeed, Z. M., Ikram, M., & Zafar, Q. (2021). 

Capacitive and Conductometric type Dual-Mode Relative 
Humidity Sensor based on 5, 10, 15, 20-tetra phenyl 
porphyrinato nickel (II)(TPPNi). Polymers, 13(19), 3336. 
 
Nizzad, A. R. M., & Irshad, M. B. M. (2021). Data 
Warehouse Implementation: Cost Effective Approach for 
Small Businesses. Journal of Information Systems & 
Information Technology (JISIT), Vol. 6 No.2, 2021; [Pages 62- 
71]. 
 
Rukshana, S. R., & Irshad, M. B. M. (2021). The Use of 
ICT and Academic Performance among Undergraduates 
of the Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language at 
South Eastern University of Sri Lanka: A Gender-Based 
View, Vol. 6 No.2, 2021; [Pages 58- 64]. 
 
Irshad, M. B. M. (2021). An Analysis on the Adoption of 
Software as a Service (SaaS) by the students of the State 
Universities in the North and Eastern Part of Sri Lanka. 
Vol. 6 No.2, 2021; [Pages 77- 92]. 
 
Fernando, W. N. I., & Mubarak, K. M. (2015). Impact of 
Marketing Communication on Uae Tourist‘s Propensity 
to Visit Sri Lanka. Middle East, 2016(2017), 2018, SEUSL 
Journal of Marketing 6 (1), 25-37. 
 
Mubarak, K. M., & Ali, M. I. Impact of 5cs of Relationship 
Marketing On Customer Satisfaction: Evidence From 
Financial Services Sector In Sri Lanka, SEUSL Journal of 
Marketing 6 (1), 1-12. 
 
Kumarasinghe, S. L., & Jahfer, A. (2021). An Investigation 
on Financial Performance of Commercial Banks in Sri 
Lanka: Applicability of the CAMEL Model. Sri Lanka 
Journal of Marketing, 7(3). 
 
Mufassara, M. W., Umma, S., & Sithy Safeena, M. G. H. 
(2021). Flexible working time and work life balance of 
nursing officers in Ampara district, Sri Lanka, Journal of 
Contemporary Issues in Business and Government, 27 (3), 
1297-1310. 
 
Liyanage, M. L. A. N., Kaldeen, M., & Ali, I. (2021). 
Environmental management and operational cost: the 
case of hotel sector in Sri Lanka, Journal of Tourism 
Economics and Applied Research, Faculty of Arts, 
University of Colombo, 5 (1), 44-58. 
 
Mufeet, M., Mubarak, K., & Nusrathali, N. (2021). 
Measuring the efficiency of tourism sector in Sri Lanka: 
An extension of the method to stochastic frontier 
analysis, Journal of Contemporary Issues in Business and 
Government 27 (1), 3121-3131 
 
Haleem, A. (2021). Big Data Usage Intention using Toe 
Framework: Sri Lankan Context. Journal of Contemporary 
Issues in Business & Government, 27(1). 
 
Mohamed Abdul Shameem, A. L., & Haleem, A. (2021). 
A Study On Green Banking Practices In Banking 
Industry: Sri Lankan Context. Journal of Contemporary 
Issues in Business & Government, 27(1). 
 
Nazar, M. C. A. (2021). The Dynamic Impact of 
Corporate Governance on Investment Decisions of Non-

https://scholar.google.com/citations?view_op=view_citation&hl=en&user=iRctt8UAAAAJ&sortby=pubdate&citation_for_view=iRctt8UAAAAJ:WF5omc3nYNoC
https://scholar.google.com/citations?view_op=view_citation&hl=en&user=iRctt8UAAAAJ&sortby=pubdate&citation_for_view=iRctt8UAAAAJ:WF5omc3nYNoC
https://scholar.google.com/citations?view_op=view_citation&hl=en&user=iRctt8UAAAAJ&sortby=pubdate&citation_for_view=iRctt8UAAAAJ:WF5omc3nYNoC
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Financial Companies in Sri Lanka. Journal of Contemporary 
Issues in Business and Government Vol, 27(1). 
 
Aboobucker, I. (2020). What Motivates the Adoption 
Intention of e-banking Services: The Moderating Role of 
Age and Gender. Asian Journal of Management Studies, 
Sabaragamuwa University of Sri Lanka, 1(2). 
 
Sithy Safeena, M. G. H., & Fathima Rajee, R. (2021). 
Employee engagement and job performance of 
development officers in divisional secretariat Nintavur., 
Journal of KALAM, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Haleem, A., (2021), Relationship between the 
Determinants of Capital Structure and Debt Ratio: 
Evidence from Listed Manufacturing Companies In Sri 
Lanka, Journal of Management, FMC, SEUSL. 
 
Ilmudeen, A., Impact of Information Technology (It) 
Governance on Firm Business Value: The Role of 
Business-It Alignment and It Investment Performance, 
Journal of Management, FMC, SEUSL. 
 
Sareena Umma M. A. G and Fathima Zahana M. M. 
(2021), Factors Affecting The Work Life Balance: Study 
Among The Teachers Of A Government School In Sri 
Lanka, Journal of Management, FMC, SEUSL. 
 
Apsara, M.A.A., and Sulaiha Beevi, M.A.C., (2021), The 
Impact of Work Life Balance of Female Employees on Job 
Satisfaction: Special Reference to Leasing Sector in 
Colombo District, Journal of Management, FMC, SEUSL. 
 
Sulaiha Beevi Athambawa, and M.A.C., (2021), 
Organizational Transformation through Management 
Participation: Perspective of Small and Medium Firms in 
Ampara District, Journal of Management, FMC, SEUSL. 
 
Salfiya Ummah, M.A.C., Sulaiha Beevi Athambawa, 
M.A.C., (2021), Factors Influencing on Work 
Performance: Special Reference to Divisional Secretariats 
in Ampara District, Journal of Management, FMC, SEUSL. 
 
Salfiya Ummah, M.A.C., (2021), Factors influencing on 
Entrepreneurial Intention among Undergraduates: 
Special Reference with Arts Stream Undergraduate, 
Journal of Kalam, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Rijah, U. L. M., Riyath, M. I. M., & Jiffriya, M. A. C. 
(2021). A Review of IoT Architecture, Applications, 
Security Requirements and Mechanisms. Journal of 
Information Systems & Information Technology (JISIT), FMC, 
SEUSL. 
 
Nisfa, S., & Nazar, M. C. A. (2021). Impact of capital 
structure on working capital management: evidence from 
capital goods sector in Colombo stock exchange. Journal 
of Kalam, FAC, SEUSL. 

 
 
Full Papers published in Conference Proceedings 
 
Ali, N., Ilyas, M., Muhammad, S., Khesro, A., Karim, M., 
& Rauf, A. (2021, January). The use of copper zinc tin 
sulfide compound thin film as an absorber layer in solar 

cell. International Bhurban Conference on Applied Sciences 
and Technologies (IBCAST) (pp. 83-86). IEEE. 
Razeeth, M. S., Kariapper, R., & Nawaz, S. S. (2021, July). 
Accident Mitigation System with Drowsiness Detection: 
A Machine Learning and Iot with Hybrid Approach.  
International Conference on Information Technology 
(ICIT) (pp. 462-465). IEEE. 
 
 
Abstract Published 
 
Sharmila, A. M. M., & Mustafa, A. M. M. (2021). 
Analyzing the impact between macroeconomic variables 
on economic growth in Sri Lanka.9th South Eastern 
University International Arts Research Symposium -2020, 
FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Perera, J. A. K. S., & Mustafa, A. M. M. (2021). A study of 
the impact of rewards management on operational level 
employees‘ performance in hospitality industry in Sri 
Lanka: with special reference to three, four, and five star 
hotels in Central province, 9th South Eastern University 
International Arts Research Symposium -2020, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Jariya, A. M. I., & Velnampy, T. (2021). Management 
Accounting Practices Adoption and Determinants: A 
Review of Worldwide Empirical Evidences, University of 
Jaffna. 
 
Maury, R., & Gunapalan, S. (2021). Emerging role conflict 
among women-headed households in Ampara district, 
University of Jaffna. 
 
 
Book Chapters Published 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). IT Governance and Business-IT 
Alignment Frameworks, Models, and the Best Practices. 
In Corporate Governance and Its Implications on Accounting 
and Finance (pp. 85-103). IGI Global. 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). The Role of It Governance and 
Managing It Investment on Firm Performance. 
In Corporate Governance and its Implications on Accounting 
and Finance (pp. 104-120). IGI Global. 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). Big data-based frameworks for 
healthcare systems. In Demystifying Big Data, Machine 
Learning, and Deep Learning for Healthcare Analytics (pp. 
33-56). Academic Press. 
 
Silva, D. A. C., Kaldeen, M., & Duminduhewa, C. (2021). 
Impact of Tourism Accommodation Sector Awareness on 
Responsible Tourism in Destination Development: A 
Case Study of Hambantota District. In Over tourism, 
Technology Solutions and Decimated Destinations (pp. 243-
257). Springer, Singapore. 
 
Ilmudeen, A. (2021). Big Data, Artificial Intelligence and 
IoT Enabled Smart Cities: Applications and Challenges. 
In Handbook of Green Engineering Technologies for 
Sustainable Smart Cities (pp. 219-238). CRC Press. 
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Faculty of Applied Sciences 
 
Papers published in indexed Journals 
 
Komathiraj, K., & Sharma, R. (2021). Generating new 
class of exact solutions to the Einstein–Maxwell 
system. The European Physical Journal Plus, 136(4), 1-18.  
 
Komathiraj, K. (2021). Anisotropic charged stellar 
models. International Journal of Mathematical Modeling & 
Computations. 
 
Razmy, A. M., & Junaideen, S. M. (2021). Issues of 
random sampling with rapid antigen tests for COVID-19 
diagnosis: a special reference to Kalmunai RDHS 
Division. Medrxiv. 
 
Dissanayake, M. A. K. L., Jaseetharan, T., Senadeera, G. 
K. R., Mellander, B. E., Albinsson, I., Furlani, M., & 
Kumari, J. M. K. W. (2021). Solid-state solar cells co-
sensitized with pbs/cds quantum dots and N719 dye and 
based on solid polymer electrolyte with binary cations 
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of Islamic studies of the south eastern university of Sri 
Lanka. Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, SEUSL.  
                                                       
Abdullah, M. M. A., Farhan, M. Y. M., & Mazahir, S. M. 
M. (2021). Undergraduates‘ Reading Habit: A Study 
Based on South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. Sri 
Lankan Journal of Arabic and Islamic Studies, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Abdullah, M. M., & Mazahir, S. M. (2021). 
ஆந்றுத்தடு஡஡்லின் தப்பி஬ொசன் இ஥ொ஥்கபிண் 

஬கிதொக஥். Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, 
SEUSL.               
                                          
Rifas, A. H., Nafees, S. M. M., & Jahan Nadhira, S. (2021). 
Paddy farmers‘ intention to participate in agriculture 
Takaful: an application of the theory of planned behavior 
in Sri Lanka. Kalam International Research Journal. FAC, 
SEUSL.                                                        
 
Razick, A. S., Saujan, I., & Hakeema Beevi, S. M. (2021). 
Buddhist and Muslim Interaction in the Post-War of Sri 
Lanka. International Journal of Islamic Thought. 
 
Abdullah, M.M.A., Mazahir, S. M.M. (2021). The Legal 
Maxims of Islamic Jurisprudence in the Stage of 
Consolidation and Coordination: A Study on the Mecelle. 
Sri Lankan Journal of Arabic and Islamic Studies, FIA, 
SEUSL. 
 
Abdullah, M. M. A., Sharmina, A. M. F., Fazlan, M. A. C. 
A., & Nasrin, M. N. F. (2021). ACS Hameed's Educational 
Services: An Evaluative Study. Maayan International 
Journal for Tamil Research. 
 
Abdullah, M. M. A., & Mazahir, M. (2021). வ஢஧ 

முகொற஥஡த்ு஬஥்: ஓ஧ ்இஸ்னொமி஦க் க஠்வ஠ொடட்஥் Time 
Management: An Islamic Perspective. Journal of Tamil 
Peraivu (஡மி஫்த் வத஧ொ஦்வு ஆ஦்வி஡஫்), 10(2), 61-76. 
 
Abdullah, M. M. A., & Habeebullah, M. T. (2021). Imam 
al-ghazali's efforts in the development of psychology: a 
study based on iḤyā′'ulūm al-dīn (the chapter of ritual 
acts and customs as model). Sri Lankan Journal of Arabic 
and Islamic Studies, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Abdullah, M. M. A., & Mazahir, S. M. M. (2021). The 
Islamic Guidance in Counselling: An Overview. Jamal 
Academic Research Journal: An Interdisciplinary, 2(1), 1-18. 
 
Abdullah, M. M. A., & Mazahir, S. M. M. (2021). The 
Islamic Guidance in Counselling: An Overview. Jamal 
Academic Research Journal: An Interdisciplinary, 2(1), 1-18. 
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Rooly, M. R. (2021). Impact of Board Diversity on Agency 
Costs in the Context of Agency Theory Approach: 
Evidence from Listed Companies in Sri Lanka. Indian 
Journal of Corporate Governance, 14(2), 133-153. 
 
Minaz, M. N. M., Imna, M. I. F., Ahamed, M. A. B., & 
Sarjoon, A. (2021). ශ්රී ලංකා මුස්ලිම් විවාහ සහ දික්කසාද 

ඳනකේ සදු විය යුතු සංක ෝධනය පිළිබ඲ අධ්යයනය: විශ්ව 

විද්යාල සසුන්කග් ඉදිරිදැක්ම ඇසුරින්. Sri Lankan Journal of 
Arabic and Islamic Studies, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Ahamed, M. A. B., Minaz, M. N. M., Afra, M. M. F., 
Ruzmila, M. K. F., & Nathira Jahan, S. (2021). The 
perception about Islamic banking and finance system 
among Non-Muslim undergraduates in South Eastern 
University of Sri Lanka. . Sri Lankan Journal of Arabic and 
Islamic Studies, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Sainulabdeen, Z. M., & Shathifa, M. C. S. (2021). Nizhâm 
al-Jumal Baina al-Lugatain al-Arabiyyah wa al-
Tâmiliyyah: Dirâsah Taqâbuliyyah (Sentence Pattern 
between Arabic and Tamil Languages: A Contrastive 
Study). Loghat Arabi: Jurnal Bahasa Arab dan Pendidikan 
Bahasa Arab, 2(2), 105-126. 
 
Ali, A. (2015). Four waves of Muslim-phobia in Sri 
Lanka: c. 1880–2009. Journal of Muslim Minority 
Affairs, 35(4), 486-502. KALAM – International Journal, 
FAC, SEUSL.  
 
Saujan,I & Munas, M.H.A., Mohammed Rizvi, 
N.(2021)Difficulties in Translating Conjunctions in 
Arabic and English Languages: Study Based on 
Translation Students of South Eastern University of Sri 
Lanka, Indonesian Journal of Arabic Studies, 10.24235/ijas. 
v3i2.8926 
 
Ibrahim, N.M., Saujan, I., & Mazahir, S.M., (2022). 
Involvement of Undergraduate Students with the Holy 
Qur‘an: A Study based on State Universities in Sri 
Lanka. European Journal of Humanities and Social 
Sciences, 2(2), 48-57. 
 
Saujan, I., & Mazahir, S. M. M. (2021). Waqf governance 
in Sri Lanka: legal framework, issues, challenges, way 
forward. Sri Lankan Journal of Arabic and Islamic Studies, 
FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Hakeema Beevi, S. M., & Saujan, I. (2021). A comparative 
study of theologies between Hinduism, Christianity, and 
Islam. Sri Lankan Journal of Arabic and Islamic Studies, FIA, 
SEUSL. 
 
Saujan, I., & Razick, A. S. (2021). Reading habit among 
the students of higher education: an evaluative study 
based on south eastern university of Sri Lanka.  Kalam 
International Research Journal. FAC. SEUSL.    
                                                    
Hazib, A. M. M., Saujan, I., Nawas, A. N. M., & Safna, M. 
J. F. (2021). Online teaching during the period of 
restrictions due to Covid-19 pandemic: a study based on 
the teachers of selected schools in Sammanthrai. Kalam 
International Research Journal, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Rizvi, N.M., Munas, M.H.A., & saujan, I. (2021). The 
comparative study of conjunctions between english and 

arabic languages: study based on translation students of 
south eastern university of sri lanka. SriLankan Journal of 
Arabic and Islamic Studies, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Mohamed Nafrees, A. C., & Rahfath Aara, M. R. (2021). 
E-Learning among the undergraduates in Malaysia 
during COVID-19. Kalam International Research Journal, 
FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Nafrees, A. C. M., Majeed, U. A., Kariapper, R., Razith, S., 
& Pirapuraj, P. (2021). Internet of Things (IoT) enabled 
Food Technologies: A systematic review approach. Sri 
Lankan Journal of Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Nafrees, A. C. M., & Rizan, M. Z. M. (2021). Influences of 
information and communication technologies in 
administrative functions in the higher educational 
institutes. Kalam International Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Shibly, F. H. A., Sharma, U., & Naleer, H. M. M. (2021). 
Detection of online hate speech in Sinhala text using 
machine and deep learning algorithms: A comparative 
study. Journal of Science-FAS-SEUSL 
 
Rishadha, F., Razick, A. S., & Saujan, I. (2021). 
வ஥ந்க஡த்ி஦ கனொசொ஧஥் முஸ்லி஥் பத஠்கபிண் 

஢ட஡ற்஡ற஦ எ஬்஬ொறு தொதிக்கிநது: இனங்றக, க஠்டி 

஥ொ஬டட்஡த்ிண் கன்ஹிண்றணத் பி஧வ஡ச஡ற்஡ 

ற஥஦த்தடு஡த்ி஦ ஒரு சமூக ஆ஦்வு, Kalam International 
Journal, FAC, SEUSL. 
 

Full Papers published in Conference Proceeding 
 
Shibly, F. H. A., Shathifa, M., Suheera, M., & Zunoomy, 
M. (2021, December). Impact of Digital Learning on 
Student‘s Stress in South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 
In 2021 5th International Conference on Electrical, 
Electronics, Communication, Computer Technologies and 
Optimization Techniques (ICEECCOT) (pp. 536-543). IEEE. 
 
Nafrees, A. C. M., Raseez, S. M. S., Ubeshanan, C. G., 
Achutharaj, K., & Hanees, A. L. (2021, December). 
Intelligent Transportation System using Smartphone. 
In 2021 5th International Conference on Electrical, 
Electronics, Communication, Computer Technologies and 
Optimization Techniques (ICEECCOT) (pp. 229-234). IEEE. 
 
Nizzad, A. R. M., Sameer, U. M., Suhath, S. M., Nafrees, 
A. C. M., Rankothge, W. H., Kehelella, P. H., & Mansoor, 
C. M. M. (2021, December). Internet of things based 
automatic system for the traffic violation. In 2021 5th 
International Conference on Electrical, Electronics, 
Communication, Computer Technologies and Optimization 
Techniques (ICEECCOT) (pp. 371-376). IEEE. 
 
Nafrees, A. C. M., Sujah, A. M. A., & Mansoor, C. (2021, 
December). Smart Cities: Emerging technologies and 
Potential solutions to the Cyber security threads. In 2021 
5th International Conference on Electrical, Electronics, 
Communication, Computer Technologies and Optimization 
Techniques (ICEECCOT) (pp. 220-228). IEEE. 
 
Mohamed Nafrees, A. C. (2021). Students' engagement in 
YouTube for e-learning during covid-19: a study based 
on Islamic and Arabic students of south eastern 



Annual Report and Accounts 2021 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka         

 

 

57 

university of Sri Lanka. 8th International Symposium2021, 
FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Thaila, T. F. F., Rumana, M. N. P., Suhaila, K., & 
Mohamed Nafrees, A. C. (2021). Effectiveness of Moodle 
for E-Learning to the undergraduates during the COVID-
19: special reference to South Eastern University of Sri 
Lanka. 8th International Symposium2021, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Shibly, F. H. A., Shathifa, M., Suheera, M., & Zunoomy, 
M. (2021, December). Impact of Digital Learning on 
Student‘s Stress in South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 
In 2021 5th International Conference on Electrical, 
Electronics, Communication, Computer Technologies and 
Optimization Techniques (ICEECCOT) (pp. 536-543). IEEE. 
 
Nafrees, A. C. M., Raseez, S. M. S., Ubeshanan, C. G., 
Achutharaj, K., & Hanees, A. L. (2021, December). 
Intelligent Transportation System using Smartphone. 
In 2021 5th International Conference on Electrical, 
Electronics, Communication, Computer Technologies and 
Optimization Techniques (ICEECCOT) (pp. 229-234). IEEE. 
 
Shibly, F. H. A., Sharma, U., & Naleer, H. M. M. (2021). 
Classifying and measuring hate speech in Twitter using 
topic classifier of sentiment analysis. International 
Conference on Innovative Computing and Communications.  
 
Nafrees, A. C. M., & Shibly, F. H. A. (2021, September). 
Smart technologies in tourism: a study using systematic 
review and grounded theory. International Research 
Conference on Smart Computing and Systems Engineering 
(SCSE) (Vol. 4, pp. 8-13). IEEE. 
 
Nafrees, A. C. M., & Shibly, F. H. A. (2021, September). 
Smart technologies in tourism: a study using systematic 
review and grounded theory. International Research 
Conference on Smart Computing and Systems Engineering 
(SCSE) (Vol. 4, pp. 8-13). IEEE. 
 
Abdullah, M. M. A., & Mazahir, S. M. M. (2021). القىاعد 
 8th .العدلية األحكام جملة على دراسة :والتنسيق الرسىخ مرحلة يف الفقهية
International Symposium2021, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Rumana, M. N. P., Suhaila, K., Thaila, T. F. F., & Mazahir, 

S. M. M. (2021). සංහල බාසාකවන් ඉස්ලාම් විසය 

භදෑරීකම දී සසුන් මුහුණ කදන අභිකයොග බණ්ඩාෙකවල 

ප්ෙෙකද් ය ඳදනම කෙගේ අද්යායනයක්. 8th 
International Symposium2021, FIA, SEUSL. 
 
Razick,A.S., Saujan, I.,(2021). Awareness of 
Environmental Protection amongst Muslims in Ampara 
District. In CIMS2021, Conference on International union for 
Muslim scholars. University Kebangsaan Malaysia. 
 
 
Abstracts published in Conference Proceedings 
 
Nathira Jahan, S., Risama, K. F., & Rifas, A. H. (2021). The 
challenges faced by non mowlavies through their studies: 
based on Arabic department of the south eastern 
university, South Eastern University Arts Research Session, 
FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Saujan, I., & Razick, A. S. (2021). Reading habit among 
the students of higher education: an evaluative study 

based on south eastern university of Sri Lanka, South 
Eastern University Arts Research Session, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
 
 
 
Book Chapters Published 
 
Rupani, A., Jilani, S. A., Shibly, F. H. A., & Choudhury, T. 
(2021). FPGA Implementation of Image Processing Filters 
using IoT. In Innovations in Cyber Physical Systems (pp. 
401-413). Springer, Singapore. 
 
Rupani, A., Jilani, S. A., Shibly, F. H. A., & Choudhury, T. 
(2021). FPGA Implementation of Image Processing Filters 
using IoT. In Innovations in Cyber Physical Systems (pp. 
401-413). Springer, Singapore.  
 
Irfan, M.I.M., Roshan, A.M.F., Nafrees, A.C.M., Shibly, 
F.H.A., Nimsith, S.I. (2021). Role of Interdisciplinary 
Courses in the Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 
Graduates for Employability. Arabic and Islamic Studies in 
Sri Lankan Higher Education. 
 
Mazahir, S.M.M., Aroos, A.R, Abdullah, M.M.A. (2021). 
Dr. M.A.M. Shukri‘s Contributions for Arabic and 
Islamic Studies in Higher Education in Sri Lanka: An 
Evaluative Study. Arabic and Islamic Studies in Sri Lankan 
Higher Education. 
 
 

FACULTY OF ENGINEERING 
 
Papers published in indexed Journals 
 
Rehana Munas, F., Appuhamy, J. A. D. A. S., & 
Muzathik, A. M. (2021). Design and fabrication of a 
domestic biogas unit for cooking applications. Journal of 
Advanced Research in Fluid Mechanics and Thermal Sciences. 
 
Kumara, P. D. C., Viraj, M. P. S., Suraweera, S. K. K., 
Jayaweera, H. H. E., Muzathik, A. M., & Ariyaratne, T. R. 
(2021). Performance analysis of two condenser models 
used for solar energy-assisted water distillation. Modeling 
Earth Systems and Environment, 1-12. 
 
Selvaranjan, K., Navaratnam, S., Gamage, J. C. P. H., 
Thamboo, J., Siddique, R., Zhang, J., & Zhang, G. (2021). 
Thermal and environmental impact analysis of rice husk 
ash-based mortar as insulating wall plaster. Construction 
and Building Materials, 283, 122744. 
 
Zahra, T., Thamboo, J., & Asad, M. (2021). Compressive 
strength and deformation characteristics of concrete 
block masonry made with different mortars, blocks and 
mortar beddings types. Journal of Building Engineering, 38, 
102213. 
 
Gatheeshgar, P., Poologanathan, K., Thamboo, J., Roy, K., 
Rossi, B., Molkens, T., Dhilini, P. & Navaratnam, S. (2021, 
April). On the fire behaviour of modular floors designed 
with optimized cold-formed steel joists. 
In Structures (Vol. 30, pp. 1071-1085). Elsevier. 
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Sathurshan, M., Yapa, I., Thamboo, J., Jeyakaran, T., 
Navaratnam, S., Siddique, R., & Zhang, J. (2021). 
Untreated rice husk ash incorporated high strength self-
compacting concrete: Properties and environmental 
impact assessments. Environmental Challenges, 2, 
100015.Elsevier. 
 
Zahra, T., Thamboo, J., Asad, M., & Song, M. (2021). 
Experimental investigation on the effectiveness of lateral 
restrainers to the vertical steel in reinforced masonry 
walls under axial compression. Construction and Building 
Materials, 297, 123790. 
 
Navaratnam, S., Small, D. W., Gatheeshgar, P., 
Poologanathan, K., Thamboo, J., Higgins, C., & Mendis, 
P. (2021, August). Development of cross laminated 
timber-cold-formed steel composite beam for floor 
system to sustainable modular building construction. 
Structures (Vol. 32, pp. 681-690). Elsevier. 
 
Navaratnam, S., Thamboo, J., Poologanathan, K., Roy, K., 
& Gatheeshgar, P. (2021, April). Finite element modelling 
of timber infilled steel tubular short columns under axial 
compression. Structures (Vol. 30, pp. 910-924). Elsevier. 
 
Navaratnam, S., Herath, N., Lokuge, W., Thamboo, J., & 
Poologanathan, K. (2021, February). Performance of 
timber girders with end-notch: Experimental and 
numerical investigation. Structures (Vol. 29, pp. 730-740). 
Elsevier. 
 
Thamboo, J., Navaratnam, S., Poologanathan, K., & 
Corradi, M. (2021). Characteristics of CFRP strengthened 
masonry wallettes under concentric and eccentric 
compression. Case Studies in Construction Materials, 14, 
e00472. 
 
Thamboo, J. (2021). Performance of masonry columns 
confined with composites under axial compression: A 
state-of-the-art review. Construction and Building 
Materials, 274, 121791. 
 
Zahra, T., Asad, M., & Thamboo, J. (2021, August). Effect 
of geometry on the compression characteristics of 
bonded brickwork. Structures (Vol. 32, pp. 1408-1419). 
Elsevier. 
 
Thamboo, J., Zahra, T., & Asad, M. (2021). Monotonic 
and cyclic compression characteristics of CFRP confined 
masonry columns. Composite Structures, 272, 114257. 
 
Thamboo, J., Zahra, T., Navaratnam, S., Asad, M., & 
Poologanathan, K. (2021). Prospects of Developing 
Prefabricated Masonry Walling Systems in 
Australia. Buildings, 11(7), 294. 
 
Zahra, T., Thamboo, J., Asad, M., & Song, M. (2021, 
December). Analytical stress–strain model of reinforced 
concrete masonry wallettes under axial compression. 
In Structures (Vol. 34, pp. 2922-2935). Elsevier. 
 
Thamboo, J., Zahra, T., Asad, M., & Song, M. (2021). 
Improved design provisions for reinforced concrete block 
masonry walls under axial compression. Construction and 
Building Materials, 310, 125226 

Del Zoppo, M., Wijesundara, K., Rossetto, T., Dias, P., 
Baiguera, M., Di Ludovico, M., Thumboo. J & Prota, A. 
(2021). Influence of exterior infill walls on the 
performance of RC frames under tsunami loads: Case 
study of school buildings in Sri Lanka. Engineering 
Structures, 234, 111920. 
 
Junaideen, S. M., Tham, L. G., & Lee,C.F(2021).Instability 
of compacted residual soil. geosciences, 11(10), 403. 
 
Saja, A. A., Teo, M., Goonetilleke, A., & Ziyath, A. M. 
(2021). Assessing social resilience in disaster 
management. International Journal of Disaster Risk 
Reduction, 52, 101957. 
 
Saja, A. M., Teo, M., Goonetilleke, A., & Ziyath, A. M. 
(2021). A Critical Review of Social Resilience Properties 
and Pathways in Disaster Management. International 
Journal of Disaster Risk Science, 12(6), 790-804. 
 
Rehana Munas, F., Appuhamy, J. A. D. A. S., & 
Muzathik, A. M. (2021). Design and fabrication of a 
domestic biogas unit for cooking applications. Journal of 
Advanced Research in Fluid Mechanics and Thermal Sciences  
 
Balthazar, P., Ismail, M. A., Wahab, A. A., Mamat, H., 
Ramdan, M. I., & Yu, K. H. (2021). Experimental study of 
desorption and regeneration analysis of cylindrical 
desiccant layer arrangements. Journal of Mechanical 
Science and Technology, 35(12), 5713-5722. 
 
Saja,A.M.A, Zarafath Zimar,A.M., Junaideen, S.M.(2021). 
Municipal solid waste management practices and 
challenges in the southeastern coastal cities of Sri Lanka. 
Sustainability 2021, 13, 4556. 
 https://doi.org/10.3390/su13084556. 
 
 
Papers published in non-indexed Journals 
 
Dewmini, A.G.H.U Hirshan, R., Kumara, W.G.C.W. 
(2021) A Study of Facial Emotion Recognition Techniques 
to Examine Micro-Expressions. Sri Lankan Journal of 
technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Ahamed, F., & Srikantha, P. (2021). Finite horizon 
optimal control with voltage regulation. IEEE 
Transactions on Smart Grid. 
 
Edirisinghe, E. A. T. M., Sajith, M. M., Hirshan, R., 
Kumara, W. G. C. W., & Kishanthan, Y. (2021). 
Development of a solar powered fixed wireless network 
extender. Sri Lankan Journal of technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Fayas Ahamed Mohamed Hasan. (2021). Optimal control 
of distribution networks. york university 
Vidushraj,C.,Aashiq, M.N.M.,Kumara W.G.C.W.(2021). A 
Transfer Learning Classification Prototype Model for Sri 
Lankan Trees, Journal of Information Systems & Information 
Technology (JISIT). 84-95. 
 
Dewmini, A.G.H.U.,Hirshan, R., Kumara W.G.C.W. 
(2021). A Study of Facial Emotion Recognition 
Techniques to Examine Micro-Expressions. Sri Lankan 
Journal of Technology (SLJoT). (pp. 1-10). 
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Dissanayake, D. M. C., & Kumara, W. G. C. W. (2021). 
Plant Leaf Identification based on Machine Learning 
Algorithms. Sri Lankan Journal of technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Edirisinghe, E. A. T. M., Sajith, M. M., Hirshan, R., 
Kumara, W. G. C. W., & Kishanthan, Y. (2021). 
Development of a solar powered fixed wireless network 
extender. Sri Lankan Journal of technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Vidushraj,C., Aashiq, M.N.M.,Kumara W.G.C.W.(2021). 
Sri Lankan Trees Classification Using Deep Learning. 
Journal of information system& information Technology. 
 
Uthumansa, A., & Shantha, F. (2021). Simulation of 
network layer-based security attacks in a mobile ad-hoc 
network. Journal of Information Systems & Information 
Technology (JISIT). 
 
 
Full Papers published in Conference Proceeding 
 
Mahinda, M. C. P., Udhyani, H. P. A. J., Alahakoon, P. M. 
K., Kumara, W. G. C. W., Hinas, M. N. A., & Thamboo, J. 
A. (2021, September). Development of an Effective 3D 
Mapping Technique for Heritage Structures. 3rd 
International Conference on Electrical Engineering 
(eecon) (pp. 92-99). IEEE. 
 
Asad, M., Zahra, T., & Thamboo, J. (2021). Numerical 
modelling of bonded brickwork under cyclic 
compression loading. 8th International Conference on 
computational Methods in Structural Dynamics & Earthquake 
Engineering.  
 
Thamboo, J. A., Zahra, T., & Asad, M. (2021). 
Compressive behavior of bonded brickwork wallettes 
with various thicknesses: Experimental and numerical 
verification. 12th International Conference on Structural 
Analysis of Historical Constructions. 
 
Jayasena, W. S., Jayasinghe, N. D., Jayakody, S., & 
Abewardana, E. Manufactured sand blended recycled 
concrete aggregate as unbound pavement materials. 12th 
International Conference on Structural Engineering and 
Construction Management, Kandy, Sri Lanka. 
 
Senarathna, S. A. D. L. V., Piyumal, S. P. Y. A. A., 
Hirshan, R., & Kumara, W. G. C. W. (2021, November). 
Lung cancer detection and prediction of cancer stages 
using image processing. In 2021 3rd International 
Conference on Electrical, Control and Instrumentation 
Engineering (ICECIE) (pp. 1-9). IEEE. 
 
Zahra, T., Asad, M., & Thamboo, J. (2021). Compression 
behaviour of reinforced masonry walls: An investigation 
on the effects of lateral restraining methods. Canadian 
masonry symposium, Montreal, Canada. 
 
Attanayake, A.M.N.C., Hansamali, W.G.R.U., Hirshan,R.  
. Haleem, M.A.L.A., Hinas, M.N.A. (2021). Amigo (A 
Social Robot): Development of a robot hearing system. 
IET Sri Lanka Network 28th Annual Technical Conference. 
 
Jayawardena, F. L. P. M., Anupama, H. P. W., Lakmal, M. 
W. L. D., Hirshan, R., & Kumara, W. G. C. W. (2021, 
August). Development of an image processing based 

driver assistance system. 10th International Conference on 
Information and Automation for Sustainability (iciafs) (pp. 
357-362). IEEE. 
 
Rajakaruna, W.N.S.S.  Vidushraj, C. Madanayake, N.M. 
Hirshan, R Gunawickrama S.H.K.K. (2021). Lot Based 
Drip Irrigation Method for Tea Plantation, 114th Annual 
Sessions of the Institution of Engineers, Sri Lanka (IESL) 
 
Madumal, K. A., Jayaweera, J. M. T. C., Alahakoon, P. M. 
K., Kumara, W. G. C. W., & Hinas, M. N. A. (2021, 
November). Design of Voice Synchronized Robotic Lips. 
In 2021 3rd International Conference on Electrical, Control 
and Instrumentation Engineering (ICECIE) (pp. 1-5). IEEE. 
 
Senarathna, S. A. D. L. V., Piyumal, S. P. Y. A. A., 
Hirshan, R., & Kumara, W. G. C. W. (2021, November). 
Lung Cancer Detection and Prediction of Cancer Stages 
Using Image Processing. In 2021 3rd International 
Conference on Electrical, Control and Instrumentation 
Engineering (ICECIE) (pp. 1-9). IEEE. 
 
Mahinda, M. C. P., Udhyani, H. P. A. J., Alahakoon, P. M. 
K., Kumara, W. G. C. W., Hinas, M. N. A., & Thamboo, J. 
A. (2021, September). Development of an Effective 3D 
Mapping Technique for Heritage Structures. 2021 3rd 
International Conference on Electrical Engineering 
(EECon) (pp. 92-99). IEEE. 
 
Ahamed, U., & Fernando, S. (2021, February). Identifying 
the impacts of node mobility on network layer based 
active and passive attacks in mobile ad hoc networks: a 
simulation perspective. In International Conference on 
Computing Science, Communication and Security (pp. 262-
275). Springer, Cham. 
 
Gemeda, M. T., & Fante, K. A. (2020, October). Inset-feed 
rectangular microstrip patch antenna array performance 
enhancement for 5g mobile applications. In International 
Conference on Advances of Science and Technology (pp. 284-
303). Springer, Cham. 
 
 
Abstracts published in Conference Proceedings 
 
Gallage, J. C., Madushanka, K. B. U., Karunathilaka, K. 
K. T. L., Afkar, M. I., & Kumara, W. G. C. W. (2021). 
Implementation of an Android App for real-time bus 
tracking and information system. 10th Annual Science 
Research Session, FAS, SEUSL. 
 
Harshani, L. K. M. D., Weerasooriya, W. M. A. S. B., 
Herath, H. M. C. S., Alahakoon, P. M. K., Kumara, W. G. 
C. W., & Hinas, M. N. A. (2021). Development of a 
humanoid robot mouth with text-to-speech ability. 10th 
Annual Science Research Session, FAS, SEUSL. 
 
 
Book Chapters Published 
 
Saja, A. M., Sahid, S. M., & Sutharshanan, M. (2021). 
Capacity-Building Strategy for Creating Disaster-and 
Climate-Risk-Sensitive Development Plans—A Case 
Study of Multi-Stakeholder Engagement in Sri Lanka. 
In Integrated Research on Disaster Risks (pp. 231-249). 
Springer, Cham. 

http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/5855
http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/5855
http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/5855
http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/5855
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Saja, A. M., Lafir Sahid, S. M., Sutharshanan, M., & 
Suthakaran, S. (2021). Public Addressing System in 
Religious Places as Early Warning Dissemination 
Nodes—A Case Study in Sri Lanka. In Multi-Hazard Early 
Warning and Disaster Risks (pp. 751-763). Springer, Cham. 
 
Zarouk, Z., Mallawatantri, A., Saja, A. M., Attanayake, 
K., & Piyadasa, R. U. (2021). A conceptual model for 
community-driven ecosystem-based disaster risk 
reduction. In Multi-Hazard Early Warning and Disaster 
Risks (pp. 247-262). Springer, Cham. 
 
 

FACULTY OF TECHNOLOGY  
 
Papers published in indexed Journals 
 
Fiaz Bukhari, S. M., Ali, G., Abbas, S. R., Anjum, Z., 
Ahmed, N., Munir, A., ... & Musthafa, M. M. (2021). 
Ethnobotanical and Biochemical Study of Berberis lycium 
Royle Collected from Different Areas of Azad Jammu 
and Kashmir. Evidence-Based Complementary and 
Alternative Medicine, 2021. 
 
Hussain, T., Hussain, F., Wajid, A., Ellahi Babar, M., 
Mustafa, M. M., & Marikar, F. M. (2021). Microsatellite 
markerbased genetic diversity in Mareecha and Barela 
breeds of dromedary camel from Pakistan. Veterinarska 
stanica, 52(3), 307-314. 
 
Nusrathali, N., Mufeeth, M., Sharfan Ahamed, A., Abdul 
Majeed, U., & Muhamed Musthafa, M. (2021). 
Comparison of chemical composition and quality of 
maize, sorghum and hybrid napier grass CO-3 silages 
using bag or bucket silos, Bangladesh Agricultural 
University. 
 
Hussain, T., Wajid, A., Soail, M., Ali, A., Abbas, K., 
Marikar, F. M., Muneeb, M.M., & Babar, E. (2021). 
Molecular Phylogeny and Genetic Diversity of Domestic 
Yaks (Bos grunniens) in Pakistan based on Mitochondrial 
and Microsatellite Markers. Veterinarska stanica, 52(6), 
671-684. 
 
Wajid, A., Hussain, T., Marikar, F. M., Musthafa, M. M., 
Abbas, K., Ali, A., & Babar, M. E. (2021). Molecular 
investigations on the Rajanpuri strain of Beetal goat 
breed of Pakistan by complete mtDNA displacement 
region and microsatellite markers. Veterinarska 
stanica, 52(5), 511-523. 
 
Gowda, G. B., Bhanu, K. R. M., Chakravarthy, A. K., & 
Kumara, A. D. N. T. (2021). Temporal and age-related 
variations in calling and mating patterns of the Indian 
population of spotted pod borer, Maruca vitrata 
Fabricius (Lepidoptera: Crambidae). International Journal 
of Tropical Insect Science, 41(4), 2331-2339. 
 
Pamudi, R. G., Jemziya,B.F., & Ahamed Rifath, M. R. 
(2021). Production and nutritional evaluation of protein 
enriched cookies incorporated with winged beans 
(Psophocarpus tetragonolobus).(2021). Journal of the 
Bangladesh Agricultural University. (pp 542–547). 
 

Shafana, A. R. F., Uwanthika, G. A. I., & Kartheeswaran, 
T. (2021). Exploring the molecular subclasses and stage-
specific genes of oral cancer: A bioinformatics 
analysis. Cancer Treatment and Research 
Communications, 27, 100320.  
 
Mehraj, H., Jayadevappa, D., Haleem, S. L. A., Parveen, 
R., Madduri, A., Ayyagari, M. R., & Dhabliya, D. (2021). 
Protection motivation theory using multi-factor 
authentication for providing security over social 
networking sites. Pattern Recognition Letters, 152, 218224.    
 
Fajila, F., & Yusof, Y. (2021). Incremental Search for 
Informative Gene Selection in Cancer 
Classification. Annals of Emerging Technologies in 
Computing (AETiC), 5(2), 15-21. 
 
Shaik Khamuruddeen,.Jayachitra,S.,.Prasanth, A., 
Haleem, S.L.A. ,Amin Salih Mohammed.(2021), An 
efficient clinical support system for heart disease 
prediction using TANFIS classifier, Computational 
Intelligence. 
 
Sharfan Ahamed, A., Nusrathali, N., Mufeeth, M., 
Ranaweera, K., & Abdul Majeed, U. (2021). Breeds 
distribution and management practices of pigeon 
farming in Sri Lanka. Bangladesh Agricultural University 
(BAU). 
 
Narmilan, A., Puvanitha, N., Niroash, G., Sugirtharan, 
M., & Vassanthini, R. (2021). Domestic water 
consumption pattern and awareness of urban 
households. International Journal of Human Capital in 
Urban Management, 6(3), 225-236. 
 
Papers published in non-indexed Journals 
 
Sornamuky, N., Akram, A.T.A., Ahamed, A.S., & 
Musthafa, M.M., (2021). Phenotypic Characterization of 
Village Chicken Populations in Ampara District, Sri 
Lanka. Sri Lankan Journal of technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Sarathchandra, S.R., Jayananda, S.Y.R., Jayaweera, 
M.P.H.K., Hennayake, K.P.S.D., Rajapaksha, R.M.C.Y., 
Dissanayake, D.M.O.K.B., Kumara, A.D.N.T. (2021). 
Sustainable Management of Nematodes Infestation of 
Paddy Cultivation in Sri Lanka. Sri Lanka Journal of 
Technology, 73-79, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Mufeeth, M. M., Thariq, M. M., & Nufile, A. A. M. 
Estimation of Demand for Coconut in Sri Lanka: An 
Application of Almost Ideal Demand System (AIDS), 
Journal of business Economics. 
 
Jemziya, F., & Sivarajah, P. (2021). The public awareness 
on the facts of cancer in Eastern Province, Sri 
Lanka. COVID-19 Pandemic And Socio Economic Issues: An 
Experience of Sri Lanka.  
 
Vidanarachchi, V.A.D.S., Jemziya, M.B.F., Wijewardane, 
R.M.N.A., & Rifath, M.R.A. (2021). Development and 
quality evaluation of instant pudding mixture fortified 
with powder of custard apple (Annona muricata L.), 
Journal of Science, FAS, SEUSL. 
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Rajini, I.L., Mahendran, T., & Roshana, M.R. (2021). 
Evaluation of Storage Stability of Cookies made from 
Breadfruit Flour. Sri Lankan Journal of Technology, FT, 
SEUSL. 
 
Nishanthan, G., Wickramasinghe, I., Navaratne, S. B., & 
Dissanayake, D.C.T. (2021). Ready-to-prepare soup mix 
enriched with sea cucumbers: production, sensory 
attributes and nutritional composition, Journal of Food 
Science and Technology, 58(6), 2078-2088. 
 
Nafrees, A.C.M., Majeed, U.A., Kariapper, R., Razith, S., 
& Pirapuraj, P. (2021). Internet of Things (IoT) enabled 
Food Technologies: A systematic review approach, Sri 
Lankan Journal of Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Tharaka, W. L. R., Narmilan, A., Ajmal Hinas, M. N., & 
Abdul Hameed, M. I. M. (2021). The Smart Hybrid 
Chamber for Cinnamon Drying and Storing Operations. 
Sri Lankan Journal of Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Ahamad Sabani, M. J., Shafana, M. S., & Zisath Shama, L. 
F. (2021). Security breaches on individual's privacy via 
internet of things, KALAM- International Journal,  FAC, 
SEUSL. 
 
Fayaza, M. F., Raheem, F., & Iqbal, N. (2021). Prediction 
of Forex Rate Using Deep Learning: US Dollar to Sri 
Lankan Rupees, Sri Lankan Journal of Technology, FT, 
SEUSL. 
 
Rajini, I. L., Mahendran, T., & Roshana, M. R. (2021). 
Evaluation of Storage Stability of Cookies made from 
Breadfruit Flour. Sri Lankan Journal of Technology, FT, 
SEUSL. 
 
Ishera, L. R., Mahendran, T., & Roshana, M. R. (2021). 
Incorporating Breadfruit Flour to Prepare High-Quality 
Cookies with Health Benefits. Tropical Agricultural 
Research, 32(1), 114-123. 
 
Roshana, M. R., Mufeeth, M., & Abdul Majeed, U. L. 
(2021). Formulation and quality assessment of tomato 
(Lycopersicon esculentum) cordial with xanthan 
stabilize, Ruhuna Journal of Science, Faculty of Science 
University of Ruhuna. 
 
Santhirakumar, S., Narmilan, A., & Puvanitha, N. (2021). 
The economic impact of Covid-19 on the micro, small 
and medium enterprise (MSME) sector in Batticaloa 
district, Sri Lanka. Covid-19 : Labour Issues And Responses. 
 
Narmilan, A., Niroash, G., Mowjoodl, M. I. M., & Akram, 
A. T. A. (2021). Effect of Pads and Thickness of Paddy on 
Moisture Removal under Sun Drying. Agricultural Science 
Digest-A Research Journal, 41(4), 572-577. 
 
Narmilan, A., & Sugirtharan, M. (2021). Application of 
FAO-CROPWAT Modelling on Estimation of Irrigation 
Scheduling for Paddy Cultivation in Batticaloa District, 
Sri Lanka. Agricultural Reviews, 42(1). 
 
Narmilan, A., Puvanitha, N., Ahamed, A.S., & 
Santhirakumar, S. (2021). Relationship between 
temperature-humidity index and milk production of 

dairy cows in tropical climate. Asian Journal of Dairy and 
Food Research, 40(3), 246-252. 
Munasinghe, D. S., Najim, M. M., Quadroni, S., & 
Musthafa, M. M. (2021). Impacts of streamflow alteration 
on benthic macroinvertebrates by mini-hydro diversion 
in Sri Lanka. Scientific Reports, 11(1), 1-12. 
 
Musthafa, M. M., Abdullah, F., Martínez-Falcón, A. P., & 
de Bruyn, M. (2021). How mountains and elevations 
shape the spatial distribution of beetles in Peninsular 
Malaysia. Scientific Reports, 11(1), 1-12. 
 
Kariapper, R. K. A. R. (2021). Attendance system using 
RFID IoT and Machine learning: A two factor verification 
approach. Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy, 12(3), 314-321. 
 
VG, N., Qaiyum, S., & Haleem, S. L. A. (2021). Protection 
from Distributed Denial of Service Attack Using Fuzzy 
Logic. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-349667/v1. 
 
Kumara,N.P.A.S.N., Majeed, U.L.A., Silva, A.P., Asmath, 
A. M. M., & Kanugala, K. A. N. P. (2021). Effectivesness 
of Thermal Treatment on the Bacterial Spore Counts in 
Mil, Sri Lankan Journal of Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Roshana, M.R., Mufeeth, M., & Abdul Majeed, U. L. 
(2021). Formulation and quality assessment of tomato 
(Lycopersicon esculentum) cordial with xanthan 
stabilize, Ruhuna Journal of Science, Vol 12 (2): 84-96. 
 
 
Full Papers published in Conference Proceeding 
 
Jayawardena, F.L.P. M., Anupama, H.P.W., Lakmal, 
M.W.L.D., Hirshan, R., & Kumara, W. G. C. W. (2021, 
August). Development of An Image Processing Based 
Driver Assistance System. 10th International Conference on 
Information and Automation for Sustainability (ICIAfS) (pp. 
357-362). IEEE. 
 
Boralessa, G. W. Y. S., Samarasinghe, K. W. A. H., & 
Ahamed, T. N. (2021). Towards robust ubicomp: a 
comprehensive review on the grand challenges of 
ubiquitous computing. 1st International Conference- 2021 
on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL, pp.239-247. 
 
Roshana, M. R., Mufeeth, M., Rifna Banu, M. R. F., 
Nusrathali, N., & Ranaweera, G. K. M. M. K. (2021). 
Challenges and constraints for seed paddy farmers: a 
case study of the Ampara district, Sri Lanka, 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Maalik, U., & Pirapuraj, P. (2021). Intelligent Vehicle 
diagnostic system for service center using OBD-II and 
Iot, 1st International Conference- 2021 on Science and 
Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Kaushalya, K.D.S., Kumara, A.D.N.T., Ranaweera, G.K. 
M.M. K., Rathnayaka, R. M. P. P., Silwa, M. G. C.D., & 
Mubarak, A.N.M. (2021). Host plant volatiles released by 
Bracharaira brizantha and Desmodium spp. and their 
effects on the behaviour of fall armyworm. 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
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Darshani, W.M. R., Nashath, M. N. F., Niran, H. M. L., & 
Mubarak, A. N. M. (2021). Evaluation of morphological 
and yield characteristics of selected local pumpkin 
accessions in Sri Lanka. 1st International Conference- 2021 
on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Rukshana, M.R.F., Abdul Majeed, U.L., & Mohamed 
Asmath, A.M. (2021). Impact of different processing 
methods on proximate chemical compositions and 
nutritional contents of skipjack tuna (katsuwonus 
pelamis linnaeus, 1758)-Balaya fish, 1st International 
Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Sajeetha, F., Abdul Majeed, U.L., & Mohamed Asmath, 
A. M. (2021). Determination of quality of coconut oil 
manufactured in Ampara district with selected quality 
parameters. 1st International Conference- 2021 on Science 
and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Fathima Jahan, A. M., Abdul Majeed, U.L., & Mohamed 
Asmath, A. M. (2021). Assessment of quality parameters 
of locally manufactured Yogurts in the Coastal Area of 
Ampara District. 1st International Conference- 2021 on 
Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Dilrukshi, J. P. M. N., Narmilan, A., & Mowjood, M. I. M. 
(2021). Experimental performance of a passive 
greenhouse solar dryer for paddy, 1st International 
Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Kaushalya, K.D.S., Kumara, A.D.N.T., Ranaweera, 
G.K.M. M. K., Rathnayaka, R. M. P. P., Silwa, M. G. C.D., 
& Mubarak, A.N.M. (2021). Host plant volatiles released 
by Bracharaira brizantha and Desmodium spp. and their 
effects on the behaviour of fall armyworm, 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Silwa, M.G.C.D., Kumara, A. D. N. T., Ranaweera, G. K. 
M. M., Kaushalya, K. D. S., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2021). 
Laboratory Evaluation of Host Plant Resistance on Sri 
Lankan Maize Landraces to Fall Armyworm (Spodoptera 
frugiperda Smith) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Musfira, A. F., Naja, M. M. F., & Shafana, A. R. F. (2021). 
Users‘ perception towards the usage of ‗athan‘app in Sri 
Lanka through the lens of the Technology acceptance 
model (TAM). 1st International Conference- 2021 on Science 
and Technology, 1st International Conference- 2021 on Science 
and Technology, FT, SEUSL, pp.224-230. 
 
Naja, M. M. F., Shafana, A. R. F., & Musfira, A. F. (2021). 
Automated software testing and tool selection: case 
study based on security testing of Popular E-commerce 
applications in Malaysia. 1st International Conference- 2021 
on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL, pp.231-237. 
 
Shafana, A. R. F., Musfira, A. F., & Naja, M. M. F. (2021). 
Assessing the E-commerce websites for performance 
using automated testing tools. 1st International Conference- 
2021 on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL, pp.231-237. 
 
Naja, M. M. F., Shafana, A. R. F., & Musfira, A. F. (2021). 
Automated software testing and tool selection: case 

study based on security testing of Popular E-commerce 
applications in Malaysia.  
1st International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Shafana, A. R. F., Musfira, A. F., & Naja, M. M. F. (2021). 
Assessing the E-commerce websites for performance 
using automated testing tools. 1st International Conference- 
2021 on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Janani, M., Narmilan, A., & Sugirtharan, M. (2002). 
Problems and factors influencing the adoption of micro 
irrigation system in crop cultivation in Manmunai south 
Eruvil Pattu Ds division, Batticaloa. 1st International 
Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Herath, H. M. A. D., Ahamed Sabani, M. J., & Shafana, 
M. S. (2021). Identifying suite type of blockchain for 
application: public and private. 1st International 
Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
 Kumarasinghe, S.G.M.U., Shafana, M.S., & Ahamed 
Sabani, M.J. (2021). A prototypical adoption security 
model for major vulnerabilities in cloud computing. 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Roshana, M.R., Mufeeth, M., Rifna Banu, M. R. F., 
Nusrathali, N., & Ranaweera, G.K.M.M.K. (2021). 
Challenges and constraints for seed paddy farmers: a 
case study of the Ampara district, Sri Lanka. 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Raheem, F., & Iqbal, N. (2021). Forecasting foreign 
exchange rate: Use of FbProphet.  International Research 
Conference on Smart Computing and Systems Engineering 
(SCSE) (Vol. 4, pp. 44-48). IEEE. 
 
Razeeth, M.S., Kariapper, R., & Nawaz, S.S. (2021). 
Accident Mitigation System with Drowsiness Detection: 
A Machine Learning and Iot with Hybrid Approach. 
International Conference on Information Technology 
(ICIT) (pp. 462-465). IEEE. 
 
Fathima Sanjeetha,M.B.(2021). The Influence of Social 
Networking Sites on Students Purchasing Behavior; 
Perspectives from South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 
CUKUROVA International Scientific Research Congress. 
 
Pirapuraj, P., Minnoli, N.V., Saranrai, M., & Thevaruban, 
K. (2021, August). Automated Ventilation System for 
Maintaining indoor CO2 Concentration to Reduce 
Allergic and Respiratory Diseases: for Rural Area in 
Batticaloa, Sri Lanka. Asian Conference on Innovation in 
Technology (ASIANCON) (pp. 1-8). IEEE. 
 
Pirapuraj, P., & Perera, I. (2021). JarBot: Automated Java 
Libraries Suggestion in JAR Archives Format for a given 
Software Architecture. 2nd Global Conference for 
Advancement in Technology (GCAT) (pp. 1-6). IEEE. 
 
Mufeeth, M., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2021). Field 
assessments of bell pepper varieties produced in the dry 
zone of Sri Lanka.  1st International Conference on Science 
and Technology, FT,SEUSL. 
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Mulathagedara, M. G. S. S., Nashath, M. N. F., 
Kekulandara, D. S., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2021). 
Morphological characterization of selected Capsicum 
accessions and development of species identification key 
for Chili. 1st International Conference on Science and 
Technology, FT,SEUSL. 
 
Roshana, M. R., Mufeeth, M., Rifna Banu, M. R. F., 
Nusrathali, N., & Ranaweera, G. K. M. M. K. (2021). 
Challenges and constraints for seed paddy farmers: a 
case study of the Ampara district, Sri Lanka. 1st 
International Conference on Science and Technology, 
FT,SEUSL. 
 
Batepola, B. G. M., Jemziya, M. B. F., Rikasa, A. M., & 
Kanugala, K. A. N. P. (2021). Gap analysis in 
implementation of ISO/IEC 17025: 2017 accreditation 
Programme in selected microbiological laboratory, 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Rifath, A., & Jemziya, M. B. F. (2021). Consumption 
pattern of soft drinks and awareness on traffic light 
labelling system of prepacked soft drinks among young 
adults in the Ampara District, 1st International Conference- 
2021 on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Musfira, A. F., Naja, M. M. F., & Shafana, A. R. F. (2021). 
Users‘ perception towards the usage of ‗athan‘app in Sri 
Lanka through the lens of the Technology acceptance 
model (TAM), 1st International Conference- 2021 on Science 
and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Kaushalya, K. D. S., Kumara, A. D. N. T., Ranaweera, G. 
K. M. M. K., Rathnayaka, R. M. P. P., Silwa, M. G. C. D., 
& Mubarak, A. N. M. (2021). Host plant volatiles released 
by Bracharaira brizantha and Desmodium spp. and their 
effects on the behaviour of fall armyworm, 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Silwa, M. G. C. D., Kumara, A. D. N. T., Ranaweera, G. K. 
M. M., Kaushalya, K. D. S., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2021). 
Laboratory Evaluation of Host Plant Resistance on Sri 
Lankan Maize Landraces to Fall Armyworm (Spodoptera 
frugiperda Smith) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Neranjana, T. B. K. H., Kumara, A. D. N. T., Wijesekara, 
H. T. R., & Ranaweera, B. (2021). Electrophysiological 
and behavioural responses of coconut black beetle 
(Oryctes rhinoceros L.)(Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae) to 
selected plant volatiles, 1st International Conference- 2021 
on Science and Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Mokanapriya, S., Akram, A. T. A., Sharfan Ahamed, A., 
& Muneeb, M. M. (2021). Present status of village chicken 
farming system in coastal belt of Ampara District, 1st 
International Conference- 2021 on Science and Technology, 
FT, SEUSL. 
 
Mohamed Thariq, M. G., & Rathnayaka, R. M. P. P. 
(2021). Evaluation of physico-chemical characteristics of 
locally available broken rice as feed ingredients for 

poultry, 1st International Conference- 2021 on Science and 
Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
Madukokila, U. A. A. D., Jemziya, M. B. F., 
Wijewardhane, R. M. N. A., & Rifath, M. R. A. (2021). 
Development and quality evaluation of blue butterfly 
pea flower (clitoria tternatea L.) extract incorporated 
jelly, 1st International Conference- 2021 on Science and 
Technology, FT, SEUSL. 
 
 
Abstracts published in Conference Proceedings 
 
Fayasa, M. H. H., Majeed, U. L. A., Asmath, A. M. M., & 
Nifla, M. R. F. (2021). Determination of proximate 
chemical composition and cadmium content in 
commonly consumed freshwater fish in Ampara District. 
Young Scientists' Conference on Multidisciplinary Research-
2021. 
 
Himasha, P. S. S., Millawithanachchi, M. C., Nashath, 
M. N. F., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2021). Evaluation of root 
morphology of selected rice varieties under anaerobic 
and aerobic conditions in Sri Lanka. 10th Annual Science 
Research Session, FAS, SEUSL. 
 
Jayathunga, A. A. N., Senarathne, M. M. D., Nashath, M. 
N., & Mubarak, A. N. (2021). Influence of propagation 
media on the growth and development of blue (l.) 
butterfly pea clitoria terna. 3rd Uva Symposium -2021. 
 
Madukokila, U. D., Wijethunga, H. S., Senarathane, M. 
M. D., Rihan, M. H., & Mubarak, A. N. (2021). Effects of 
different potting media and 6-benzylaminopurine on 
propogation of heen bovitiya (l.) bap) stem cuttings. 3rd 
Uva Symposium -2021. 
 
Nismiya, M. N., & Mubarak, A. N. (2021). Enhancement 
of hydrogen peroxide through photooxidative stress , 3rd 
Uva Symposium -2021. 
 
Silva, G. M., Jemziya, M. B. F., Gunathilaka, S., & Rikasa, 
A. M. (2021). Development of an ice cream composite 
with canistel fruit (Pouteria campechiana). 10th Annual 
Science Research Session 2021, FAS, SEUSL.  
 
Mufeeth, M., Asmiya, A., & Mubarak, A. N. M. (2021). 
Comparative analysis of cost and benefit: bell pepper 
produced under protected agriculture and open field 
conditions in Sri Lanka. 10th Annual Science Research 
Session, FAS, SEUSL. 
 
Roshana, M. R., & Mahendran, T. Nutritional assessment 
of pre-school children of aged between 3-5 years in 
Kattankudy DS division of Batticaloa district. Thirty-Third 
Annual Congress of the PGIA-2021. 
 
Shafana, A.R.F.,Naja, M.M.F. A Comprehensive Analysis 
of Security Flaws in Web Applications: A Case Study on 
Selected E-commerce Sites in Sri Lanka. Annual 
International Research Conference- 2020, FMC, SEUSL. 
 
Shafana, A. R. F., & Musfira, A. F. (2021). Students‘ 
opinion on the use of virtual learning environment: a 
case study from south eastern university of Sri Lanka. 9th 

http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/5855
http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/5855
http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/5855
http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/5855
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International Symposium, South Eastern University Arts 
Research Session, FAC, SEUSL. 
 
Madukokila, U. A. A. D., Rihan, M. H., Senarathane, M. 
M. D. J., Wijethunga, H. S., & Mubarak, A. N. (2021). 
Effect of different media on seed germination of osbeckia 
Ocoandra (L.) DC.(heen bovitia),  International Conference 
on Innovation and Emerging Technologies, Faculty of 
Technology, University of Sri Jayewardenepura. 
LIBRARY 

 
Papers published in non-indexed Journals 

Mashroofa, M.M. (2021). Continuing Professional 
Development of Public Librarians: with special reference 
to Ampara District of Sri Lanka.Sri Lanka Library Review, 
Vol. 35; Issue. 1; January 2021 

Haleem,A., Mashroofa, M.M.(2021). Financial Impact of 
COVID – 19 pandamic on small and medium enterprises. 
Journal of Business Economics, Vol. 2; Issue 2 

Full Papers published in Conference Proceedings 
 
Sajeer, S.L.M., Nahfees, A.M. & Bandara, B.E.S. (2021). 
Utilization of Open Access Resources among the 
academic staff at South Eastern University of Sri 
Lanka.  Proceedings of 11th International Conference of 
University Librarians Association of Sri Lanka – 2021 

Bandara,B.E.S., Mashroofa, M.M., Rifaudeen,M.M., 
Azwer, M.C.M., Nahfees, A.M. & Sajeer, S.L.M. (2021). 
Undergraduates‘ Satisfaction on Service Quality of 
Library Services of South Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 
Proceedings of 11th International Conference of University 
Librarians Association of Sri Lanka – 2021 
 

Abstracts published in Conference Proceedings 

Mashroofa, M.M. (2021). Sustainability of Library and 
Information Services During COVID – 19 Pandemic: A 
Case of South Eastern University of Sri Lanka (SEUSL) 
Libraries. Proceedings of the National Institute of Library and 
Information Sciences, University or Colombo. 
NILISResearchSymposium 2020,(held on 23rd January 2021) 

 
Feature Article 

Mashroofa, M.M. (2021). epiyNgwhd mgptpUj;jp  
,yf;FfSk; nghJ E}yfq;fSk;. SLLA Newsletter – Vol. 
38 No. 01 - 2021 Published in all three languages. 
   

Other Departments / Units 
 
Non- indexed journals 
 
Shajitha, S.H., & Rameez, A. (2021). On-line learning 
during covid-19 pandemic: a study at faculty of arts and 
culture, Journal of Kalam, FAC, SEUSL. 

 

 
 

http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/159
http://ir.lib.seu.ac.lk/xmlui/handle/123456789/159
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4.2 Information of International Staff who visited SEUSL in 2021 

Table 4.2: Details of international Staff visited (or virtually attended) for Undergraduate 

Teaching/Postgraduate Teaching/ Research/Symposium/Workshop in the year 2021 are shown below. 

Faculty Name of the Programme   Country No. of Staff 

FAC 

9th International Symposium of the FAC (SEUARS 
2020) under the theme of " Global Dimension of 
Social Science and Humanities through Research 
and Innovation" 
Prof (Dr). RK.Bushra Beegom, Assistant professor, 
Department of Sociology, Faculty of Social Sciences, 
University of Kerala, India was the keynote speaker 

India 01 

Guest lecture programme on Research 
methodology for postgraduate students of the 
faculty – MPhil/PhD by Research programme 
2019/2020 

USA 
India 

01 

Samantha Curle's R training session  for TESL final 
year students 

London 01 

Webinar to marked the World Environmental Day 
celebration held at the Department of Geography, 
FAC 

India 01 

FIA 

International Symposium for Arabic Language, 
Zoom 

Lebanan   01 

International Islamic Intellectual discourse (IIID) Malaysia 01 

Conference on International Union for Muslim 
Scholars in Socio-politics – 2021 

Malaysia 01 

 
 

4.3 Knowledge Dissemination to the General Public during the Year 2021 

Table 4.3: Details Knowledge Dissemination to the General Public during the Year-2021 

Faculty/ 
Division 

Category and Title of the Programme 
(workshops/ training 
programmes/field 
demonstrations/media programmes) 

Number 
particip
ated 

Target Group   

Conducting training programmes/ field demonstrations 

FAC 

Community Link Program for students 
- Establishing social connectivity 

248 
Internal FAC 
students and 
Alumini members 

Community link programs for staff 
(visited to Aligambay, Alayadivempu), 
Establishing link programs 

89 
FAC staff 
members and 
Gypsy society 

Celebration of World Water Day under 
the theme of "Vaising Water" Create 
awareness of community I save water 
and vaising water  

158 
Public & Students  

FT 
3rd International certificate course on 
coconut plantation management   

25 Technical officers 
related to coconut 
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cultivation   

Library 

Training for School Librarians of 
Library Information Services, 
Organised by Kalmunai Zonal 
Education Office 

45 

 Teacher librarians  
under the 
Kalmunai Zonal 
Education Office 

Organizing exhibitions /Public performences 

FAC 

Celebrating the International Women's 
Day under the theme of 'Women in 
Development: Global perspective and 
National Advancement' 

350 Public, staff & 
students 

FAS 

Special Session Organising Committee 
Member-Data Engineering for Biology 
and Medicine 
(IEEE ICIAFS Conference 2021) 

50 
Undergraduate 
and Post graduate 
Researchers 

Library 

One People, One Nation and One Sri 
Lanka (23/10/2021) 

800 
University Staff & 
Public 

National Conference of Library & 
Information Sciience  ( Dr. M.M. 
Mashroofa, Secretary, NACLIS) 

190 
 

All categories of 
Librarians of Sri 
Lanka 

International Conference of University 
Librarians Association of Sri Lanka. (Dr. 
M.M. Mashroofa. Secretary - ICULA 
2021)       

135 

Global wide 
participants/  
Librarians and 
Library Science 
Academics 

Workshops/ Webinars 

FAC 

Participated as speaker to an 
International webinar on Tourism-a 
boon for future Tourism-A Boon For 
Future  

01 

Queen Mary‘s 
College 
Department of 
Geography 

Workshop for students on Community 
Link programme under AHEAD project 

400 
Internal Student 
and Community 
people 

Webinar to mark the World 
Environmental Day celebration held at 
the Department of Geography, FAC 

120 
Geography 
students and 
community people 

FAS 

―Overcoming obstacles to knowledge 
co-production for early-career marine 
researchers‖ in the framework of 
ICYMARE Forum on 3. 11 2021. 

25  

Marine 
researchers and 
interested people 
all around the 
world 

FT 
Aqua Culture 

25 
Students of the 
Ocean University, 
Sri Lanka  

Disaster related to sea 30 Fishermans 

Media programmes 

Library 

 Media & Information Literacy: Women 
in Media, Women and Media 
(Discussion Panel Dr. M.M. Mashroofa) 
Organized by American  Corner Jaffna, 
Hyderabad and Ahmedabad 

85  General Public 

Other   
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FAC 

Residential Field Program (visited -  
Paanama, Pottuvil) 

88 

FAC staff 
members and 
Community 
people 

Panal Discussion- Empowering women- 
Minding the gap between Rhetoric and 
Reality' 

350 
Public, staff, 
students 

FAS 

Article for Sath Samudhura Magazine 
by MEPA 

 General Public 

Creation of children stories 
 

Delivered to several associations (e.g IUCN, 
schools) and translated to English, Sinhala, Tamil, 
Dutch, French, Italian, and Kiswahili 

Children aged 
from 4-8 

Library 
 Outreach Program 
Books Donation to Libraries in the 
region  

 10 
Libraries 

 South Eastern 
Region Libraries 
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4.4 Awards Received 

Table 4.4: Details of Awards Received during the year 2021 

Award 
category 

Name of 
the Award 

National/ 
International 

Description of the 
Award 

Name of the 
awardee and 
country 

Name/s of the recipient 

Research 
NRC Merit 
Award 

National - 
National 
Research 
Council 

T. Jaseetharan, .A.K.L.Dissanayake, 
G.K.R.Senadeera,C.A.Thottawathage/ 
FAS 

Research 
Senate 
Honours 

National 
For High Impact 
research Publication 

SEUSL, 
Sri Lanka 

Dr. MIS. Safeena /FAS 

Research Senate National  High Impacts Journal  
SEUSL, 
 Sri Lanka 

Dr. Muneeb M. Mustafa,  Mrs. M.B.F. 
Jamziya, Mrs. S.L. Rasmiya Begum, Dr. 
M.G.M. Thariq, Dr. A.N.M. Mubarak, 
Dr. ADNT. Kumara/FT 

Research 
Vice 
chanceller 
Award 

National  High Grand for Projects  
Dr. Muneeb M. Mustafa ,Dr. U.L. Abdul 
Majeed, Dr. M.G.M. Thariq, Dr. A.N.M. 
Mubarak, Dr. ADNT. Kumara/FT 

Community 
Projects 

University 
of Malaya 

International 

Virtual Mobility Project 
Grant of Association of 
Commonwealth 
Universities 

University of 
Malaya 
Malaysia 

Prof. MM. Fazil – Project Leader 
Prof. A.Rameez- Project Director 
Prof. MAM. Rameez – Project Assistant, 
Mr.MAM.Fowsar – project 
Assistant/FAC 
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4.5 Overseas fellowships, Scholorships /Awards received for professional development  

Table 4.5: Details of Overseas fellowships, Scholorships /Awards received for professional development (Seminar / Workshops / Staff Development / Training 

/ Short cources) of Academic and administrative staff in 2021 

Faculty Designation 
Type of Program (seminar/ Workshops/ Staff Develpmmet/ 
shortcources ect) 

No. of staff 
recieved 

Dept. of Political 
Science / FAC 

Mr. MAM.Fowsar Indian Commonwealth Postgraduate Scholarship to read PhD 1 

Dept. of 
Geography/FAC 

Lecturer (Prob) 
Participated as speaker to an International webinar on Tourism-
a boon for future conducted by the Queen Marry‘s College, 
Chennai on 25.09.2021 

1 

 

 

4.6 Details of MOUs signed with Foreign HEIs/Research Institutions/Donor Agencies in 2021 

Table 4.6: Details of MOUs signed with Foreign HEIs/Research Institutions/Donor Agencies in 2021 

University/Faculty 
Role of the Activity  
(Student exchange/Staff exchange/ Research 
Project/Training/facilities …..etc) 

Name of the activity Country 

FAC Research project 
Virtual Mobility Project Grant of 
Association of Commonwealth 
Universities 

Malaysia 
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4.7 Academic, Academic Supportive and Administrative staff registerd for 

postgraduate degrees 

Table 4.7: Details of Academic and Administrative staff registerd for postgraduate degrees (Local and 

Forign in 2021) 

Faculty/ 
Department 

Name of Staff and 
Designation 

Postgradu
ate Degree 

Source of 
Funding 

Country 

FAS 

Mr. S.V.T.D. Raveendrasinghe. 
Lecturer (Prob.) in Earth Science 

PhD. 
Shandong 
university 
Scholarship 

China 

 IBK. Thomas  
Lecturer (Probationary) in Applied Sciences 

PhD AHEAD Sri Lanka 

N. Thasajini  
Lecturer (Probationary) in Botany PhD - Italy 

TWGF. Mafaziya  
 Lecturer (Probationary) in Botany 

PhD UGC Belgium 

FAC 

Mrs.MIF. Kareema 
Senior Lecturer Gr.II in DELT  

PhD 
AHEAD 
scholorship of 
MoHE 

Malaysia 

Mr.M.Rizwan  
Senior Lecturer Gr.II in Sociology   

PhD Self Finance India 

Mrs. AWN.Naleefa  
Senior Lecturer Gr.II in Sociology 

PhD Self Finance Malaysia 

Mr.CM. Mansoor  
Senior Lecturer Gr.II in DIT 

PhD Self Finance India 

Mr.S.Sajiharan 
Instructor in CT Gr.I in DIT 

PhD Self Finance India 

Mrs.N.Lumna 
Lecturer (Prob) in Sociology 

MPhil Self Finance Sri Lanka 

Mrs.SH.Sadheeka Farwin 
Lecturer (Prob) in Languages 

MA UGC Sri Lanka 

Mr. K. Nijamir 
Lecturer (Prob) in Geography 

MPhil Self Finance Sri Lanka 

Mr. IL. Mohamed Zahir  
Lecturer (Prob) in Geography 

PhD Self Finance Sri Lanka 

Mrs. UL.Milhana 
 Lecturer (Prob) in Economics & Statistics 

MPhil Self Finance 
PIHSS,UoP, 
Sri Lanka 

Mrs. AF.Thahara  
Lecturer (Prob)in  Economics & Statistics 

MPhil Self Finance 
PIHSS,UoP, 
Sri Lanka 

Ms. KF.Rinosha  
Lecturer (Prob) in Economics & Statistics 

MPhil Self Finance 
PIHSS,UoP, 
Sri Lanka 

Mrs. MNF.Washima  
Lecturer (Prob) in Economics & Statistics 

MA Self Finance 
PIHSS,UoP, 
SL 

Mrs. TF. Sajeetha  
Lecturer (Prob) in Political Science 

MPhil Self Finance 
PIHSS,UoP, 
Sri Lanka 

Ms. MB. Safna Sakki  
Lecturer (Prob)in  Political Science 

MA Self Finance 
PIHSS,UoP, 
Sri Lanka 

Mr. V. Kamalasiri  
Lecturer (Prob) in Political Science 

MA Self Finance 
PIHSS,UoP, 
Sri Lanka 

FE Mr. T. Jeyakaran 
Lecturer (Prob.) in Civil Engineering 

PhD 

Scholarship by 
Thammasat 
University, 
Thailand. 

Thailand 
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FT 

Mrs. ARF. Shafana  
Lecturer (Prob) in Information & 
Communication Technology 

M.Sc 
University 
generated 
fund 

Thailand 

Mrs. AF. Musfira  
Lecturer (Prob) in Information & 
Communication Technology 

M.Sc 
University 
generated 
fund 

Malaysia 

Mr. A. Narmilan 
Lecturer (Prob) in Biosystems Technology 

PhD  
World Bank 
(AHEAD) 

Australia 

Mrs. N.V. Sujirtha  
Lecturer (Prob) in Biosystems Technology 

PhD  
World Bank 
(AHEAD) 

New 
Zealand 

 

4.8 Academic, Academic Supportive and Administrative Staff who completed 

the Postgraduate qualification 

Table 4.8: Details of Academic, Academic Supportive and Administrative Staff who completed the 

relevant Postgraduate qualification in 2021 

Faculty/ 
Department/ 
Division 

Name of the Staff and  
Designation 

Postgraduate 
Degree 

Country 

FAC K. Nijamir 
Lecturer (Probationary) in Geography 

M.Phil. 
 

S
ri

 L
an

k
a 

FAC G.M. Rifka Nusrath 
Instructor in English Grade III 

M.A.  
 

FMC A.M. Inun Jariya 
Senior Lecturer Grade I in Accountancy 

Ph.D in 
Accounting 

FMC M.C. Abdul Nazar 
Senior Lecturer Grade I in Accountancy 

Ph.D.  
 

FAS M.C. Alibuhtto 
Senior Lecturer Grade I in Statistics 

Ph.D.  
 

FE A.L. Fathima Shanaz 
Senior Lecturer Grade II in Computer Engineering 

M.Phil. in 
Statistics & 
Computer Science  

FE A.C.A. Suja 
Lecturer (Probationary) in Civil Engineering 

M.Phil. 

FE M.H. Fayas Ahamed 
Lecturer Probationary) 

M.Sc.  
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4.9  Details of Programmes, Seminars & Workshops 

Table 4.9: Details of the Programmes, Seminars and Workshops conducted by Faculties and 

Libraries of SEUSL in 2021. 

Faculty 

Category and Title of the 
Programme (workshops/ training 
programmes/field demonstrations / 
media programmes) 

Number 
participated 

Target Group   Date 

Workshops  

FAS 

Local and foreign higher studies 
opportunities for science graduates 

60  
FAS undergraduate 
students 

20.12.2020 

Network Analysis in Natural 
Resource Management  

60  
Masters Students, 
Erasmus Students 

29.11.2021 

FMC 

Training Workshop to Equalize the 
Overseas Residential Workshop  

 MBA students 
December 

2021 

Workshop on Course Development 
of new curriculum for MBA and 
PGDM programme for MBA 
/PGDM 

35 Academic Staff 21.12.2021 

 Guest Lecture Programme on 
Statistical Applications for Research 

100 MBA students 
December 

2021 

FAC 

Tourism-A Boon For Future  

Queen Mary‘s 
College Department 
of Geography 
Mylapore.Chennai  

25.09.2021 

Workshop for staff on Internship 
Training in Collaboration with the 
Curriculum to enhancing the 
Employability of the Faculty 
Graduates 

70 
Academic staff, 
temporary staff & 
instructors 

16.03.2021 

Workshop for students on Socio 
Emotional Skills - Networking and 
Social Skills under AHEAD project 

470 
All  3rd, & 4th year 
students of the 
Faculty 

25.04.2021 

Workshop for staff on Socio 
Emotional Skills - Teamwork and 
Leadership Creativity and problem 
Solving 

115 All staff members  22.05.2021 

Workshop for staff on Socio 
Emotional Skills - Digital Based 
Teaching Learning and Assessment 
(Online Mode) to Enriching Digital 
Based Learning, Teaching and 
Assessment 

65 Academic staff 28.06.2021 

Workshop for staff on Socio 
Emotional Skills -Management and 
Entrepreneurship: Adaptability and 
flexibility 

50 All staff members  03.07.2021 

Workshop for students on Socio 
Emotional Skills -Digital Based 
Teaching Learning and Assessment 
(Online Mode) 

326 All 1st year students 05.09.2021 

workshop for 3rd Year Students on 
Socio Emotional Skills - Managerial 
and entrepreneurship adaptability 
and flexibility 

97 FAC students 17.04.2021 

Community Link Program for 
students - Understanding the 
multicultural 

174 FAC students 23.04.2021 
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workshop for 3rd Year Students on 
Socio Emotional Skills - Information 
usage and management 

107 FAC students 24.04.2021 

Workshop for staff on Academic 
Writing to promoting Outcome 
Based Education and Learner 
Centered Teaching 

50 FAC Staff members 27.09.2021 

workshop for 3rd Year Students on 
Socio Emotional Skills - Team work 
and Leadership to  empower the 
students to work in different teams 
and lead 

110 FAC Students 13.11.2021 

workshop for 3rd Year Students on 
Socio Emotional Skills – 
Entrepreneurship to make the 
students as entrepreneurs 

86 FAC Students 14.11.2021 

Workshop for 3rd Year Students on 
Socio Emotional Skills - Information 
Usage and Management to develop 
the students‘ skills on information 
usage and management for utilizing 
in their works 

118 FAC Students 27.11.2021 

workshop for 3rd Year Students on 
Socio Emotional Skills - Creativity 
and Problem-solving to motivate the 
students‘ creativity and problem-
solving skills in their employments 

97 FAC Students 27.11.2021 

workshop for Staff on Socio 
Emotional Skills -Information Usage 
and Management 

26 
Staff member of the 
Faculty 

30.12.2021 

workshop for Staff on Socio 
Emotional Skills -Responsible 
Decision Making and Self-
Management 

35 
Staff member of the 
Faculty 

31.12.2021 

FT Aqua Culture   25 
Students of Ocean 
University, Sri 
Lanka  

2021.10.03 

Seminars/ Felicitation Ceremony 

FAS 
Seminars: Case Studies on 
Biodiversity Management  

75 
(registered)  

Oceans and lakes 
master‘s Students  
Vrije Universiteit 
Brussel 

17.12.2021 

FAC 

Felicitation Ceremony" for the first 
Professor in Sociology Prof. Dr. 
Rameez Aboobacker (PhD) Dean, 
Faculty of Arts and Culture at South 
Eastern University of Sri Lanka. 

115 All staff members 15.02.2021 

Community Link Program for 
students- Measuring students‘ 
performance through outcomes 

120 FAC Students 08.12.2021 

"Felicitation Ceremony" for the first 
Professor in Political Science Prof. 
Dr. MM. Fazil Dean, Faculty of Arts 
and Culture at South Eastern 
University of Sri Lanka. 

115 All staff members 23.012.2021 
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Table 4.10: Details of the Programmes, Seminars and Workshops conducted by Career Guidance 

Unit (CGU) of SEUSL in 2021. 
 

Conducting training programmes/ field demonstrations  

FAC 

Residential Field Program - 
The Importance of Social 
Integration and the 
Consequences of missing it 
today 

260 FAC Students 12.06.2021 

FMC 
Online Industrial Training 
Programme 

 320 
Final year 
Undergraduate 
Students 

05.06. 2021 – 
             
12.07.2021 

FT 
3rd International certificate 
course on coconut plantation 
management   

25 Technical officers 2021 

Organizing exhibitions /Public performances  

FAC 

Sharamadana activities 
conducted in and around the 
faculty to Keep the 
environment clean and tidy 

103 All staff members 07.12.2021 

Career fair for FAC students 
through virtual mode to 
Enhancing the Employability 
of the Faculty Graduates 

305 
All 3rd & 4th Year 
students 

01.09.2021   
02.09.2021 

Career fair for FAC students 
through virtual mode to 
Enhancing the Employability 
of the Faculty Graduates 

225 
All 3rd & 4th Year 
students 

18.09.2021   
19.09.2021 

No Title of the programme 
No. of 
Participants 

Target group Date 

SOFT SKILLS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 

Workshops 

1 
Personal development for 
career success 

118 

1st Year Students 

FMC 
18.09.2021 

 

2 
Developing positive 
thinking 

130 FMC 
12.09.2021 

 

3 
Employability skills 
(Experience Sharing) 

50 
Third and Final Year  
undergraduates 

FMC 
11.09.2021 

 

4 
Time management for future 
success 

95 2nd Year Students FMC 
18.09.2021 

 

5 
Team work and leadership 
creativity and problem 
solving 

152 
3rd & final Year 
students 

FMC 09.10.2021 

6 
Developing Emotional 
Intelligence 

128 1st Year Students FAC 
11.09.2021 

 

7 
CV Writing and Interview 
Skills 

68 
3rd and 4th Year 
Students 

FAC 
11.09.2021 
 

8 Time Management 185 
1st and 2nd Year 
Students 

FAC 
11.09.021 
 

9 

Research Methods for 
Conducting Impactful 
Research (Volunteer 
Programme) 

40 
3rd and 4th Year 
students 

FAC 
21.08.2021 
 

10 

Data Analysis Using SPSS 
for Undergraduate Research 
Project – Part I (Volunteer 
Programme) 

45 
3rd and 4th Year 
students 

FAC 
7.08.2021 
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11 

Data Analysis Using SPSS 
for Undergraduate Research 
Project – Part 2 (Volunteer 
Programme) 

95 
3rd & 4th year 
undergraduates 

FAC 
8.08.2021 
 

12 
How to search Professional 
Courses in the Job market 

62 1st Year students FIA 17.01.2021 

13 Effective Learning skills 130 1st Year students FIA 09.04.2021 

14 
Managing Stress with 
Positive attitude 

150 2nd Year students FIA 08.08.2021 

15 
CV Writing and Interview 
Skills 

90 3rd and 4th Year 
students 

FIA 28.08.2021 

16 Leadership Skills 75 FIA 11.09.2021 

17 Emotional Intelligence 160 2nd Year students FIA 08.09.2021 

18 

Research Methods for 
Conducting Impactful 
Research (Volunteer 
Programme) 

25 
3rd and 4th Year 
students 

FIA 
21.08.2021 
 

19 

Data Analysis Using SPSS 
for Undergraduate Research 
Project. Part I (Volunteer 
Programme) 

35 
3rd and 4th Year 
students 

FIA 
07.08.2021 
 

20 

Data Analysis Using SPSS 
for Undergraduate Research 
Project. Part- 2 (Volunteer 
Programme) 

40 
3rd and 4th Year 
students 

FIA 
08.08.2021 
 

21 Career planning 46 1st, 2nd Year students FAC 29.12.2021 

Orientation Programme 

22 
Challenges in the world of 
work (Awareness 
programme) 

95 1st Year  students FAS 
25.08.2021 
 

23 Developing career goals 116 1st Year  students FIA 17.08.2021 

Career Guidance Programme 

24 Personal Development 170 1st Year students FMC 30.09.2021 

25 Motivation 195 1st Year students FMC 06.10.2021 

26 Goal setting 204 1st Year students FMC 29.09.202 

27 
SWOT Analysis and SMART 
Planning 

180 1st Year students FMC 07.10.2021 

28 Career planning 78 1st Year students FMC 08.10.2021 

Linkage Programme  (Media Programme) 

29 
AIESEC in Sri Lanka in 
collaboration with Unilever 

 All  students  

21st, 22nd & 
23rd of  
October 
2021 

30 
Free three Series  webinar _ 
Organized by ‗Third Space 
Global‘ 

 All  students  

06th, 08th & 
10th  
December 
2021 

31 Webinar sessions 180 1st year  students FMC 26.01.2021 

32 Webinar sessions 120 1st year  students FMC 25.01.2021 

33 Webinar sessions 110 1st year  students FMC 25.01.2021 

34 Webinar sessions  1st year  students FAC 
07.01.2021 
03.02.2021 
10.02.2021 

35 Webinar sessions 154 1st year  students FIA 
23.02.2021 
24.02.2021 

36 Webinar sessions 170 2nd year  students FIA 
03.03.2021 
04.03.2021 
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Table 4.11: Details of the Programmes, Seminars and Workshops conducted by Staff Development 
Centre (SDC) of SEUSL in 2021. 

 

Sponsored Activities of SDC 

 
 
Table 4.12: Details of the Programmes, Seminars and Workshops conducted by Centre for Gender 

Equivalnce and Equity (CGEE) of SEUSL in 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A. Local Workshop/ Seminar/ Training Programme/ Short cources 

S/N Programme 
No of 
Participant/s 

Target group 

01.  
Structural Equation Modelling (with AMOS) for 
Quantitative Research for our Academic Staff 
members - Batch - I 

12 Academic Staff 

02.  
Structural Equation Modelling (with AMOS) for 
Quantitative Research for our Academic Staff 
members - Batch – II 

10 Academic Staff 

03.  
Conscious Raising Programme on GEE and SGBV - 
Focusing on Legal Aspect 

70 
Non Academic Staff 
(Clerical & Allied) 

04.  
Staff Development Program for Hostel Sub-
wardens 

10 Sub Warden of SEUSL 

05.  Training Programme for SEUSL Drivers 17 Drivers of SEUSL 

06.  
Capacity Development Program for Management 
Assistant and Allied Grade Staff Members 

100 
Non Academic Clerical 
Allied Staff Members 

Title of the Programme 
Number 

Participated 
Target group Date 

Media programme    

Problems face by Women during 
COVID-19 pandemics 

Radio 
programme 

General public   
16.03.2021 

Workshop    

Conscious raising Programme 
GEE/SGBV 

475 
Freshers 2019/2020 Faculty of 
Management & Commerce 

28.09.2021 

Conscious raising Programme 
GEE/SGBV 

250 
Freshers, Faculty of Applied 
Sciences 

12.07.2021 

An informative session on Gender 
Equity & Equality by Director/GEE 

344 
Freshers, Faculty of Arts & 
Culture 

01.08.2021 

An informative session on Gender 
Equity & Equality by Director/GEE 

109 
Freshers Faculty of 
Technology 

02.09.2021 

Conscious Raising on GEE/SGBV: 
Focusing on Legal aspects 

88 
University Non Academic 
Staff Members 

26.11.2021 

'Women in Media, Women and 
Media' 
 

138 

General Public, especially to 
Women. This programmes 
was organized by American 
Corner Jaffna, Hydarabad, 
and Ahmadabad, India 

30.11.2021 
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5 Capital Works          

5.1 Details of Project Expenditure  

 

 The summary details of each ongoing major capital project and latest photograph are shown 

in tables 5.1 and 5.2. 

 

 Table 5.1: Family Quarters 

     Year Awarded 2019 

Awarded Description of the 
Project 

Design, Construction and Commissioning of the Building 
Complex for Staff Quarters  (Academic/ Non Academic) 
at SEUSL, Oluvil 

Loan/Grant Grant 

Funding Agency GOSL 

TEC  Rs. 272,100,000.00 

Cumulative Expenditure as 
at 31.12.2021 

160,973,271.69 

% of Physical Progress 66% 
 

 

 

Table 5.2: Agro Tech Park Malwatta 

Year Awarded 2021 

Awarded Description of the 
Project 

Infrastructure Development of Agro Tech Park Malwatta, 
SEUSL 

Loan/Grant Grant 

Funding Agency GOSL 

TEC  Rs. 149,520,555.00 

Cumulative Expenditure as 
at 31.12.2021 

41,577,093.35 

% of Physical Progress 25% 
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6 Sustainable Development Activities      

6.1 Achievement of Sustainable Development Activities 

Strategies, Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and the targets incorporated in 

the Strategic Plan (2019-2023) related to sustainable development under the 

objectives 6.4 and  6.6 of the goal 6 and achievements made in 2021 in each 

KPIs are given in the below table. 

 
Goal 6:  Good Governance and Sustainability. 

Objective 6.4: To enhance financial sustainability of the university through 

creation of diversified sources of income and fostering sound financial 

management. 

Objective 6.6: To enhance our staff and institutional commitments towards 

sustainable development agenda. 

 
Table 6.1: Achievements made in 2021 related to KPIs under objective 6.4 and 6.6 of the goal 6 

Ref. 
No 

Strategies KPIs Target 
Achievement in 
2021 

6.4.1 

Form a fund –raising 
committee of the 
university to search, 
campaign and bid for 
potential competitive 
aids and philanthropic 
sources with the 
objective of raising 
funds for 
implementing  the 
strategic plan and 
master plan of SEUSL 

Percentage 
of generated 
(non-grant) 
annual 
income over 
total income 

Increases the 
percentage of 
generated 
(non-grant) 
annual income 
over total 
income to at 
least 10% by 
2023 

The income for 
the year 2021 
was accounted 
Rs. 22,220,181.3 
from the 
following 
sources: 
Registration, 
examination, 
interest, sales, 
fine, and other 
sources 

6.4.2 

Convince the state 
authorities for 
increased funding for 
having 
overwhelmingly 
accommodated the 
government‘s policy 
to provide increased 
access to higher 

Use of 
Kuwait 
funding 
opportuniti
es 
 

Increase the 
use of Kuwait 
funding 
opportunities 
for financing at 
least 50% of 
the remaining 
projects under 
the master 

Allocation made 
by the Kuwait 
project Rs. 40.5 
million  for the 
year 2021 
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education  plan by 2023 

6.4.3 

Encourage the 
faculties, CEDPL and 
other functional units 
to introduce a wide 
range of financially 
viable academic 
programmes and 
extension activities 
which generate 
surpluses for re-
investment 

Competitive 
grant raised 
per annum 
to annual 
capital grant 
ratio 

Increase the 
competitive 
grant raised 
per annum to 
annual capital 
grant ratio to 
at least 0.3: 1 
by 2023 

Rs. 43.5 million 
(total Income) 
was generated 
from CEDPL 
and other 
postgraduate 
programmes 
during the year 
2021.  

6.4.4 

Revitalize the teaching 
, learning , 
management and 
marketing strategies 
at CEDPL with the 
aim of attracting more 
students to the 
existing and potential 
external /part –time 
programmes 

Absorption 
capacity : 
Percentage 
utilization 
(Disbursem
ent) of 
capital grant 

Increase the 
percentage 
utilization 
(that is , 
Disbursement 
) of annual 
capital grant to 
least 95% 

Nil from the 

capital grant  

Note: Own 
Generation of 
Fund by CEDPL 

6.4.5 

Reform the business 
model of CEDPL so 
that it may offer 
financially feasible 
multi-disciplinary 
academic/Professiona
l programmes 
collaborated by 
different faculties 
/universities 

Reduction 
in cost per 
Student 

Reduce the 
cost per 
student by 4% 
by 2023 

There are no 

significant 

variations 

between 2020 

and 2021  

2020 – (Rs.) 

379,511.72  

2021 – (Rs.) 

379,484.38 

Deferent is Rs. 
26.89 

6.4.6 

Improve the quality of 
financial reports of the 
university and make it 
publicly available 

  

Financial reports 
are usually 
placed at the 
financial 
committee and 
also the report is 
sent to all 
faculties. 
Meantime, 
Annual report 
placed at the 
parliament   

6.4.7 Publish internally the   In order to 
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quarterly financial / 
budget progress of 
faculties, units and of 
the university as a 
whole thereby 
enforcing 
transparency, quality 
financial scrutiny and 
accountability 

maintain the 
quality and 
transparency of 
the operation, 
The reports are 
distributed to 
the deans of the 
faculties and 
other relevant 
departments 

6.4.8 

Increase the 
reinvestment of 
generated income on 
capital, research and 
human development 
activities 
underpinning 
organizational 
sustainability 

  

2  million 
allocated to the 
research, and 
Human 
development 
during the year 
2021 

6.4.9 

Abolish all non-value 
adding administrative 
/ procumbent 
practices at the 
university in order to 
enhance our financial 
absorption capacity 
and efficiency 

  

Traditional  
practices of GRN 
, SRN were 
computerized to 
make the 
function 
efficiently 

6.4.10 

Use the history of 
spending , asset 
utilizations and 
accountability of 
faculties and units to 
inform future resource  
allocations thereto  

  
Efficiency of 
Routine process 
are improved  

6.4.11 

Devise and implement 
a mechanism to 
perform assets utility 
survey to monitor and 
improve efficient asset 
utilization 

  

According to the 
circular, board of 
survey was 
conducted at the 
end of each year 

6.4.12 

Save recurrent 
expenses and make 
use of it for students 
and staff 
empowerment and 
welfare activities 

  

Instructions and 
controlled 
mechanism are 
followed by the 
respective heads. 
Certain portion 
of generated 
fund are 
allocated for 
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staff and faculty 
development. 

6.6.1. 

Develop our 
institutional policy 
framework to inform 
our teaching, learning, 
procurement and 
management 
strategies by 
sustainable 
development agenda 

Student 
enrolment 
to higher 
education 

Increase the 
enrolment by 
another 25% 
by 2023 

New intake for 

2018/2019 and 

2019/2020 

batches were: 

1525(following) 

and 1931 

(following) 

respectively. An 

increase of total 

students‘ intake 

were recorded in 

the year 2021. 

6.6.2 

Integrate the 
sustainability 
development 
strategies into our 
teaching, learning and 
assessment strategies 
preferably through 
curricula 

Energy 
efficiency: 
per capita 
consumptio
n of 
electricity 

Reduce the per 
capita 
consumption 
of electricity 
(electricity 
consumption 
per student ) 
by at least 5% 
by 2023 

Average 
monthly usage: 
17.40 units/ 
student 

6.6.3 

Promote sustainable 
consumption of 
electricity and water 
resources through 
improved planning, 
supervision and 
effective 
accountability 
measures 

Per capita 
consumptio
n of water 

Reduce the per 
capita 
consumption 
of Water 
(Water 
consumption 
per student ) 
by at least 5% 
by 2023 

Average 
monthly usage: 
0.35 units/ 
student 

6.6.4 

Strengthen the 
internal audit division 
to underpin our 
commitment to 
sustainability through 
regular and 
professional audit on 
sustainability 

  

Facilities were 

arranged  

6.6.5 

Conduct regular 
awareness and 
training programmes 
to student, staff, SMEs 
and public to promote 
their engagement 
towards sustainable 

  

OSPIM, Career 

guidance Unit, 

Staff 

Development 

Centre, Student 

Support Services 
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development goals Unit, faculties 

and libraries are 

conducting such 

programs every 

year  

6.6.6 

Invest on 
renewable/clean 
energy sources and 
recycling 
infrastructures. 

  

Constructed 
waste water 
treatment plant 
(Table 6.2) 

 

6.2 Action taken for Environmental Protection 

Regular Environmental Protection Activities 

1. Annual Tree Planting Programme  

 University founder‘s day  

 First day of the year 

 Independence day  

 National tree planting programme of the country  

Eg: Name of trees: Arjuna, Khaya, Bukme, Ceylon Ebony, iluppa, 

Mahogany, Rambotan and Manjadi. 

 
2. Seasonal Programme  

 Before starting the rainy season, prepare the selected area for 

perennial tree planting 

 pruning the Trees and Bushes to rejuvenate the biological 

activities to improve the aesthetical value of the vegetation 

 Planting the Arujua Tree alongside the Kaliodai River. 

 Maintain the existing bio diversity of the university. 

 

3. Monthly Programme  

 Gap filling planted area eg: Way side and river side 

 Establishing new landscaping area 
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4. Daily programme  

 Collecting dried fallen leaves and making compost 

 Establishing new plants at plant nursery for future planting 

 

 Placed different coloured trash bins to collect the food waste, polythene 

waste and Paper waste separately. Collected garbages are being taken to 

the garbage collecting Centre of the Pradeshiya Sabha - Addalaichenai.  

 

 Constructed Gabion wall for erosion control at the east part of the 

University alongside the Kaliyodai River. 

 

 Constructed wastewater treatment plant: A portion of the treated water is 

being used for the ornamental garden.Table 1.8 shows the details of waste 

water collection for the water treatment plant. 
 

Table 6.2: Details of waste water collection for the water treatment plant 

S.No Location 
Water 
Collection per 
day (m3/day) 

35% of soacked 
water in Soakage pit 

Water collection 
for the treatment 
plant(m3/day) 

01 
Hela Bojun 
Canteen 

3.00 1.05 1.95 

02 FVG - 01 31.00 Directly send to STP 31.00 

03 FVG - 01(A) 48.00 16.8 31.20 

04 FVB - 01 21.00 7.35 13.65 

05 FVB - 02 48.00 16.8 31.20 

06 FVB - 03 48.00 Directly send to STP 48.00 

07 Staff Quaters 6.00 Directly send to STP 6.00 

Total water Collection per day (m3/day)  163.00 

Four Circles 20.00 in each  -80.00 

Treated balance water output  83.00 

Treated water reuse for gardening 
purposes 

 20.00 

  STP-Sewerage Treatment Plant 

 

 Fauna Flora diversity is maintained at the University. 
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7 Details of Financial Progress        

7.1 Income 

(Rs. Million) 

 
  Notes: 

 (1) "Government Grant" refers to treasury grant received for Recurrent Expenditure, Capital 

Expenditure, Mahapola & Bursaries.  

 (2) "Other Income" refers to Income from interests, fees, sales and miscellaneous receipts and 

generated income from extension programmes & other activities too. 

 

7.2. Generated Income (Extension Programmes and Postgraduate Studies) 

 

7.3. Recurrent Expenditure of Major Programmes 
                                                                                                             (Rs. Million) 

Year 

General 
Administration 
& Staff 
Services 

Academic 
Services 
(2) 

Welfare 
Services 
(3) 

Maintenance 
Services 

Others  
(1) 

Total 
Recurrent 
Expenditure 

2020 380.37 991.76 90.51 83.74 19.35 1,565.73 

2021 361.71 1,077.17 118.34 79.14 22.38 1,658.74 

(Excludes Depreciation) 

    Notes:  

(1) "Others" refers to expenditure on External Examinations, Ancillary Activities, Extension Courses, Physical 
Education,  etc.  

(2) "Academic Services" includes Teaching Resources as well. 
(3) "Welfare Services" includes expenditure incurred on Mahapola & Bursaries too. 

  

7.3.1 Recurrent Expenditure on Academic Services 
                                                                                                (Rs. Million) 

Year FAC FMC FAS FIA FE  FT 
Library 

Services 

Exami

nation 
Total 

2020 215.82 171.81 172.27 101.71 172.07 85.58 52.78 19.70 991.76 

2021 234.34 189.69 176.68 116.33 188.71 93.47 56.90 21.05 1,077.17 

year Government Grant (1) Other Income (2) Total 

2020 1,731.33 24.82 1,756.15 

2021 1,861.68 22.22 1,883.90 

Subject Collection in 2020 (Rs.) 
Collection in 

20201(Rs.) 

Undergraduate Studies  18,779,600.00 38,170,202.00 

Diploma Programmes 2,053,680.00 1,914,050.00 

Certificate Programmes -- - 

Postgraduate Studies 5,136,250.00 9,310,320.00 

Total 25,969,530.00 49,394,472.00 
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7.4. Capital Expenditure 
               (Rs. Million) 

Year 
Construction 

Lands, Equipments, Furniture, Library 
Books, Periodicals & Vehicles 

Rehabilitation & Maintenance of 
Capital Assets 

Other Capital 
Projects (1) 

Total Capital 
Expenditure 

Government Grant 

2020 53.37 46.00 38.34 4.33 142.04 

2021 124.75 22.23 8.84 10.77 166.59 

Note: 
(1) "Other Capital Projects" refers to grants for Technology stream, postgraduate research, knowledge enhancement & institutional development, staff 
development, etc  

 

  7.5. Expenditure (Except Depriciation and Mahapola Bursary) 

Subject 
Provision in. Expenditure in Savings / Excess Rs. 

2020(Rs) 2021(Rs) 2020(Rs) 2021(Rs)  2020(Rs) 2021(Rs) 

Recurrent Except Project 1,453,500,000.00 1,665,000,000.00 1,508,898,708.00 1,571,016,532.04 (55,398,708.00) 93,983,467.96 

Capital Except Project 190,500,000.00 250,000,000.00 142,039,422.19 166,595,426.27 48,460,577.81 83,404,573.73 

Total 1,644,000,000.00 1,915,000,000.00 1,650,938,130.19 1,737,611,958.31 (6,938,130.19) 177,388,041.69 

 
7.6 Financial Performance Analysis – 2021 

 7.6.1 Cost per student (Recurrent and Capital expenses) 

Faculty 
No. of Students Cost per Student (Rs.) 

2020 2021 2020 2021 

Arts and Culture 1,183 1,258 396,524.94 394,806.58 

Management and Commerce 1,277 1,402 348,629.51 343,831.58 

Applied Sciences 769 742 438,104.81 446,636.75 

Islamic Studies and Arabic Languages 1,274 1,308 293,928.29 297,462.49 

Engineering 441 479 604,265.35 602,503.31 

Technology 614 655 353,480.56 351,237.90 
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7.7: Annual Accounts – 2021 
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                                                                                 SOUTH EASTERN UNIVERSITY OF SRI LANKA 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

For the Year Ended 31st December 2021 

     2021 2020 

   Rs.   Rs.  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities  

 Surplus / (Deficit) from Ordinary Activities 4,996,801 (16,054,534) 

Adjustments   

Interest for the year (6,715,660) (9,735,771) 

Depreciation in prior year adjustments 32,953,731 - 

Settlement of Sub unit Transaction 156,710 - 

Distribution of Income                                                                                                                                              

Sale of unserviceable Articles 

1,844.352 

(60,300) 

6,061,802 

(866,070) 

Non - Cash Movements   

Depreciation  560,044,143 544,110,206 

Provision for Gratuity 34,536,260 54,763,271 

Amortization of Capital Grant (558,894,951) (539,397,322) 

Prior Year Adjustments 2,108 (3,450,751) 

Net Surplus/(deficit) from the Ordinary Activities 68,863,194 35,430,831 

  

  

  

Increase / Decrease in Accounts Receivables (4,982,228) (3,224,138) 

Increase / Decrease in Inventory 1,146,068 1,978,725 

Increase / Decrease in Current Liability 4,998,409 (25,538,922) 

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 70,025,443 8,646,496 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

Acquisition of Fixed Assets (166,957,226) (146,034,070) 

Deposit in Fixed Deposit (60,774,827) (31,559,909) 

Withdrawal of Fixed Deposit/ Interest 22,903,918 41,237,707 

Sale of unserviceable Articles 60,300 866,070 

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities (204,767,835) (135,490,202) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities    

Government Grant for Capital Expenditure 212,953,390 221,000,000 

Restricted Fund 48,978,934 1,049,891 

Utilization of SFA Fund (800,000) (4,254,271) 

Transferred to University Development & VC Funds (20,857,988)  

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities 240,274,336 217,795,619 

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 105,531,944 90,951,913 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Period 118,094,461 27,142,547 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period 223,626,405 118,094,461 
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        SOUTH EASTERN UNIVERSITY OF SRI LANKA 

 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st  DECEMBER 2021 

       
 

 

Description 
   Capital Grant       

spent and  
unspent 

Restricted 
Fund 

Gift and 
Donations 

Revaluation  
Surplus 

Accumulated 
Fund/ General 

Reserve 

Funds 
SFAs      

 
 
Differed 
Revenue Total 

 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 
      

1,774,986,636 
       

25,426,188       
3,439,076,373     510,537,790 (502,486,976)       11,213,092 

-   
5,258,753,103 

Net Movements in Capital Grant 
Spent & Unspent 

         
212,953,390 

  -      -                                                   -    
                            
-    

                  -    
-      

212,953,390 

Amortization of Capital  
Grant/Donation/Differed Revenue 

       
(524,564,952)  

-          
 

  (33,534,189) 
                        -     -                           -    

 
(795,810) 

  
(558,894,951) 

Deficit /Surplus on Revaluation    
                           

- 
-              -                              20,350,000 -                                            - 

- 
20,350,000 

Changes in /(Transferred to)Restricted 
Fund 

                            
-    

48,978,934   -                                                -    
                            

(20,857,988) 
                  -    

-          
28,120,946 

Prior year Adjustments  in Depreciation                -        -                   -                                              - -                   - - - 

Transferred to Differed Revenue   - - -  (3,683,965)  3,683,965 - 

Net Movement in Donation 
                            

-    
 -                   192,100,046                                      -    

                            
-    

                  -    
- 

192,100,046 

Distribution from Current year SFAs 
Income/ Transfer to funds 

                            
-    

  -                      -                                                   -    
                            
-    

2,263,337 
-          

2,263,337 

Surplus/Deficit for the period 
                            

-    
             -  -                                                  -    4,996,801                          -    

- 
4,996,801 

Balance as at 31st December 2021 1,463,375,073 
       

74,405,122 
3,597,642,230       530,887,790 (522,032,127)        13,476,429 

 
2,888,156 

 
 5,160,642,673 
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SOUTH EASTERN UNIVERSITY OF SRI LANKA 

Accounting Policies 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT POLICIES 

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 

1.1. General Information 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka (SEUSL) is established under the Universities Act No 16 of 

1978, and located in the Eastern Province, Ampara District, Oluvil in Sri Lanka. 

 

1.2. Principal activities and nature of operations 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka is one of the National universities mainly operates on  

Government  funds  and  promoting  higher  education  and  research  in  the  field  of Engineering, 

Social Sciences, Applied Sciences, Islamic and Arabic Languages, Commerce and Management and 

Technology.  

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

2.1. Statement of Compliance 

The  Statement  of  Financial  Position,  Statement  of  Financial  Performance,  Statement  of 

Changes  in  Equity  and  the  Statement  of  Cash  Flows  together  with  the  accounting policies  

and  notes  have  been  prepared  in  compliance  with  the  Sri  Lanka  Public  Sector Accounting  

Standards  (SLPSAS)  issued  by  the  Institute  of  Chartered  Accounts  of  Sri Lanka  and  the  

requirements  of  the  Universities  Act  No  16  of  1978  and  subsequence amendments   thereto.   

The   Annual   Statement   of   Accounts   comprises   the   financial statements of the year 2021. 

2.2. Basis of Measurement 

The financial statements of SEUSL have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the historical 
cost convention unless stated otherwise. 

2.3. Functional and Presentation Currency 

The  financial  statements  are  presented  in  Sri  Lankan  Rupees  (SLR),  which   is  the functional 

currency and presentation currency and all values are rounded to the nearest rupees unless stated 

otherwise. 

2.4. Comparative Information 

The  comparative  figures  have  been  re-arranged  where  necessary  to  conform  to  the 

presentation  in  the  current  year.  Also the last year figures shown for comparison purpose. 

2.5. Use of Estimates and Judgments 

The  presentation  and  preparation  of  financial  statements  in  conformity  with  SLPSASs 

requires  management  to  make  judgments,  estimates  and  assumptions  that  affect  the 

application of the accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and   

expenses.   Actual   results   may   differ   from   these   provisional   estimates   and judgmental 

decisions. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

effects on that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 

current and future periods. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3.1. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

(a) Recognition and Measurement 

Property, Plant & Equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.   The cost of property,  
plant  &  equipment  is  the  cost  of  purchase  or  construction  together  with  any incidental expenses 
thereon. 

(b)  Cost 

The cost of property, plant & equipment comprise its purchase or construction cost and any directly 
contributable cost of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. 
 

(c)  Depreciation 

Depreciation is charged to the Statement of Financial Performance on the straight line basis at the 
following rates per annum in order to write off the cost of such assets over their estimated useful      
lives.Depreciation is provided on pro rata basis on the asset purchased/constructed/disposed of during 
the year. 
 

Buildings     5% 
Furniture & Fittings    10% 
Lab & Teaching Equipment   20% 
Motor Vehicles     20% 
Water Supply Networks    10% 
Library books & Periodicals   20% 
Cloaks      20% 
Roads      20% 
Electricity Transmission Networks   10% 
Intangible Assets     20% 
Others       20% 

 
Land 

Lands consist of around 224 acres at various locations as follows. 

Oluvil 178.98  acres 
Samanthurai 6.72 acres 
Malwatta 35.25  acres 
Weeramunai 3.00 acres 
Mountlavinia APC 17.64 perch  

 

Land is valued at fair value in year 2021, as determined by the Valuation Department, Uva Provincial 

Office. Meanwhile, Mountlavinia APC land is valued in 2016.  

 (d)Revaluation of the Property, Plant, &Equipments 

The lands of the university have been revalued as at 31st December 2011 and recognized to the books of 
accounts. 
On  the  request  of  SEUSL  the  Government  Valuation Department  revalued  the  Buildings which 
had been fully depreciated in the books of Accounts and the revalued amounts have been incorporated 
into the accounts with effect from 01st January 2021. 
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On the recommendation of the Audit and Management Committee and with the approval of the 
University Council, three teams were assigned to re-value the Furniture, Equipment and Sports 
Equipment which were already fully depreciated. Accordingly the revalued amount of Equipment  and  
Sports  Equipment  were  incorporated  to  the  accounts  with  effect  from 01st July 2020 with the 
approval of the University Council. 

 

3.2. TAX 

(a) Income Tax 

University is not liable to pay income tax on its‘ net income according to the prevailing tax rules. 

(b) Payee Tax 

University currently remits payee tax after deducting from monthly salaries of the liable employees for 

income tax which is not a part of the University expenditure. Hence, Payee tax is not disclosed in the 

accounts of the University. 

3.3. INVENTORIES 

Inventories  of  the  University  have  been  physically  verified  and  valued  at  cost  as  at  31st 

December   2021.   The   cost   incurred   in   bringing   inventories   to   its   percent   location,   are 
accounted on FIFO basis. 
 
3.3.1 
Stock verification as at 31.12.2021 was carried out by the Board of Survey appointed by the Vice 
Chancellor (Accounting Officer), SEUSL. 

 
The Physical quantities were verified and values were calculated. The certified values of the stock at the 
Main Store at the SEUSL/Oluvil premises,(including Maintenance items) and the sub store at the 
Faculty of the Applied Science, Sammanthurai were verified and the values are taken in the Books of 
Accounts. 
 
3.4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
Trade  and  other  receivables  are  stated  at  the  amount  they  are  estimated  as  per  SLPSAS  01 that 
is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting date. No provision has been made for bad 
and doubtful receivables. 
 
3.4.1 BOND VIOLATION AND LOAN OUTSTANDING 
There is an outstanding loan balance amount of Rs.  29,058.00  from  an  academic  staff  and Bond  
Violation  aggregating  amount  of  Rs. 1,292,189.23 from  two  academic  staff  who  have vacated their 
post. 
 
Action taken to recover the above stated outstanding 

I. Action has been taken to recover the outstanding from the UPF balance 
II. Legal action has already been taken. 

 
3.5. INVESTMENTS IN FIXED DEPOSITS 
 

Investments in Fixed Deposits are stated at present value (SLR). 
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3.6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents disclosed in the statement of financial position and the cash flow statement 
comprised balances of current accounts. 
 

3.7. LIABILITIES & PROVISIONS 

All known liabilities as at the balance sheet date are included in the financial statements and adequate  
provisions  are  made  for  liabilities  which  are  known  to  exist  but  the  amount  of which cannot  be 
determined accurately. 
Obligations  payable  on  demand  or  within  one  year  of  the  balance  sheet  date  are  treated  as 
current liabilities in the balance sheet. Liabilities payable after one year from the balance sheet date are 
treated as non-current liabilities in the balance sheet. 
 
3.7.1 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
Below given schedule shows the list of ongoing Court cases as at 31.12.2021. 

 

     Case No Court Details Details of Cases Foreseen Outcome 

49110/PC/17 MC/AKP 
Students Violent Activities – 
Admin Block 

No financial issue 

B/10486/PC/18 MC/AKP 
Students Violent Activities – 
Admin Block 

No financial issue 

2879/B/PC/21 MC/AKP Generator case May be needed to pay Legal fee 

61715/pvt/21 MC/AKP Quarters Case-MB.Murshid May be needed to pay Legal fee 

DCA/M/1251/19 DC/AKP Bond violation - Imthiyas May be needed to pay Legal fee 

LT/BT/362/2018 
Labour 
Tribunal,Batticaloa 

Termination of Employment 
filled 

May be needed to pay his 
remuneration back 

LT/44/707-708-
709/2020 

Labour 
Tribunal,Ampara 

03- day payment workers 
lodged complaints for 
reinstatement 

May be needed to pay Legal fee  

USAB/1028/21 USAB, Colombo 
MB.Murshid – Normal 
Promotion and confirmation 
issue 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 

CA(W)A 
No.464/2019 

CA, Colombo Against Vacation of post 
May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‘s Department 100,000/= 

CA(W)A 
No.405/2021 

CA, Colombo MIM.Jazeel Exam paper issue 
May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‘s Department 100,000/= 

CA(W)A 
No.251/2021 

CA, Colombo 
MB.Murshid- Normal 
promotion and confirmation 
issue 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‘s Department 100,000/= 

CA(W)A 
No.179/2021 

CA, Colombo 

Challenging recruitment for the 
post of technical Officer(Grade 
II), Segment ―B‖-MAJ.Rozan 
Ahamed 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‘s Department 100,000/= 

SC/FR Application 
No. 307/2019 

Supreme Court, 
Colombo 

MM.Sabras Ahamed 
May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‘s Department 100,000/= 

SC/FR Application 
No. 298/2019 

Supreme Court, 
Colombo 

Challenging recruitment for the 
post of  Lecturer - Economic 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‘s Department 100,000/= 

SC/FR Application 
No. 166/2021 

Supreme Court, 
Colombo 

Challenging recruitment for the 
post of  Director for physical 
Education- CM. Thowfeek 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‘s Department 100,000/= 

SC/FR Application 
No. 143/2021 

Supreme Court, 
Colombo 

MB.Murshid – Normal 
promotion 
and Confirmation issue 

May be needed to pay Legal fee 
for AG‘s Department 100,000/= 

MC: Magistrate Court/AKP: Akkaraipattu/USAB: University services Appeal Board/CA: Court of 

Apeal/ CA(W)A:CA (Write) Application.  
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As we are unable to estimate the compensation at this point of time, no provision has been made in the 

accounts, which might incur in future. 

 

 
3.8. GRATUITY 

 

Provision for gratuity was made in accordance with gratuity Act No 12 of 1983. The Gratuity liability is 
not externally funded nor actually valued but provisioned.  The  gratuity  fund Account  is  shown  
under  the  Non-Current  liabilities  in  the  Statement  of  financial  position, based on half month  salary 
as of the last month  on financial year of all employees for each completed year of service, commencing 
from the first year of service. 
 

3.9. UNIVERSITY PROVIDENT AND EMPLOYEES’ TRUST FUND 
 

Employees of the University are eligible for University Provident Fund (UPF) contributions and 
Employees‘ Trust Fund (ETF) contribution in line with respective status and regulations. The University  
contributes  the defined  percentages (15%) and (3%) of gross emoluments of employees  to  an  
approved  employees‘  provident  fund  and  to  the  employees  trust  fund respectively, which are 
operated extremely. 

 
 

3.10. ACCOUNTING FOR GRANT 
 

Grants that compensate the University for Expenses incurred are recognized as revenue in the Income  
Statement  in  the  same  period  in  which  the  expenses  are  recognized.  Grants that compensate the 
University for the Cost of as asset are recognized in the Income Statement on a systematic basis over the 
useful life time of the related asset. 
 
3.11. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

All  material  commitments  and  contingent  liabilities  are  considered  and  where  necessary 
adjustments or disclosures are made in the financial statements. 
 
3.12. DISCLOSE OF ACCOUNTING INFORMATION OF THE UNIT 
 
Center for External Degrees and Professional Learning (CEDPL) 

Accounts  of  Center  for  External  Degrees  and  Professional  Learning  have  been  prepared 
separately and also incorporated with the University Accounts. 
 

Postgraduate Unit (FMC, FAC, FT, FAS, FIA) 
 
Accounts of Postgraduate Units (FMC, FAC, FT and FAS) have been prepared separately and also 
incorporated with the University Accounts. 
 
Incorporation of University Units Accounts 
 
When  preparing  the  Financial  Statements  of  the  University,  amount  of  Rs.36,426,730 Receivable  
from  Centre  for  External  Degrees  &  Professional  Learning  (CEDPL)  and self financing activities/  
Post Graduates Units (FMC, FAC ,FT&FAS) ,inter sub unit transaction  amount of Rs. 176,500.00 and Rs. 
13,000,000.00 payable to CEDPL by the university are set off. 

 
3.13. INCOME STATEMENT 
 

3.13.1. REVENUE RECOGNITION 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
university and that it can be reliably measured. 
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(a) Enrolment fees from students are recognized as revenue on receipt. 
(b) Fees on examinations, seminars, courses and other educational and activities are   

recognized as revenue on completion of such activity. 
(c) The fees on fee-levying courses recognized to the income statement based on the stage of 

completion of each courses as at the year end. Lecture fees and payments which  are  
related  to  future  periods  are  shown  in  the  Balance  Sheet  as  income received in 
advance under the Reserve & Restricted funds. 
 

(d) Interest income is recognized on accrual basis. 
 

(e) Revenue  from  grant  is  recognized  when  control  of  the  contribution  or  right  to 
receive the contribution is confirmed. 

 
(f) Sponsorship related activities are recognized on receipt 

 
(g) Other income is recognized on accrual basis. 

  

3.13.2. EXPENDITURE RECOGNITION 

 
Expenses are recognized in the income statement on the basis of direct association between 
cost incurred and the earning of specific items of the income. All expenditures incurred in the 
running of the university and maintaining the capital assets have been charged to revenue in 
arriving at the surplus/ deficit for the year. Expenses on examinations, seminars, courses, and 
other  educational  activities  are  recognized  in  the  income  statement  on  completion  of  
such activity. 

 
3.14. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 

 
The  materiality  of  events  occurring  after  the  Balance  Sheet  date  has  been  considered  
and appropriate adjustments, wherever necessary, have been made in the accounts. 
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                                                                   Note 01 - Property, Plant, Equipment & Human Resource Development 

For the Year ended 31st December                       
    

Schedule  

  
   Cost as at   
01.01.2021  

Total 
Addition  

  
   Cost as at 
31.12.2021 

 Accumulated 
Depreciation 

as at 31.12.2020  

             
Depreciation 
for the Year 

2021  

 Accumulated 
Depreciation 

as at 
31.12.2021  

 Net Value as 
at 31.12.2021  

Land 1.01 450,330,000 - 450,330,000 - - - 450,330,000 

Buildings 1.02 5,579,589,228 21,765,382 5,601,354,610 1,493,584,649 257,673,965 1,742,426,059 3,858,928,551 

Furniture 1.03 519,135,732 8,703,015 527,838,747 242,847,267 45,816,915 288,725,899 239,112,848 

Equipment 1.04 1,427,303,643 203,408,028 1,630,711,672 1,008,465,651 213,493,670 1,254,775.691 375,935,981 

Books and Periodicals  200, 445, 837 922,595 201,368,432 179,400,240 10,212,101 189,612,341 11,756,091 

Vehicles 1.05 114,363,388 - 114,363,388 109,325,210 3,493,664 112,818,874 1,544,514 

Softwares 1.06 6,588,505 - 6,588,505 2,483,203 1,317,701 3,800,904 2,787 ,601 

Road 1.07 209,727,402 - 209,727,402 167,755,783 14,648,239 182,404,022 27,323,380 

Telephone & Network 1.08 47,672,367 - 47,672,367 47,672,367 - 47,672,367 - 

Electricity  1.09 50,192,158 177,744 50,369,903 23,176 ,273 4,553,679 27,729,953 22,639,950 

Water Supply  1.10 13,882,615 - 13,882,615 8,592,394 1,388,262 9.980,655 3,901,960 

Cloak 1.11 3,690,803 - 3,690,803 3,690,803 - 3,690,803 - 

Academic Publication/International 
Symposium 

 18,936,343 926,545 19,862,888 13,344,649 2,358,386 15,703,035  4,159,853 

Competency Building of Academics  26,316,778 4,991,561 31,308,339 19,507,908 2,726,302 22,234,211 9,074,129 

Quality Assurance & Accreditation  10,553,957 1,150,210 11,704,167 4,119,949 2,185,779 6,305,728 5,398,439 

Research &Academic Development  568,000 3,560,315 4,128,315 170,400 113,600 284,000 3,844,315 

Attending International Conference  149,100 142,862 291,962 44,730 46,519 91,249 200,713 

Final Year Projects  76,808 - 76,808 23,042 15,362 38,404 38,404 

Total  8,679,522,664 245,748,258 8,925,270,922 3,324,204,519 560,044,143 3,908,294,194 5,016,976,728 



Annual Report and Accounts 2021 | South Eastern University of Sri Lanka         

 

 

98 

                                 SOUTH EASTERN UNIVERSITY OF SRI LANKA 

 Notes to the Accounts  

For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2021 2020 

 Rs  Rs 

Note 02 -  Work in Progress 
  

 
 

New Quarters for Academic& Non Academics   160,973,271.69 81,164,894 
 Infrastructure for Agro Tech Park FOT   41,577,093.35 - 
New Laboratory Block at FASc   3,365,343.69 - 
    

    205,915,708.73            81,164,894 

Note 03 - Financial Assets      

Fixed Deposits  3.01 27,098,555.46            25,904,408.13 
    

    27,098,555.46                        25,904,408.13 

 
Note 04 – Inventories/ Stocks 
Stores Advance Account – Supplies 
Stores Advance Account – Maintenance 
 

 
4.01  
4.02 

 
5,593,352.47 
2,375,258.62              

 
5,742,078.54 
3,372,600.22 

  7,968,611.09              9,114,678 .76 

Note 05 – Accounts Receivable    

    

Security Deposits 5.01 5,227,428.96              5,253,928.96 

Distress Loan 5.02 25,458,742.43            28,111,786.60 

Staff Loan 5.03 99,620.00                   62,050.00 

Vehicle Loan 5.04 62,000.00                 176,000.00 

Computer Loan 5.05 444,400.00                515,500.00 

Motor Cycle Loan 5.06 344,851.89                 349,016.44 

Festival Advance 5.07 420, 830.00 292,500.00 

Salary Advance 5.08 32,159.00                   40,359.00 

Special Advance 5.09 4,800.00                     7,600.00 

Bond Violation 5.10 18,337,779.10 20,062,088.85 

Miscellaneous Advance 5.11 90,900.00 - 

Postal Franking Machine Advance  270.00 32,187.50 

Research Advance 5.12 207,492.00 129,000.00 

Dues to SEUSL 5.13 19.983,616.69 10,399,940.14 

Dues from CEDPL  27,576,589.49 8,840,335.05- 

Salary Receivable 5.14 2,927,789.01 3,253,493.63 

Dues from –PGU-MA and MBA  8,729,172.43 1,059,014.97 

Dues from PGU-FOT   33,570.00 3,800.00 

Supplies Advance (Purchasing)  25,000.00 - 

Dues from PGU- FIA  16,445.00 - 

Dues from PGU-FASc  70, 953.00 - 

Inter Units Transaction set off   (36,426,729.92) (9,903,150.02) 

 

    

    73,667,679.08              68,685,451.12                                                                                                                                                                                       
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For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2021 

Rs 

2020 

Rs 

Note 06 – Fixed Deposit SFA Programmes 

 

Centre for External Degrees & Professionals 

Learning 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FMC 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit – FAC 

  

 

 

 

161,536,609.08 

5,668,896.87 

142,569.48 

 

117,776,171.96 

5,410,767.52 

136,077.69 

 

 

   167,348,075.43 123,323,017.17 

 

Note 07- Interest Receivables 

 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka  

Centre for External Degrees & Professional 

Learning 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FMC 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit-FAC 

  

242,759.36 

751,067.20 

63,505.46 

1,597.12 

 

199,686.61 

369,573.75 

60,613.78 

1,524.39 

 

  1,058,929.14 631,398.53 

 

Note 08 – Cash & Cash Equivalents 

 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 7000  1696 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 7000  1700 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 9000  1704 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 0000  1708 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 5000  1715 

Peoples Bank - 064 1001 7000  0025 

Peoples Bank - 064 1001 6000  0950 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 6000 1692 (CEDPL) 

Peoples Bank  - 228 10014004 2429 (CEDPL) 

Peoples Bank  - 228 1001 2003 2544 (FMC) 

Peoples Bank  - 228 1001 5004 0340 (FAC) 

Peoples Bank - 228 1001 6005 2714 (FT) 

Peoples Bank – 064 1012 4004 6778 (FAS) 

  

60,151,741.71 

82,395,879.13 

20,169,317.13 

882,357.55 

8,150,728.14 

1,168,200.91 

928,186.95 

28,597,959.92 

16,300.00 

13,869,795.51 

5,551,643.08 

1,258,675.00 

485,620.00 

 

10,233,836.14 

34,665,004.15 

7,826,004.46 

211,772.55 

17,351,343.56 

1,080,065.25 

367,973.20 

28,937,824.04 

16,300.00 

14,346,141.99 

2,368,721.08 

689,475.00 

- 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

  223,626,405.03 118,094,461.42 

Note 09 – Restricted Funds 

 

Memorial Price Funds 

Short ICIT Course 

Scholarship for foeeign Students 

UNDP Grant 

Research Project  

 

348,000.00 

434,454.00 

684, 600.00 

`165,077.50 

12,830,200.49 

248,000.00 

434,454.00 

474,600.00 

165,077.50 

21,073.74 
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For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2021 

Rs 

2020 

Rs 

 

Note 09 – Restricted Funds Cont…. 

 

Centre for Gender Equity 

Awareness Programme for Students by UGC- 

Sediment Survey & Geomorphology Survey 

NCAS Grant – Higher Studies 

University Development Fund 

Vice Chancellor Fund 

Faculty Development Fund - FAC 

Faculty Development Fund - FMC 

Faculty Development Fund - FE 

Faculty Development Fund - FASc 

Faculty Development Fund – FT 

Research & Publication Fund – FAC 

Research & Publication Fund – FMC 

Research & Publication Fund – FT 

  

598,154.72 

600,000.00 

863,539.00 

1,424,826.32 

21,622,731.05 

8,840,814.91 

7,160,202.96 

4,196,116.38 

105,915.00 

9,049.00 

2 ,660.00 

7.302,885.31 

7,214,034.87 

1,860.00 

 

511,421.25 

600,000.00 

1,020,000.00 

- 

- 

- 

6,507,020.39 

3,118,050.09 

- 

- 

2,000.00 

6,207,521.80 

6,115,768.76 

1,200.00 

 

  74,405,121.51 25,426,187.53 

Note 10 - Capital Grant  

Capital Grant Spent 

Capital Contribution – MRR 

Capital Grant Spent – IRQUE 

Capital Contribution – Kuwaith fund 

Capital Contribution – MOHE 

Capital Grant-Unspent 

Donation 

 

  

10.01 

10.02 

10.03 

10.04 

10.05 

  

10.06 

 

  

1,509,829,170.15 

94,798,401.58 

72,507,285.44 

1,870,583,455.72 

1,091,411,894.47 

125,318,541.52 

296,568,554.94 

 

1,696,026,058.03 

99,871,216.52 

80,705,973.34 

1,970,681,385.08 

1,149,815,100.38 

78,960,577.81 

138,002,697.62 

 

    5,061,017,303.82 5,214,063,008.78 

 

Note 11– Reserves 

 

Accumulated Fund 

Net in Amortization & 

Depreciation ( Prior years adjustment) 

Net surplus/Deficit for the period 

Transferred to Different Revenue 

 

  

  

  

  

 (502,486,975.73) 

(20,857,987.97) 

4,996,801.31 

(3,683,965.09) 

 

 

(422,634,545.45) 

(63,797,896.53) 

(16,054,533.95) 

- 

 

    (522,032,127.48) (502,486,976) 

 

Note 12- Revalution Reserves 

 

Revaluation Reserves 

 

12.01 

 

530,887,790.00 

 

510,537,790.00 

 

    530,887,790.00 510,537,790.00 
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For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2021 

Rs 

2020 

Rs 

Note 13 -Self Financing Programme Funds 

       

CEDPL Development Fund  11,601,766.82 9, 611,282.02 

SFA/PG Unit Development Fund-FMC  1,766,250.20 1,564,269.53 

SFA/PG Unit Development Fund-FAC  86,635.02 35,540.93 

SFA/PG Unit Development Fund-FT  2,730.00 2,000.00 

SFA/PG Unit Development Fund-FAS  19,047.00 - 

    

  13,476,429.04 11,213,092.48 

 

Note 14 - Gratuity 

      

Provision for Gratuity 14.01 425,897,567.05 391,361,307.31 

    

    425,897,567.05 391,361,307 

Note 15 – Accounts Payables 

       

Refundable Deposit -Science Lab  15.01 657,800.00 657,800.00 

Refundable Deposit -Library 15.02 163,400.00 163,400 

Refundable Deposit- Hostel  15.03 3,331,600.00 3,328,600.00 

Refundable Deposit - Contractors 15.04 425,000.00 211,500.00 

Refundable Deposit - Suppliers 15.05 390,000.00 581,000.00 

Retention Money - Contractors 15.06 13,484,430.52 24,491,390.97 

Retention Money - Supplier 15.07 6,061,722.65 11,385,214.42 

Dues from SEUSL 15.08 21,651,245.47 22,838,375.57 

Received in Advance - SFA Programme   81,746,050.00 62,146,095.00 

Payables from SFA Programmes   265,848.07 430,365.63 

Inter Units Transaction set off   (13,000,000.00) (13,000,000.00) 

    

    115,177,096.71 113,233,741.59 

Note 16 -  Other Income 

      

Registration Fees   2,497,750.00 4,203,940.00 

Examination Fees   410,700.00 380,675.00 

Interest   2,533,517.93 3,344,244.64 

Rent   2,756,942.10 2,671,567.95 

Sales   1,988,198.13 2,638,936.72 

Fines   147,484.00 2,024,042.32 

Miscellaneous Income   11,885,589.15 9,559,154.02 

    

    22,220,181.31 24,822,560.65 
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For the Year ended 31st December Shedule 
2021 

Rs 

2020 

Rs 

 

Note 17-  Self Finance Programme Income 

       

Centre for External Degrees & Professional 

Learning   35,599,772.22 23,366,466.08 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FMC   6,852,221.03 5,392,750.05 

SFA Postgraduate Unit - FAC   2,269,564.51 143,984.02 

SFA/ Postgraduate Unit - FT  10,000.00 36,000.00 

 SFA/ Postgraduate Unit - FAS   446,020.00 - 

SFA/ Postgraduate Unit - FIA  16,445.00 - 

    

    45,194,022.76  28,939,200.15 

    

 

Note 18 -  Self Finance Programme Expenses 

      

Centre for External Degrees & Professional 

Learning   14,264,202.64 8,478,024.18 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FMC   6,696,257.01 4,748,971.88 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FAC   1,840,333.31 58,173.89 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FT  9,286.00 33,818.60 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FAS   445,444.60 - 

SFA/Postgraduate Unit - FIA  16,445.00 - 

    

  23,271,968.56 13,318,988.55 
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7.8. Report of the Auditor General 
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7.9. Observation to the Report of the Auditor General 

 

SEUSL /VC/AR/2022/02        

24 August 2022  

 

Auditor General 

National Audit Office 

Colombo 

 

Report of the Auditor General on the Financial Statements and Other Legal and 

Regulatory Requirements of the South Eastern University of Sri Lanka for the 

year ended 31 December 2021 in terms of Section 12 of the National Audit Act, 

No.19 of 2018. This has reference to your audit report BTC/C/SEUSL/01/21/01 

dated 01.08.2022. we give blow observations for the queries raised in the report. 

 

1.  Financial Statements  

  

1.1  Qualified Opinion  

 

1.2  Basis for Qualified Opinion 

   

(a) Action will be taken to adjust the prior year adjustments in the Statement of 

Changes in Net Assets.  

(b) Some Committees had been appointed in this regard. However, the tasks 

could not be completed due to various reasons. Action will be taken to 

expedite the process. 

(c) Actions were taken to revalue the lands of the University by obtaining the 

service of the Department of Valuation, Batticaloa. They have collected 

necessary documents from the University and have informed us that the task 

will be completed soon. 

(d) A Reconciliation Committee will be formed to collect all the details of the 

furniture and equipment physically, thus, it could be reconciled with financial 

statement and Board of survey. As the process for reconciling is a long 

process, it will take more time to be completed. 
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1.3   Other information included in the University's 2021 Annual Report  

    

1.4  Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance 

for the Financial Statements  

   

1.5   Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

   

2.  Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  

  

2.1   

2.1.1    

2.1.2    

2.1.3   

 

2.2  

2.2.1    

2.2.2   

Reference to law/ direction Description 
-------------------------------------- ------------------------------------- 

(a)  Financial Regulation 571 of Financial Regulations of the Government of the 

Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka  

Description Amount (Rs.)                              Status 

Retention - 

Contractors 

13,142,851.82 Actions have been taken either to pay the 

retention and refundable deposit balances or to 

transfer the unclaimed due amount remaining 

for more than two years in to the University 

Revenue with the recommendation of the 

relevant sections. 

Retention - 

Suppliers 

5,125,032.25 

Refundable 

Deposits 

434,000.00 

 

 

(b)  Sub-section 3.1 of Chapter XX of 

Establishments Code of the 

University Grants Commission 

and the Higher Educational 

Institutions and Circular Letter 

No.10/2017 dated 10 July 2017 of 

the University Grants 

Commission.  

 

As a common practice, the arrival and 

departure of academic staff are not 

maintained in the State University 

System in Sri Lanka. As their roles are 

not limited to 08 working hours since 

the academic members engage in 

various teaching-learning, research and 

community outreach activities. Hence, 

this is not practical.    
  

2.2.3  To state that the University has not performed according to its powers, 

functions and duties as per the requirement of section 12(g) of the National 

Audit Act, No. 19 of 2018 except for;  
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(a)  The mentioned hours in the audit query are based on the teaching hours of the 

lecturers, however, they not only engage in teaching and learning but in 

research, supervision and administrational work too. Further, the university 

will take necessary action to prepare a new revised guideline to monitor the 

work norms based on UGC circular to reflect the total students contact hours 

and total workloads of academic staff members.        

(b)  CEDPL noted that the main delay occurred due to the time taken to complete 

the marking of answer scripts since the number of students in a batch is high. 

Therefore, we have implemented the panel marking and decided to release the 

results within a   three-month time period. Actions have been taken to deduct 

the payment for late submission of results. 

Further, the following reasons delayed the completion of 2014/2015 and 

2015/2016 batches. 

 

   1. Restrictions and situation arose due to Easter bomb blast. 

 

     2. Closure of university activities due to Covid19 pandemic and developing 

new procedure to conduct examination online and obtaining approval from 

the authorities and delays in sorting out of the exam papers for marking. 

 

 In addition to this, the CEDPL has cleared up its backlogs as much as possible 

as of today. 

 

2.2.4 It is noted that at the time of this work was awarded, the present pandemic had 

been escalated. Due to the Covid – 19 pandemic and subsequent adverse effects 

such as closure of the country, travel ban, import restriction, material shortage, 

labour shortage and sudden & unexpected price hike of construction material, 

the contractor was unable to commence works of all such nine units. 

Furthermore, rainy seasons experienced from time to time from the inception of 

the work is considered another major factor, which delayed the works. The 

works have been already started and are ongoing. 40% of the works has been 

completed up to now. Completed works and work in progress performance is 

annexed with portion. Following up the process of the works, progress review 

meeting is held time to time to expedite works. 
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2.3  Other Matters  

(a)  Accounts Receivable 

 

Loans and Advances 

 

Name Description Year Amount Status of Recovery 

Process 

Imthiyas 

A.R.M 

Distress 

loan 

2001 29,058 Court Case ongoing against 

to recoveries – Case No. 

DCA/M/1251/19 

Sheham 

A.M 

Distress 

loan 

2018 49,984 Will be recovered from his 

fund balances 

AM.Sheham Festival 

Advance 

2018 27,693 Will be recovered from his 

fund balances 

SM Aliff Salary 

Receivable 

2018 1,445,948 Court Case ongoing against 

to termination of 

employment – Case No. 

LT/BT/362/2018 

AN. 

Nowshard 

Salary 

Receivable 

2019 68,287 Being recovered from his 

monthly Salary 

IS.Narseeth Salary 

Receivable 

2019 8,685 Letter has sent by the NAE 

to the relevant officer 

 

Dues to SEUSL 

S.No Description Amount (Rs.) 
Status of Recovery 

Process 

1 KD Eberd    82,238.53  

  

Letters have been sent by 

the Works Engineer to 

the relevant contractors. 

  

2 Antony Builders      4,374.40  

3 Ameen Construction  36,198.36  

4 
Central Engineering 

Service Pvt ltd 
26,631.24  

5 
Abdul Azeez (Power 

Consumption) 
6,672.93  

6 
Smart Power 

Enginering 
     1,000.00  

7 IL.Samsudeen    28,000.00  
Letter has been sent by 

the Welfare Division. 

8 NM.Aslam      5,000.00    

  

Letters have been sent by 

the Welfare Division – 

Can be recovered from 

the refundable deposits 

of the relevant canteen 

9 AM.Zabry Irsad      1,000.00  

10 M.Nasick Mohamed    12,000.00  

11 SA.Hameed      6,000.00  

12 AR.Firnas      5,000.00  

13 AM.Zabry Irsad      5,000.00  

14 MM.Riyas      3,000.00  
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15 AM.Nathar    13,000.00  operators. 

16 

AA.Latheef 

(Multishop ) Power 

Consumption) 

11,678.57 

Letter has been sent by 

the DR/General 

Administration 

     

Bond Violation 

Name Description Year Amount Status of Recovery 

Process 

Imthiyas 

A.R.M 

Bond 

Violation 

2009 1,043,137.22 Court Case ongoing 

against to recoveries – 

Case No. 

DCA/M/1251/19 

 

Furthermore, Action has been taken in 261st meeting of the Council to recover the 

bond value from its sureties  

 

(b)   Actions will be taken either to pay the balances or transfer the unclaimed due 

amount remaining for more than two years in to the University Revenue with the 

recommendation of the relevant sections. 

 

(c)  Noted. The Engineering workshop is utilizing the Mega store as follows 

Following workshop units have been shifted to Engineering Workshop II (i.e. Mega 

Stores): 

1). Foundry 

2). Sheet metal workshop, and Fitting workshop, and 

3). Automobile workshop except Engine Dynamo meter with Diesel Engine 

1. Foundry: Heat source for all furnaces in the Foundry is LPG. Laying pipelines for 

LPG supply was completed on 19.05.2022. Commissioning of the furnaces is the 

responsibility of the supplier. He continues to delay his visit, citing the current 

transport issues. Centrifugal Casting Demonstration Kit, Castings with Cores 

Demonstration kit, Hollow ware casting demo kit, Compressor and Vacuum 

Cleaner, and Foundry Tools can only be used after commissioning of the foundry 

furnaces. 

2. Sheet metal workshop and Fitting workshop: Practical sessions were conducted at 

the Engineering Workshop II for the Semester 2 (E19) students at the Sheet metal 

workshop and Fitting workshop. 
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3. Automobile workshop except Engine Dynamo meter with Diesel Engine:  

Vehicle Break Test Machine, Gasoline Engine, and Wheel Alignment accessories 

Vehicle Break Test Machine has not been installed by the supplier. Gasoline 

Engine is also to be demonstrated by the supplier. 

Wheel Alignment accessories are ready for use. We will demonstrate this 

equipment to students of E17 batch when this batch moves to Semester 6 in the 

very near future.  

All other installation works have now been completed and the Workshop is being 

fully utilized now. 

 

(d) All the equipment purchased during the period 2017 to 2019 have been installed 

and operated except three machines, which demonstration is pending. Once the 

demonstration is finished, the operation will be started. The supplier has 

promised us to complete the demonstration within September 2022.  

 

(e)  Previously it was communicated over the phone with the personnel in the bank to 

clarify about the linking the Currents accounts of SEUSL to Overnight 

investment agreements. Later, excess of earned funds was deposited in short term 

deposit since the above facilities were not practiced by the particular branch. 

However, the SEUSL has sent an official request to Addalaichenai branch, 

Peoples Bank where the current accounts of SEUSL are maintained requesting 

details for linking the Currents accounts of SEUSL to Overnight investment 

agreements. Subsequently, the request of SEUSL has been forwarded to the 

Peoples Bank, Head Office by the Branch in order to process the request of 

SEUSL. 

The SEUSL will continuously follow up the above process and action will be 

taken to link the current accounts to Overnight investment agreements. 

(f) In terms of Higher Education Circular No. 1/2011 of 20.04.2011, Payment of 

Research Allowance is being paid at universities in terms of Budget Proposals of 

the Government for year 2011. 
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As per the above circular the following methodology is being followed at South 

Eastern university of Sri Lanka. 

In order to be eligible to receive the Research Allowance for the relevant year 

commencing from 1st January to 31st December at least one of the following 

requirements has to be fulfilled;  

(i) Submission of sufficient evidence in proof of publishing research results of the 

self/ group in an international/ local scientific journal receiving approval and/ 

or presented at a relevant Symposium/ Conference or Technical Session, 

pertaining to the year for which the research allowance is entitled.  

 

(ii) By producing evidence that research activities have already been commenced 

and are being continued actively during the year for which research allowance 

is claimed, under the research grants received through international 

collaboration or approved Councils in Sri Lanka [National Science Foundation, 

National Research Council, Sri Lanka Council for Agricultural Research 

Policy] etc or funds received under research grants to universities.  

 

(iii) Members of the academic staff who have not commenced research under the 

methodologies referred to in (i) and (ii) above, should submit a Research 

proposal containing the nature of the research, the time frame and 

methodology, to the Research Committee referred to in para 4 and are eligible 

to receive the research allowance with effect from January 01 of the relevant 

year.  

 

(iv) The Academic Staff who are on study leave or on sabbatical leave and engaged 

in research work locally or abroad by submitting copies of the Research Papers 

which were presented at a Symposium/ Conference as stated in (i) above. (v) 

By submitting the academic publications or proposed publications or a proposal 

regarding an academic publication or research publication or proposal 

regarding such publication to the Committee referred to para (iv) below. 

The research allowance shall be paid for multi-authorship and the relevant 

teacher must submit such requests for the approval of University Research 
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Committee/ Faculty Research Committee. When the Chairman or an authorized 

Member of the said Committee inform the Vice-Chancellor of the Committee’s 

approval, he will be entitled to draw the research allowance with effect from 

January 01 of the relevant year. 

By following the above methodology, the staff request for research allowance 

by submitting one of the above required documents to Faculty Research 

Management Committee (FRMC). On the recommendation of the FRMC, the 

university Research and Publication Committee approves the payment of 

research allowance for the staff who are fulfilling one of the above 

requirements. 

Most of the staff submitted the research evidence and research proposals and they are 

presenting the research output in the Internal Symposium and reputed Journals 

indexed in Scopus and Web of Science.  

                                                                                         

Many researchers are conducted by scholars of SEUSL in relation to regional and 

national development of the country.  

 

Research resulting in innovation and patent has been very limited. However, there is a 

prospect of innovations and patents in the future due to current engagement of 

significant research by our staff members.  

 

These innovations and patents are handled by the University Business Linkage cell 

(UBL) and smart bin to commercialize the research output of the staff members. 

  

(g) A web-committee has been appointed to elevate the ranking of the University 

locally and globally and that is now in the process of doing so. (an annexure is 

attached herewith). 

Further, the steps have already been initiated from its Senate Meeting to enhance 

total number of researches and citation and inducing students’ interest towards 

doing researches. Therefore, it is assumed that it will improve ranking of the 

university. Moreover, we are encouraging our staff members to enhance the 

citation and visibility of the university which will contribute to the Webometrics 

ranking too. 
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(h)   

Curriculum Revision of the Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language 

 

The initial steps have already been taken to do major curriculum revision and this 

is anticipated to be completed this year. Thus, the new syllabus will be introduced 

from the 2021/2022 academic year onwards. In future, we will follow the 

curriculum revision on time. 

 

Curriculum Revision of the Faculty of Management and Commerce 
 

The faculty has expedited the major curriculum revision process for Bachelor of 

Business Administration and Bachelor of Commerce degree of the Faculty of 

Management and Commerce and it will be completed in the next academic year 

2021/2022. 

(i) Initially, LEARN internet connectivity had been provided to Administrative 

building, Faculty of Engineering (Front Building), Library, Works Department 

area, Department of Mechanical Engineering and to some areas of Faculty of 

Applied Sciences as only these buildings existed at the time of obtaining LEARN 

internet connectivity.  

However, new buildings such as Faculty of Arts and Culture, Faculty of 

Management, Faculty of Islamic studies, Faculty of Engineering / Civil and 

Faculty of Technology and Administrative building of Faculty of Applied 

Sciences were constructed later on after the LEARN connectivity obtained and 

these building areas had no LAN cabling connections to connect LEARN to these 

building areas and it required a significant amount of money and time to provide 

the LAN connections to these areas.  

 

As internet facilities were urgently needed for these areas for the use of staff and 

students, the University decided to obtain Mobitel Wi-Fi internet services to these 

buildings until LAN cabling connections to these buildings are completed. 

  

Subsequently, in 2020, LAN cabling connections were provided and Mobitel Wi-Fi 

connections were terminated in some areas of the Faculty of Applied Sciences saving 

around Rs. 250,000/- per month. And in 2021 LAN cabling was completed and 
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LEARN connectivity was provided to the Faculty of Arts and Culture building and 

Mobitel Wi-Fi connection was terminated saving around Rs. 150,000 per month. 

  

Presently, Mobitel Wi-Fi services are obtained for the areas of Faculty of 

Management and Commerce, Faculty of Islamic Studies and Arabic Language, 

Faculty of Technology and Faculty of Engineering (new building). Proposals have 

been prepared to provide LAN cabling connections in order to obtain LEARN 

connectivity to these areas. However, due to current financial constraints, there has 

been a delay in implementing the proposals. 

 

(j)  Academic Grades: 

The 424 Nos. of Academic Cadre includes 288 permanent positions and 136 

temporary positions. Up to now, 249 permanent positions are filled. Filling of the 

balance 39 positions is delayed due to non-availability of suitably qualified 

candidates and the treasury prohibition prevailing in the country in filling of 

vacancies. Temporary cadres are filled on short term basis, they are regularly 

filled mostly from the passed-out graduates of the University. Sooner the 

vacancies arise the temporary cadres are filled instantly. 

 

Non-academic Grades:  

 Ministry of Education suspended to recruit UPL grade cadres, such as Machinist, 

Gr. II, Nursery Man, Gr. II, Gardener, Gr. II, Driver, Gr. II and Gymnasium 

Attendant (Lower Grade), Library attendant etc. 

 Management Assistant Gr III (external category) has been processed, the 

selection Committee recommendation has been submitted to the Council for its 

approval. 

 Management Assistant, Gr. III (internal category) recruitment to be done by the 

University Grants Commission. 

 Application were called for Technical Officer (ICT), Gr. III, and trainee technical 

officers works are in process. 

 Sub-Warden, Gr. II (Full time) and Marshal, Gr. II were appointed. 

 Applications were called for PHI and Pharmacist, but no eligible applications 

received. 
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(k) These activities had not been commenced mainly due to the unexpected Covid 19 

and the limited financial resources allocated to the relevant departments/ units. 

Plans were developed expecting to receive sufficient fund. However, we usually 

do not receive financial allocation as we planned in our action plan. This has been 

the continuous issue every year. Reasons for not commencing had been already 

mentioned by the respective deans/heads and units in their reports.  

(l)  

Year Faculty 
Number of 

officers 

Amount 

Granted Rs. 

Number of 

officers who 

had completed 

researches 

Current Status 

2017 
FE 

2 
198000.00 

1 
1 staff – completed 

1 staff - withdrawn FIA 253000.00 

2018 

FMC 

6 

101235.00 

6 6 staff - completed 

FAS 210000.00 

FAS 400000.00 

FAS 500000.00 

FMC 200000.00 

FMC 50000.00 

2019 

FAS 

8 

402700.00 

4 

4 staff - completed 

2 staff – withdrawn 

2 staff – research in 

progress 

FE 590000.00 

FIA 505750.00 

FAS 495850.00 

FMC 290000.00 

FMC 300000.00 

FMC 260000.00 

FMC 100000.00 

2020 

FE 

4 

200000.00 

1 

1 staff – completed 

3 staff – research in 

progress 

FE 500000.00 

FE 489000.00 

FE 499950.00 

2021 

FAS 

11 

504440.00 

 
11 staff – research in 

progress 

FT 249300.00 

FT 994957.00 

FE 580000.00 

FAS 499800.00 

FMC 546000.00 

FMC 240000.00 

FT 980466.00 

FT 999913.00 

FAS 396461.00 

FAS 497000.00 

 
In the year 2017, one staff member completed the research and the other one 

withdrew his research by refunding the partial grant as he was not able to continue 

his research due to the prevailing situation of the country. 
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In the year 2019, four staff members completed their research and submitted their 

final report. Two staff members withdrew the grant without utilizing any research 

fund. Two staff members are now at the final stage and preparing the final report. 

 

In the year 2020, One staff member completed the research and the other three 

staff are now doing their research and requested for extension up to 31.12.2022 to 

complete their research due to the prevailing situation of the country and Covid 

pandemic situation.  

 

(m) The Stock verification as of 2020 was planned to be conducted in the year 2020. 

But due to continuous uncertainty such as COVID 19 and subsequent lockdown, 

the verification could not have been conducted. More number of the staff are 

required to carry out the stock verification process, as the collection is more than 

100,000. Most of the staff members have been working from home due to the 

uncertainty in the year 2020 and 2021. Students of every faculty are now 

accommodated to the University for Examination purposes. Library gets the 

students full and preparing for the forthcoming examination. Library services, 

especially lending services need to be suspended during stock verification, which 

causes them trouble in preparing examinations. However, initiative has been taken 

at the 33rd Senior Staff Meeting to conduct the stock verification and preparation 

is underway for verification. The verification will be conducted once the 

examinations are over. 

 

 

 

 

Prof. A. Rameez 

Vice Chancellor 

South Eastern University of Sri Lanka 

 

Cc: Senior Assistant Internal Auditor 

 



Annexure 

 


